
AGENDA 
VILLAGE OF GLENCOE 

PLAN COMMISSION 
 

Village Hall Council Chambers 
675 Village Court 

Wednesday, August 28, 2019 – 7:30 p.m. 
 

 

 
 
The Village of Glencoe is subject to the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.  Individuals with disabilities who plan to attend 
this meeting and who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions 
regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities, are requested to contact the Village of Glencoe at least 72 hours in advance of the 
meeting at (847) 835-4114, or the Illinois Relay Center at (800) 526-0844, to allow the Village of Glencoe to make reasonable accommodations 
for those persons. 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
Bruce Huvard, Chairman, Public-at-Large Representative 
Barbara Miller, Vice-Chairman, Village Board Representative 
Georgia Mihalopoulos, Public-at-Large Representative 
Dev Mukherjee, School District 35 Representative  
Dudley Onderdonk, Glencoe Park District Representative 
John Satter, Zoning Board of Appeals Representative 
Laura Solon, Glencoe Public Library Representative 
James Thompson, Public-at-Large Representative 
Greg Turner, Public-at-Large Representative 
Peter Van Vechten, Historic Preservation Commission Representative 

2. CONSIDERATION OF THE JUNE 26, 2019 PLAN COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES 

3. PUBLIC COMMENT 
Individuals interested in addressing the Plan Commission on non-agenda items may do so during this 
time.  

4. CONTINUED REVIEW AND DISCUSSION OF THE PRELIMINARY PLAT OF SUBDIVISION FOR THE 
HOOVER ESTATES SUBDIVISION (1801 GREEN BAY ROAD) 

5. ADJOURN 



MINUTES 
VILLAGE OF GLENCOE 

PLAN COMMISSION 
 

Village Hall Council Chambers 
675 Village Court 

Wednesday, June 26, 2019 – 7:30 p.m. 
 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 

The June 26, 2019 meeting of the Plan Commission was called to order at 7:30 p.m. in the 
Village Hall Council Chambers.  
 
The following Commissioners were present: 
Bruce Huvard, Chairman, Public-at-Large Representative 
Georgia Mihalopoulos, Public-at-Large Representative 
Dudley Onderdonk, Glencoe Park District Representative 
John Satter, Zoning Board of Appeals Representative 
Laura Solon, Glencoe Public Library Representative 
James Thompson, Public-at-Large Representative 
Peter Van Vechten, Historic Preservation Commission Representative 
 
The following were absent: 
Barbara Miller, Vice-Chairman, Village Board Representative 
Dev Mukherjee, School District 35 Representative  
Greg Turner, Public-at-Large Representative 
 
The following were also in attendance: 
Philip Kiraly, Village Manager 
David Mau, Public Works Director 
Cary Lewandowski, Public Safety Director 
Stewart Weiss, Assistant Village Attorney 
Lee Brown, Village Planner, Teska Associates 
Jordan Lester, Management Analyst/Deputy Village Clerk 
 

2. CONSIDERATION OF THE MAY 29, 2019 PLAN COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES 
Commissioner Onderdonk motioned, seconded by Commissioner Mihalopoulos, to approve the 
minutes of the May 29, 2019 Plan Commission meeting. The motion was approved with the 
following vote: 
 

RESULT: ACCEPTED 
AYES: Mihalopoulous, Onderdonk, Satter, Solon, Thompson, Van Vechten 

(6) 
NAYS: None (0) 
ABSENT:  Miller, Mukherjee, Turner (3)  



 
 

3. PUBLIC COMMENT 
There were no comments from the public on non-agenda items. 
 

4. REVIEW AND DISCUSSION OF THE PRELIMINARY PLAT OF SUBDIVISION FOR THE HOOVER 
ESTATES SUBDIVISION (1801 GREEN BAY ROAD) 
Plan Commission Chair Bruce Huvard opened the meeting by providing an overview of the 
Village’s multi-step subdivision review and approval process. He stated that the process by 
which a proposed subdivision is considered is lengthy: a minimum of four public meetings must 
take place before a final plat of subdivision is approved (two Plan Commission meetings and two 
Village Board meetings). In addition to the four required meetings, Chair Huvard reported that 
additional meetings may be scheduled to facilitate continued public dialogue between Village 
officials, representatives of applicant Glencoe Developers LLC and the public, as well as to 
answer questions that may arise during the process. He stated that although the Commission 
had a public walking tour of Estate property on June 21, that this evening’s meeting was the 
Commission’s first review of application materials. Commissioner Van Vechten reported that in 
his capacity as Historic Preservation Commission Chair, he had a conversation with Estate 
representatives to discuss preservation opportunities for the Estate’s existing structures and 
looks forward to how those elements will be incorporated into future iterations of the property.  

Chair Huvard invited Glencoe Developers representative John Myefski, of Myefski Architects, to 
provide an overview of the proposed preliminary plat of subdivision for 1801 Green Bay Road. 
Mr. Myefski shared that he and other representatives have worked closely with Village staff on 
the development of the preliminary plat and had the opportunity to publicly present a 
conceptual plan to the Village Board during its April 16, 2019 Committee of the Whole meeting. 
In response to Commissioner Van Vechten’s commentary, Mr. Myefski noted that the 
developers were investigating preservation opportunities but that as some of the Estate 
structures were in poor condition, reuse may be challenging.  

Mr. Myefski then provided the Commission with an overview of the proposed preliminary plat 
of subdivision for 29 future lots. He explained the Village’s R-B single family residential zoning 
requirements for the subdivision, which require a minimum area of 13,000 square feet per lot. 
He stated that conceptual house designs will vary based on lot size and orientation but that 
square footage will likely range between 2,600 and 3,500 square feet. Mr. Myefski reported that 
the Estate currently contains many significant trees and that the development team sought to 
retain as many existing trees as possible; however, he noted that some trees will be removed to 
accommodate the proposed subdivision roadway and that diseased or deceased trees will also 
be removed. The architectural style has not yet been finalized.  

The Development team’s engineer Kevin Lewis of IG Consulting, Inc. discussed preliminary plans 
for stormwater management. He stated that engineering plans were intended to meet and/or 
exceed both the Village’s and Cook County’s laws, statutes and ordinances relating to grading 
and stormwater retention, drainage and detention. Mr. Lewis outlined generally the preliminary 
plat’s stormwater management system, which includes two detention basins that would first 
collect and then discharge water towards Cook County Forest Preserve District property located 
northeast of the subdivision.  

Next, Michael Werthmann of KLOA Inc. summarized the traffic impact study conducted on the 
roadway system near Green Bay Road, Westley Road and Kelling Lane. Mr. Werthmann stated 



 
 

that the study was intended to examine background traffic conditions, assess the impact that 
the proposed development will have on area traffic conditions and determine if any roadway or 
access improvements are necessary to accommodate traffic generated by the development. He 
reported that overall, results of the study indicate that the roadway system has sufficient 
capacity to accommodate the limited additional traffic that would be generated by the 
development. Mr. Werthmann reported that future modifications should incorporate 
realignment of the Green Bay and Westley Roads intersection, as well as additional signage and 
striping. He added that the developers will continue to work with Village staff to refine traffic 
details.  

Following reports from representatives of the development team, Chair Huvard asked if any 
Commissioners had questions in advance of public comments. Commissioners asked 
development team representatives for clarification on stormwater management and tree 
preservation. Speaking to storm water mitigation, Mr. Lewis stated that preliminary plans took 
into consideration the site’s existing contours and elevations, local tributary flows and the 
Village’s storm water system. He shared that storm water currently flows towards the eastern 
portion of the property; as a result, the two detention basins would collect water during 
significant rainfall events and then release water incrementally, therefore reducing water runoff 
in compliance with both municipal and Cook County guidelines. Mr. Lewis noted that 
stormwater concepts are still in the preliminary stages and that Estate representatives will 
continue to work with Village staff to refine engineering plans. Public Works Director Dave Mau 
stated that in addition to storm water engineering for the subdivision as a whole, the Village will 
review stormwater plans for each individual lot moving forward. As for tree preservation, Mr. 
Lewis reported that Estate representatives analyzed the site’s trees in compliance with the 
Village’s tree preservation ordinance but that they could provide the Commission with more 
detailed information moving forward.  

Chair Huvard then requested that Village Planner Lee Brown provide the Commission with 
staff’s overview of the developers’ preliminary application materials. Mr. Brown reported that 
staff prepared a comprehensive report in response to preliminary plat materials that includes 
suggested recommendations moving forward and which was included in the Plan Commission 
packet. He reported that as submitted, the preliminary plat of subdivision is consistent with the 
Village Zoning Code. Proposed lot sizes, setbacks and layouts meet zoning ordinance standards, 
and the plat also includes easements adequate to serve each lot with necessary utilities. As for 
stormwater management, Mr. Brown briefly explained the Village’s requirements; however, he 
stated that the preliminary plat of subdivision is only required to show general information 
regarding where and how storm water will be held, stored and released. Detailed engineering is 
generally not prepared or reviewed until after the Village Board approves a preliminary plat of 
subdivision. In terms of traffic safety, Mr. Brown stated that the Village is working with the 
developers to find a solution that would create a safe intersection for both vehicular and 
pedestrian traffic alike.  

Chair Huvard then invited members of the public to address the Plan Commission. The following 
individuals shared their feedback, with many expressing their own experiences with 
stormwater: 



 
 

• Mitch Kiesler, 1188 Carol Lane: Mr. Kielser spoke on behalf of fellow residents, expressing 
significant concern regarding preliminary storm water management plans, wildlife and tree 
protection, as well as project transparency.  

• David Katz, representing his children that live at 1212 Carol Lane and were unable to attend: 
Mr. Katz expressed his concerns regarding storm water management plans and the plan’s 
impact on surrounding neighbors.  

• George Krafcisin, 1214 Carol Lane: Mr. Krafcisin requested that the Plan Commission carefully 
review storm water management plans and work with the Cook County Forest Preserve 
moving forward. 

• Ayo Otitoju, 1178 Carol Lane: Mr. Owens reiterated stormwater management concerns. 
• Bob Korn, 347 Park Place: Mr. Korn spoke to several stormwater management concerns. 
• Ellyn Lanz, 1189 Terrace Court: Ms. Lanz reiterated the importance of carefully reviewing 

stormwater engineering plans.  
• Michael Bolan, 1163 Green Bay Road: Mr. Bolan expressed his concerns regarding the safety 

of the intersection at Green Bay and Westley Roads. 
• Eric and Tina Solis, 1799 Green Bay Road: Mr. and Mrs. Solis shared their concerns regarding 

stormwater management, as well as traffic intersection safety. 
• Spike Schonthal, 419 Kelling Lake: Mr. Schonthal requested that the Commission evaluate the 

proposed subdivision’s impact on the Estate’s existing ecosystem and heritage trees. 
• Cathy Duddle, 494 Park Place: Dr. Duddle shared with the Commission the negative health 

implications of standing water.  
• Eileen O’Halloran, 1162 Terrace Court: Ms. O’Halloran expressed her concern regarding 

stormwater management and the impact of the possible development on her and her 
neighbors’ homes.  

•      Rick Rosin, 1150 Terrace Court: Mr. Rosin spoke to the Village’s 2016 stormwater    
improvements and his concern that the proposed preliminary plat of subdivision would 
significantly detract from progress made in 2016.   

• Michael Valente, 1185 Terrace Court: Mr. Valente discussed his concerns regarding       
stormwater management and possible water diversion onto Forest Preserve property.  

• Jason Lundy, 1183 Terrace Court: Mr. Lundy also expressed his concern regarding possible 
impact to Forest Preserve property and his neighbors on Terrace Court.  

• Mike Rosenblat, 403 Northwood Drive: Mr. Rosenblat requested that the Commission take 
into consideration the dangers of standing water and also review traffic safety implications 
for the surrounding neighborhood. 

• Jim Borovsky, 406 Northwood Drive: Mr. Borovsky spoke to his concerns regarding traffic 
safety. 

• Jeanlouis Boury, 358 Park Place: Mr. Boury expressed his concerns that rainfall amounts will 
continue to increase moving forward and that proposed stormwater management may not 
be able to appropriately handle substantial rainfall.  

• Erika Neems, 1156 Terrace Court: Ms. Neems shared her concern that as proposed, the 
subdivision would negatively impact her and her neighbors’ properties.  

• Elise Warsaw, 1194 Carol Lane: Ms. Warsaw shared that she had had a negative experience 
with Estate developers. In addition, she expressed her concern regarding the two proposed 
retention basins and the proximity to her home.  

• Darrel Brayboy, 1162 Terrace Court: requested additional information as if Glencoe residents 
would be required to pay for the proposed subdivision and shared his concern regarding 
stormwater management.  



 
 

Chair Huvard thanked the residents for sharing their feedback with the Commission. He stated 
that the Commission will thoroughly review all aspects of the preliminary plat of subdivision and 
that staff will work with Estate developers to ensure comments are addressed.  

Commissioner Thompson motioned, seconded by Commissioner Satter, to continue the matter 
to a meeting yet to be scheduled. The motion passed with the following vote: 

 
RESULT: ACCEPTED 
AYES: Mihalopoulous, Onderdonk, Satter, Solon, Thompson, Van Vechten 

(6) 
NAYS: None (0) 
ABSENT:  Miller, Mukherjee, Turner (3)  

 
The next regularly-scheduled Plan Commission meeting is on July 24, 2019 at 7:30 p.m. 
 

5. ADJOURN 
At 10:45 p.m., Commissioner Mihalopoulos motioned, seconded by Commissioner Solon, to 
adjourn the meeting. The motion passed with the following vote: 
 

RESULT: ACCEPTED 
AYES: Mihalopoulous, Onderdonk, Satter, Solon, Thompson, Van Vechten 

(6) 
NAYS: None (0) 
ABSENT:  Miller, Mukherjee, Turner (3)  

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 
DATE:   August 20, 2019 
 
TO:   Bruce Huvard, Chair; Glencoe Plan Commission Members 
  
FROM:  David C. Mau, Public Works Director 
  Lee M. Brown, FAICP, Village Planner  
 
SUBJECT:  Hoover Estates Subdivision, Review in Advance of Second Public Meeting 
 
 
Over the past several weeks, the Village staff and the development team have met, exchanged documents, and worked 
toward responding to the many questions, observations and suggestions made by the Plan Commission following the 
public meeting on June 26, 2019. Included with the package of materials that accompanies this memorandum is the 
updated binder of the Developer’s exhibits. Among the added or updated materials are the Developer’s responses to 
each of the 48 questions posed by the Commission, and by neighbors (on the letterhead of the Developer’s Attorney, 
Harold Franke, dated August 16, 2019); Draft Stormwater Operations & Maintenance Plan; The Preliminary Site 
Landscaping Plan, Updated Traffic Impact Study, and Traffic Signal Warrant study; and Draft Declaration of Covenants. 
The comments and staff observations in this memorandum reflect the updated materials, supplementing the staff 
report dated June 20, 2019. Four additional documents are attached to this memorandum:  

• A letter from the Chair of the Glencoe Sustainability Task Force, dated August 8, 2019; 
• A letter from Commissioner Debra Shore, (MWRD), dated July 22, 2019; 
• A letter from Justine Shawski, P.E., Principal Civil Engineer, (MWRD), dated August 9, 2019; 
• A letter from Marty Michalisko, P.E., Principal of Engineering Resource Associates, (consultants to the Village of 

Glencoe on storm water engineering), dated August 20, 2019. 
 
STAFF ANALYSIS OF SUBDIVISION DESIGN STANDARDS (Article III of Glencoe Subdivision Code) 
All of proposed lots meet or exceed the minimum zoning standards. The only modifications from the first submission 
were minor adjustments to lot 11 and Outlot B related to the Westley/Green Bay Road intersection alignment, and 
these remain consistent with the minimum zoning requirements. 
 
The site is zoned RB single-family residential. The lot requirements of this zone include: 

• Minimum Lot Area: 13,000 square feet 
• Minimum Average Lot Width: 80 feet 
• Minimum Lot Depth 125 feet 
• Frontage on a public right-of-way 

 
  



2 
 

 
A. Traffic and Road Alignment 
Staff supports the alignment of the Westley Road/Estates Road/Green Bay Road intersection and the necessary 
adjustments to posted road speed, median designation, turning lanes and pavement markings described in the KLOA 
Traffic Impact Study. Staff notes that each of these roadway and sidewalk modifications are consistent with those 
recommended in the Active Transportation Plan referred to in the letter from the Chair of the Glencoe Sustainability 
Task Force. 
 
Staff supports the issuance of a variation to the subdivision ordinance for the width of dedicated right-of-way for 
neighborhood streets from the required 66 feet to the requested 40’ with a 10’ wide public easement on either side of 
that right-of-way.  
 
Staff supports the developers’ proposal for no sidewalks on Outlot A in order to minimize damage to the existing trees. 
However, the staff does not support the issuance of a blanket variation to the requirement of sidewalks on both sides of 
the street. Although this would have a minimal reduction of total impervious surface, outside of Outlot A, there are no 
priority or heritage trees within the area where the second sidewalk would be installed along lots 2, 6, 7, 8, 9, or 10. 
 
B. Tree Preservation 
The tree preservation ordinance requires the compensation for the loss of healthy trees exceeding eight inches in 
caliper. The petition indicates that of the 271 Heritage trees that are not dead, diseased or hazardous, 37 will be lost to 
the location of roads, sidewalks and public improvements (and will require remuneration in the form of additional trees 
or financial compensation to the Village.) Staff has identified and additional 20 trees in the plan to be preserved that are 
so close to the proposed roadway and/or sidewalk that 25% or more of their critical root zone is compromised (and are 
likely to show damage or die within a few years). 
 
These losses do not represent the total likely number of trees that would be lost to development since they do not 
account for trees lost to homes, driveways, patios and other site improvements. The developer has presented a “site 
plan with trees overlay” as a conceptual exhibit that demonstrates that the subdivided lots, as proposed, could support 
the siting of reasonably sized homes and meet the zoning setback requirements (as required in the subdivision review 
findings.) These footprints represent 6 different building layouts (with some minor variations of type C, D and F). If we 
consider them to be reasonable approximations of both the footprints and siting, and if we also approximate the likely 
location of driveways serving these buildings, we would anticipate losing an additional 82 trees upon full buildout of the 
lots. The cluster of trees, including those the developer has identified as High Value Trees, in the area where lots 24 – 29 
and 3 - 4 are located are most vulnerable. Some losses may be prevented by flipping the home or choosing a different 
home for the lot. These same conditions exist along the southern lots (11-15), and lot 1.  
 
The nature of the subdivision and development process does not assure that either the developer or the Village’s best 
intentions for tree preservation are implemented. The developer has demonstrated real concern and sensitivity to the 
existing conditions of the site, but there are no assurances that this developer or a subsequent buyer or developer will 
ultimately construct homes as conceptualized in this proposal. The Village’s Subdivision and Tree Preservation ordinances 
assure that there will be remuneration for tree loss due to development, but unless the lot sizes were made substantially 
larger (reducing the total number of lots in the subdivision) or the subdivision were to be radically changed to cluster all 
the homes within the area where few trees exist, we anticipate the loss of 30% to 40% of the heritage trees on the site.  Of 
the total 290 heritage trees on the site, 17 are “Specimen” in condition and form and are at least 20” in diameter, while an 
additional 62 are “Good” in condition and form and are at least 20” in diameter.  In its deliberation on the 12 Findings for 
review of the subdivision, the Commission and Village Board must be satisfied that the proposed subdivision “…will not 
result in the substantial loss of existing trees or the significant alteration of the existing topography on the lot.” 



3 
 

C. Site Landscaping 
One of the issues raised in the Plan Commissioners’ questions to the developer regards the nature and viability of using 
“rain gardens” and associated landscape treatments as an element of the stormwater detention system. We understand 
that these issues include concerns over the visual character of these detention areas, the ability to successfully install 
and maintain the plantings, the impact these planting schemes may have on reducing the capacity of the detention 
areas, and the potential these plantings may make on harboring the unwanted mosquito breeding. These are legitimate 
questions. To date, the documents presented by the developer are conceptual in nature and not likely to assuage each 
of these concerns. Staff believes that naturalized plantings, well selected, professionally installed, nurtured and 
maintained, are best practices and can be attractive and functionally a contributor to the impact of stormwater on 
nearby properties. The developer’s landscape consultant, Jacobs/Ryan, is both competent and has significant experience 
in successfully install and maintaining such systems. This treatment for the detention basins suggests a mix of flowering 
perennials and grasses. The plans are unclear as to how the “typical layout” of the rain garden will be executed and will 
require much greater detail and coordination with storm water discharge structures, accessways, retaining walls and 
other engineered features prior to Final Plat review. 
 
Our caution, however, is that naturalized “rain gardens” in the two detention basins may be too little, too late to be a 
significant contributor reducing stormwater runoff, over and above the engineered capacity of the basins themselves. A 
more extensive linked network of rain gardens and guided stormwater pathways, on each of the subdivided lots, leading 
to these two basins will be a more effective water quality filter and a more effective detainer of runoff for all but the 
most significant storm events. If the effectiveness of adding the proposed landscape treatment solely within the basins 
is minimal, the Commission’s concern regarding the aesthetics and character may suggest that a more conventional, 
maintainable-turf covered basin may be preferred.  
 
The developer has proposed board on board wood fencing on the majority of the perimeter of the site with the 
exception of the boundary with the Forest Preserve property where it proposes to leave the existing chain link fence in 
place to maximize views to the Forest Preserve. Staff supports the board on board fence but suggests that a wrought 
iron or wrought-iron-look fence be substituted on the boundary with the Forest Preserve. Any fence, board on board, 
wrought iron, or otherwise should be within the responsibilities of the HOA to maintain as defined in the declaration of 
covenants. 
 
Given the intent to construct a board on board perimeter fence, the staff supports the removal of invasive species 
(particularly Buck Thorn) from the site. 
 
D. Storm Water Management 
The Village’s Subdivision Design Standards and Grade Change Ordinance mandate that redevelopment of any property 
must comply with all applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes and regulations related to grading and storm water 
retention, detention and drainage. Further, no changes in grading can modify natural or existing drainage patterns or 
unreasonably increase or concentrate runoff of storm water onto adjacent property. 
 
The preliminary engineering to determine the rainfall events that produce the highest storm water runoff rate from the 
development property, along with the sizing of the proposed retention and detention systems, and how the storm water 
will be released has been reviewed by Marty Michalisko of Engineering Resource Associates (ERA), and his review letter 
is attached. ERA has been the Village’s primary storm water consultant for the past 25 years, and Mr. Michalisko was the 
design engineer who worked with staff on the Terrace Court basin study and storm sewer improvements which were 
designed in 2014 and installed in 2016, following a successful referendum approved by Glencoe voters. ERA will remain 
involved in supporting the Village in the evaluation and review of the Final Plat of Subdivision and public improvements. 
It should be noted that the Village remains committed to ensuring the that residents now positively impacted by the 



4 
 

significant improvement to the stormwater system undertaken by the Village in 2016 will remain effectively served by it. 
Likewise, in evaluating this proposal, the Village has taken into account the significant amount of staff knowledge of the 
subject area along with the extensive public comment received from those who live in the immediate vicinity of this 
project.  
 
The proposed development of the 1801 Green Bay Road property requires a permit from the MWRD under its 
Watershed Management Ordinance (WMO), which was developed beginning in 2007 to abate the negative impacts of 
stormwater runoff from new developments greater than 0.5 acre in Cook County. The WMO was amended in May 2019 
with modifications to a number of provisions related to stormwater detention requirements, release rates, and an 
updated Bulletin 70. Bulletin 70 is rainfall data collected by the Illinois State Water Survey. The amendments to the 
WMO will apply to permit applications submitted after January 1, 2020. Given the timeframe for the proposed 
development, and the size and potential stormwater impact of the development parcel, staff recommends the proposed 
stormwater management plans for the 1801 Green Bay Road development comply with the WMO as amended May 16, 
2019. 
 
One point that should be noted here relates to the proposed development’s impact on existing stormwater systems, 
most specifically that which was installed by the Village in 2016 in the neighborhood immediately east and adjacent to 
the subject property. The developer has identified that water flows across the property in two general directions. The 
south 5.2 acres (43%) of the property drains towards the intersection of Carol Lane and Park Place, as surface runoff 
through the yards of properties facing Carol Lane. This is consistent with the data collected and identified in the Village’s 
storm water report on the Terrace Court basin area completed in 2014. The Terrace Court basin area includes the area 
bounded by Carol Lane, Terrace Court, Old Elm Lane and Green Bay Road. The upgraded storm sewer system 
constructed in 2016 in the Terrace Court basin area was sized based on all of the contributing area in the basin, including 
the uncontrolled runoff from the south 5.2 acres of the 1801 Green Bay Road property. The storm water management 
plan being proposed for the subdivision will collect proportional areas of the property through traditional engineering 
methods (storm sewer pipe and graded swales) and direct it to two detention areas that will temporarily store it and 
release at a restricted rate. The detention area at the southeast corner of the 1801 Green Bay Road Property will detain 
storm water from the south 5.2 acres (43%) of the site, while the detention area at the northeast corner of this site will 
detain the remaining 57% of the storm water before releasing it into the Forest Preserves as it currently, naturally flows.  
 
While the final determination of the volume of storm water that will be released, and at what rate, into the Terrace 
Court basin area system will require permit approval from the MWRD and the Village, the net result should be a 
significant reduction in the nuisance flooding being experienced at varying levels in the backyards of the properties 
along Carol Lane and Terrace Court.  
 
E. Neighborhood Connectivity 
Staff supports the issuance of a variation from the subdivision ordinance that allow the construction of a “no outlet” 
street on the condition that a permanent emergency access (accommodating the passage of a 10’ wide emergency 
vehicle) and permanent pedestrian walkway be constructed to interconnect Estates Road to Northwood Drive (likely 
between Lot 28 and Lot 29). 
 
F. New Tree Park/Open Space 
Staff supports the establishment of Outlot A as a home-owners association-owned and maintained open space, with 
dedicated public access established in the recorded declaration of covenants for the property. Staff supports a site plan 
specific “unevenly” spaced street tree planting arrangement and street lighting plan to be reviewed and approved by the 
Village Engineer prior to the submission of the final plat, so as to prevent canopy conflicts between existing and new 
trees and lighting. 



5 
 

 
G. Preservation of Structures 
The existing entry feature is planned to remain in place, to be owned and maintained by the new property owner of  
lot 1. A new entry at the new access across from Westley Road will visually reflect the existing entry feature to the north 
but will have more elaborate landscaping and pavers at the entry. Staff supports concepts proposed in the new entry 
design with the exception of the gated sidewalk. 
 
An existing gazebo structure is shown to be relocated into the Outlot A park area directly beneath the canopies of 
existing trees to remain. Any proposed pavement or foundation for the gazebo will need to be carefully coordinated to 
minimize disturbance to the critical root zones of the existing heritage trees in this very sensitive open space. 
 
Staff would continue to urge the developer to retain the stables building, preferably on the existing location without 
moving it, making use of an expanded lot 22. The remainder of lot 23, lost to an expanded lot 22, could be distributed 
among the lots 24-29 described above as being most likely to result in lost heritage trees. If Lot 1 were not used to 
relocate the stables or the main building, its exceptional size, nearly 28,000 square feet in area, could be split in two (a 
conventional lot and a flag lot) and still meet the minimum lot area requirements, and potentially maintaining the 
developer’s desired 29 lot yield. 
 

 

 



VILLAGE OF GLENCOE SUSTAINABILITY TASK FORCE 
675 VILLAGE COURT, GLENCOE, ILL INOIS 60660  

WWW.VILLAGEOFGLENCOE.ORG/STF  
 
 
 
 
 
August 8, 2019 
 
Harold W. Francke 
Meltzer, Purtill & Stelle LLC 
1515 E. Woodfield Road 
Schaumburg, Illinois 60173 
 
 
Dear Mr. Francke,  
 
We, of the Village of Glencoe's Sustainability Task Force, are happy to hear of your interest and investment in 
Glencoe housing and the theme of small footprint homes. This type of housing is much needed to allow the multi-
generational continuity of Glencoe residents to continue. 
 
As such, we wonder how the proposed development plans align with the variety of sustainability principles 
developed and adopted by the Village. Specifically, how do the development plans align to the: 

• Active Transportation Plan which promotes safe mobility and connected neighborhoods through 
sidewalks and bike lanes; 

• Arbor Foundation Tree City designation, which accounts for our distinctive tree canopy; 

• Welcoming and Inclusive Community Pledge signed by hundreds of community members; 

• The Village Board's strategic initiatives, specifically their commitment to sustainability; 

• Aspirations of our Historic Preservation Commission. 

Please review these core commitments to planning and governance of our Village and respond in writing to me at 
the address below. 
 
Thank you, 
 
 
 
Hall Healy 
Chair, Sustainability Task Force 
675 Village Court 
Glencoe, Illinois 60022 
 
 
 















    

 

 

 

 

 

 

August 20, 2019 
 

David Mau, P.E. 

Public Works Director 

Village of Glencoe  

675 Village Court 

Glencoe, IL 60022 
 

Subject:   Preliminary Engineering Review 

                1801 Green Bay Road Subdivision 
 

 

ERA has completed a storm water management review of the preliminary engineering for the 1801 

Green Bay Road Subdivision. The following items were reviewed to determine whether the preliminary 

plan generally complies with local and county regulations, how the preliminary plan impacts the new 

storm sewer system constructed in the Terrace Court basin area, how the preliminary plan impacts 

direct runoff to homes located on the west side of Carol Lane near and north of the intersection with 

Park Place and the resiliency of the design to protect against flooding in future storms.  

 

1. Preliminary Civil Engineering Plans, titled 1801 Green Bay Road Subdivision, prepared by 

IGConsulting, Inc., latest revision date August 10, 2019 

2. Preliminary Stormwater Management Report, titled Subdivision 1801 Green Bay Road, 

prepared by IGConsulting, Inc., emailed August 18, 2019 

3. XPSWMM modeling for the Terrace Court sub-division, prepared by ERA in 2016 

4. Stormwater Study, titled 2014 Stormwater Drainage Study, prepared by ERA, Inc., dated 

December 2014 

 

Based on our review it appears that the preliminary design follows local and county ordinances. The 

two proposed detention basins will be sized to detain the 100-year storm event to the 100-year 

allowable release rate in the MWRD Watershed Management Ordinance (WMO). This results in peak 

flow rates being significantly lower than the existing conditions peak runoff. The preliminary report 

suggests that peak discharge from the 1801 Green Bay Road property will be reduced by a minimum 

of 60% to the Park Place storm sewer system. Based on our review of the preliminary 

hydrology/hydraulics this appears to be an accurate statement. ERA has significant experience 

designing and reviewing these types of projects and concurs with the report’s conclusion that 

significant reduction in post-development storm water flow to the sewer system is expected. 

Reduction in flows should allow the Village’s recently constructed storm sewer to operate at an even 

higher level of service. A second concern for residents in this area is the direct runoff to several 

properties located near the Carol Lane and Park Place intersection. Currently water from the 1801 

Green Bay Road property discharges directly into several rear yards creating recurring flooding 

concerns for those properties. Similar conditions are being experienced in the backyards of several 



 

 

 

 

P a g e  | 2 

 

 
 

 

Terrace Court properties that abut the Forest Preserve District property. Constructing detention 

basins in the northeast and southeast corners of the property should prevent direct runoff from 

reaching these Carol Lane and Terrace Court properties, significantly reducing standing water in their 

yards.  

 

In conclusion, the development should reduce discharge to both the Terrace Court basin area storm 

sewer system and reduce standing water in rear yards of residents bordering the development. Given 

the regulations in the Cook County WMO, including the updated Bulletin 70 rainfall data, that go into 

effect on January 1, 2020, we recommend that the Village require the proposed development of 

1801 Green Bay Road comply with the new rainfall provisions of the WMO. We also recommend that 

detailed reviews of the final engineering plans, reports, calculations and modeling continue through 

the final design process to ensure the development has a positive impact on the area.  

 
Regards,  

 
 

Marty Michalisko, PE, CFM 

Principal / Project Manager 

 



MPSLAW 
      MELTZER, PURTILL & STELLE LLC 

 
        A T T O R N E Y S  A T  L A W 

1515 EAST WOODFIELD ROAD 

SECOND FLOOR 

SCHAUMBURG, ILLINOIS  60173-5431 

TELEPHONE (847) 330-2400 

FAX (847) 330-1231     

300 SOUTH WACKER DRIVE 

SUITE 2300 

CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 60606-6704 
TELEPHONE  (312) 987-9900 

FAX (312) 987-9854  

 

Direct Dial:   847-330-6068 

E-mail:        hfrancke@mpslaw.com    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
August 16, 2019 
 
 
Philip A. Kiraly 
Village Manager 
Village of Glencoe 
675 Village Court 
Glencoe, IL 60022 

 
RE:  1801 Green Bay Road Subdivision/Updated Plats and Plans/Responses to Questions Posed 

Dear Mr. Kiraly,  

On behalf of Glencoe Developers, LLC, we are pleased to be delivering to you our updated 

package of plats, plans and other information in anticipation of our August 28 appearance before the Plan 

Commission.  

The development project team greatly appreciates your ongoing cooperation in the consideration 

of this matter.  Please contact me if you have any questions or if any additional information is required at 

this time.  

Very truly yours, 

MELTZER, PURTILL & STELLE LLC 

 
Harold W. Francke 

cc: Steven M. Elrod and Stewart J. Weiss, Holland & Knight LLP, Village attorneys 

 Larry DiVito, for Glencoe Developers, LLC 

 John Myefski, Myefski Architects, Inc. 

 Kevin Lewis, IG Consulting, Inc. 

 Michael Werthmann, KLOA, Inc.   

 Bernie Jacobs, Jacobs/Ryan Associates 

mailto:hfrancke@mpslaw.com


1801 Green Bay Road Subdivision
Glencoe, Illinois

Glencoe Developers, LLC 

Application for Preliminary Plat of Subdivision Approval
(Date of Updated Submission: August 19, 2019)

Table of Contents

1. Project Narrative
2. Preliminary Plat of Subdivision
3. Site Plan/Footprint Overlay with High Value Trees
4. Preliminary Stormwater Management Report
5. Preliminary Engineering Plans, Tree Inventory and Survey

A. Preliminary Engineering Plan set (10 pages)
B. Draft Stormwater Operation & Maintenance Plan
C. Tree Inventory
D. Plat of Survey

6. Preliminary Landscape Plans (including Tree Protection 
Plan, Tree Protection Details and Notes, Tree Preservation 
Notes, Proposed Street Trees Plan, Perimeter Fencing 
Detail, Enlargement Plan/Outlot A Enlargement Plan/Outlot 
D & E “Typical”, Entrance Enlargement Plan, and 
Retaining Wall Details)

7. Traffic Information
A. Updated Traffic Impact Study
B. Green Bay Road Conceptual Improvement Plans and 

Proposed Speed Limit and Signage Modification 
Plans

C. Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis
8. Summary of Material Terms of Declaration/Draft 

Declaration
9. Developer Responses to Subdivision Review Standards
10. Developer Responses to Previously Asked Questions



1801 GREEN BAY ROAD, GLENCOE, ILLINOIS
APPLICATION FOR PRELIMINARY PLAT OF SUBDIVISION APPROVAL

PROJECT NARRATIVE

Glencoe Developers, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company, is proposing to subdivide the 
property located at 1801 Green Bay Road, which consists of approximately 12 acres situated on the east 
side of Green Bay Road immediately opposite Westley Road, into 29 single-family lots.  The property is 
zoned in the R-B Single Family Residence District under the Glencoe Zoning Ordinance.  The subdivision 
does not require, and the Developer is not seeking, any rezoning of the property, any special use 
approvals or the approval of any zoning variations.  

Until recently, the property was used as a family estate.  The property contains three structures, 
comprised of approximately 15,000 square feet of residential space, plus parking for eight cars, and a 
stable for six horses.  The remainder of the property consists of a combination of manicured landscaping 
and natural wooded areas and a few architectural features such as an entry gate and a gazebo.  

The proposed subdivision will conform to the regulations of the R-B Single Family Resident 
District.  Those regulations require a minimum lot size of 13,000 square feet and a minimum lot width of 
80 feet.  The average lot size in the subdivision will be 14,938 square feet; the median lot size will be 
13,812 square feet; and the minimum lot size will be 13,011 square feet.  

The homes the Developer intends to construct on the property will range in size from 
approximately 2,600 square feet to 4,000 square feet.  All will have first floor master suites and two or 
three bedrooms upstairs.  Homebuyers will have several dwelling unit types and elevations from which to 
select.  The community will be substantially “maintenance free” for subdivision occupants with most 
elements of maintenance (for example, driveway snow plowing and maintenance of single-family lot 
landscaping) being undertaken by a Homeowners Association pursuant to a recorded Declaration.  

The Homeowners Association will also own and maintain a large (approximately 21,000 square 
foot) area of open space containing many mature and desirable trees created in the center of the 
subdivision by the construction of the subdivision street.  That street will be a Village-owned public street 
that has a single point of ingress and egress on Green Bay Road opposite Westley Road.  The street will 
be constructed in a right-of-way of a reduced width and a sidewalk will be constructed on only one side so 
that trees can be saved.  Due to its reduced pavement width, parking will be allowed on only one side of 
the street.  

In connection with the construction of the subdivision, lane restriping, reductions in speed limits 
and signage modifications will be made to and along Green Bay Road which will make vehicular, 
pedestrian and bicycle travel along Green Bay Road safer for existing neighborhood residents and users 
of Green Bay Road.  

 
Stormwater management will be undertaken in accordance with a plan the Village approves at 

the time of approval of a final plat of subdivision for the property.  That plan will respect the existing 
drainage divides on the property, discharge stormwater into the same watershed the property currently 
drains to, and conform to all applicable federal, state, county and Village stormwater regulations.  Existing 
drainage problems on many of the surrounding properties will improve as a result of the development of 
this property because the stormwater management improvements the Developer will be constructing will 
collect and detain on-site stormwater which is presently running off the land in an uncontrolled manner 
and it will release it in a controlled, significantly lesser rate of runoff.  

The Developer, in the construction of the subdivision’s street and utilities and in the construction 
of homes on subdivision lots, will be taking care to protect and preserve as many of the existing trees of 
significance as it can.  If those trees cannot be saved, the Developer will comply fully with the 
replacement requirements of the Village’s Trees and Shrubs Ordinance.  





GAZEBO

G
R

E
E

N
B

A
Y

 R
O

A
D

LOT N.I.C.

LOT 11 LOT 12 LOT 13 LOT 14 LOT 15 LOT 16

L
O

T
 1

7
L

O
T

 1
8

L
O

T
 1

9
L
O

T
 2

0
L
O

T
 2

1
L
O

T
 2

2

LOT 24LOT 25LOT 26LOT 27

L
O

T
 2

8
L

O
T

 3

LOT 4

LOT 10LOT 2

LOT 1

WESTLEY ROAD

NORTHWOOD DRIVE

C
A

R
O

L
 L

A
N

E

L
O

T
 2

3

L
O

T
 2

9
LOT 5 LOT 6

LOT 7LOT 8

LOT 9

PARK

FOREST PRESERVE

OUTLOT A

OUTLOT 
C

OUTLOT D

OUTLOT E

OUTLOT 
B

EXISTING 
BUS STOP

EXISTING 
PIERS

EXISTING 
BUS STOP

#403#409

#415#423
#431

#424

#414
#406

#1805

#1799

#1163 #419 #415 #407 #395

#1176

#1178

#1182

#1188

#1194

#1200

#1206

#1212

#1214

C

B

C

E

E

E

D

C1

C1

C
1

F1

F
1

F
1

D1

C1

B

D
D1

B

E

B

C

C

B

C

B
C1

D1

F1

C

F1

D1 B
C

C

C

C1

E

E

D

C

EE

C1

F1
D1

B B
B

C

C1
D1

D
BASIN

BASIN

SEE ENGINEERING DRAWINGS FOR PROPOSED NEW 
INTERSECTION ALIGNMENT AND NEW STREET STRIPING PLAN

NEW ENTRANCE

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

CONSTRUCTION

JOB NO

DATE

COPYRIGHT: MYEFSKI ARCHITECTS, INC. EXPRESSLY RESERVES ITS 
COMMON LAW COPYRIGHT AND OTHER PROPERTY RIGHTS IN THESE 
DRAWINGS.   THESE DRAWINGS ARE NOT TO BE REPRODUCED, CHANGED, 
NOR  COPIED IN ANY FORM OR MANNER WHATSOEVER, NOR ARE THEY TO 
BE ASSIGNED TO ANY THIRD PARTY,  WITHOUT FIRST OBTAINING THE 
EXPRESSED WRITTEN  PERMISSION AND CONSENT OF MYEFSKI  
ARCHITECTS, INC.

THESE DRAWINGS MAY HAVE BEEN REPRODUCED AT A SIZE DIFFERENT 
THAN ORIGINALLY DRAWN.   OWNER AND ARCHITECT ASSUME NO 
RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE USE OF INCORRECT SCALE.

CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL EXISTING CONDITIONS PRIOR TO 
PROCEEDING WITH CONSTRUCTION AND NOTIFY THE ARCHITECT 
IMMEDIATELY OF ANY DISCREPANCIES OR CONFLICTS.

APPROVALS

MYEFSKI
ARCHITECTS

CLIENT

GLENCOE DEVELOPERS, LLC
707 SKOKIE BLVD. / SUITE 100
NORTHBROOK, ILLINOIS 60062
CONTACT: LARRY DIVITO
PHONE: 847-875-6201 EMAIL: LDDIVITO@GMAIL.COM

CIVIL ENGINEER

IG CONSULTING, INC.
300 MARQUARDT DRIVE
WHEELING, ILLINOIS 60090
CONTACT: KEVIN LEWIS
PHONE: 847.215.1133 EMAIL: KEVIN@IGCONSULTING.NET

ARCHITECT

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

JACOBS/RYAN ASSOCIATES
1527 N. SANDBURG TERRACE
CHICAGO IL 60610
CONTACT: BERNIE JACOBS
PHONE: 312.664.3217 EMAIL: BJACOBS@JACOBSRYAN.COM

TRAFFIC ENGINEER

KENIG LINDGREN O'HARA & ABOONA, INC. (KLOA, INC.)
9575 W HIGGINS RD #400 
ROSEMONT, IL 60018
CONTACT: MICHAEL WERTHMANN
PHONE: 847.518.9990 EMAIL: MWERTHMANN@KLOAINC.COM

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

PROJECT ARCH

MYEFSKI ARCHITECTS
400 NORTH MICHIGAN AVENUE, SUITE 400
CHICAGO, IL 60611
CONTACT: JOHN MYEFSKI
PHONE: 312.763.2400 EMAIL: JMYEFSKI@MYEFSKI.COM

8
/1

8
/2

0
1

9
 9

:2
0

:3
6

 A
M

08.12.2019

PC-1

SITE PLAN - PROPERTY LINES

19001

Author

Checker

Approver

1801 GREEN BAY ROAD,
GLENCOE, IL

1801 GREEN BAY ROAD

SCALE: 1" = 40'-0"

SITE PLAN

0 20' 40' 80'

NO DATE DESCRIPTION
1 08.16.19 PRELIMINARY PLAT OF

SUBDIVISION SUBMITTAL



G
R

E
E

N
B

A
Y

 R
O

A
D

LOT N.I.C.

LOT 11 LOT 12 LOT 13 LOT 14 LOT 15 LOT 16

L
O

T
 1

7
L

O
T

 1
8

L
O

T
 1

9
L
O

T
 2

0
L
O

T
 2

1
L
O

T
 2

2

LOT 24LOT 25LOT 26LOT 27

L
O

T
 2

8
L

O
T

 3

LOT 4

LOT 10LOT 2

LOT 1

WESTLEY ROAD

NORTHWOOD DRIVE

C
A

R
O

L
 L

A
N

E

L
O

T
 2

3

L
O

T
 2

9
LOT 5 LOT 6

LOT 7LOT 8

LOT 9

PARK

FOREST PRESERVE

OUTLOT A

OUTLOT 
C

OUTLOT D

OUTLOT E

OUTLOT 
B

EXISTING 
BUS STOP

EXISTING 
PIERS

EXISTING 
BUS STOP

C

B

C

E

E

E

D

C1

C1

C
1

F1

F
1

F
1

D1

C1

B

D
D1

B

E

B

C

C

B

C

TREES REMOVED 
BY ROAD NOT SHOWN

#403#409

#415#423
#431

#424

#414
#406

#1805

#1799

#1163 #419 #415 #407 #395

#1176

#1178

#1182

#1188

#1194

#1200

#1206

#1212

#1214

B
C1

D1

F1

C

F1

D1 B
C

C

C

C1

E

E

D

C

EE

C1

F1
D1

B B
B

C

C1
D1

D

HIGH VALUE TREES

EXISTING TREES

CONCEPT FOOTPRINT 
ON LOT

BASIN

BASIN

C

D
1

D1

NEW ENTRANCE

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

CONSTRUCTION

JOB NO

DATE

COPYRIGHT: MYEFSKI ARCHITECTS, INC. EXPRESSLY RESERVES ITS 
COMMON LAW COPYRIGHT AND OTHER PROPERTY RIGHTS IN THESE 
DRAWINGS.   THESE DRAWINGS ARE NOT TO BE REPRODUCED, CHANGED, 
NOR  COPIED IN ANY FORM OR MANNER WHATSOEVER, NOR ARE THEY TO 
BE ASSIGNED TO ANY THIRD PARTY,  WITHOUT FIRST OBTAINING THE 
EXPRESSED WRITTEN  PERMISSION AND CONSENT OF MYEFSKI  
ARCHITECTS, INC.

THESE DRAWINGS MAY HAVE BEEN REPRODUCED AT A SIZE DIFFERENT 
THAN ORIGINALLY DRAWN.   OWNER AND ARCHITECT ASSUME NO 
RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE USE OF INCORRECT SCALE.

CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL EXISTING CONDITIONS PRIOR TO 
PROCEEDING WITH CONSTRUCTION AND NOTIFY THE ARCHITECT 
IMMEDIATELY OF ANY DISCREPANCIES OR CONFLICTS.

APPROVALS

MYEFSKI
ARCHITECTS

CLIENT

GLENCOE DEVELOPERS, LLC
707 SKOKIE BLVD. / SUITE 100
NORTHBROOK, ILLINOIS 60062
CONTACT: LARRY DIVITO
PHONE: 847-875-6201 EMAIL: LDDIVITO@GMAIL.COM

CIVIL ENGINEER

IG CONSULTING, INC.
300 MARQUARDT DRIVE
WHEELING, ILLINOIS 60090
CONTACT: KEVIN LEWIS
PHONE: 847.215.1133 EMAIL: KEVIN@IGCONSULTING.NET

ARCHITECT

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

JACOBS/RYAN ASSOCIATES
1527 N. SANDBURG TERRACE
CHICAGO IL 60610
CONTACT: BERNIE JACOBS
PHONE: 312.664.3217 EMAIL: BJACOBS@JACOBSRYAN.COM

TRAFFIC ENGINEER

KENIG LINDGREN O'HARA & ABOONA, INC. (KLOA, INC.)
9575 W HIGGINS RD #400 
ROSEMONT, IL 60018
CONTACT: MICHAEL WERTHMANN
PHONE: 847.518.9990 EMAIL: MWERTHMANN@KLOAINC.COM

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

PROJECT ARCH

MYEFSKI ARCHITECTS
400 NORTH MICHIGAN AVENUE, SUITE 400
CHICAGO, IL 60611
CONTACT: JOHN MYEFSKI
PHONE: 312.763.2400 EMAIL: JMYEFSKI@MYEFSKI.COM

8
/1

8
/2

0
1

9
 9

:2
2

:1
6

 A
M

08.12.2019

PC-2

FOOTPRINT OVERLAY WITH HIGH
VALUE TREES

19001

Author

Checker

Approver

1801 GREEN BAY ROAD,
GLENCOE, IL

1801 GREEN BAY ROAD

SCALE: 1" = 40'-0"

SITE PLAN

0 20' 40' 80'

NO DATE DESCRIPTION
1 08.16.19 PRELIMINARY PLAT OF

SUBDIVISION SUBMITTAL



 

 

 

 

PRELIMINARY 

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT REPORT 

 

 

 

SUBDIVISION 

1801 GREEN BAY ROAD, 

GLENCOE, IL 

(IG #18557) 

 

 

 
Prepared for: 

Glencoe Developers, LLC 

707 Skokie Blvd, Suite 100 

Northbrook, IL 60062 

 

 

 

Prepared by: 

IG Consulting, Inc. 

300 Marquardt Drive 

Wheeling, Il 60090 

 

 

 

 

July 30, 2019 

Revised August 16, 2019 

 

 

 

 
G:\IG\18\18557\Cover for Stormwater Management Report-rev.doc 



 

 

IG Consulting, Inc. was engaged by Glencoe Developers, LLC to evaluate the existing and proposed 

storm water conditions for the property situated at 1801 Green Bay Road in Glencoe, Illinois and to 

prepare a stormwater management plan for a 29-unit residential community the developer intends 

to construct on the property.  A copy of the proposed subdivision plan is attached as Exhibit “A”.   

 

The property is situated in the northeast corner of Cook County Illinois.  The surface of the property 

gently slopes to the east and is tributary to Lake Michigan.  The highest ground on the property is 

along Green Bay Road.  Water flows across the surface in two general directions.  The northerly 

6.9 acre watershed drains towards the Turnbull Woods Forest Preserve property along the north 

property line and at a point near the north end of the east property line.  The southerly 5.2 acre 

watershed drains towards Carol Lane at two locations on the east property line.  The watersheds and 

these drainage flows are depicted on Exhibit “B”.   

 

We performed a Critical Duration Analysis of the storm events having a 1% chance (commonly called 

100year storm) of occurring, as requested by the Village staff.  For both watersheds on the property, 

we determined the 1-hour event generated the highest discharge rate from the property.  The 

southerly watershed would discharge 10.2 CFS and the northerly watershed would discharge 11.4 

CFS.  A summary of our Critical Duration Analysis is included as Exhibit “C”.  

 

The Village of Glencoe initiated a study of the Terrace Court Basin area in 2014 and installed a storm 

sewer in Park Place in 2016 to help alleviate stormwater concerns raised by residents in the area.  The 

existing watershed contributing to the Terrace Court basin area, and factored into the storm sewer 

design and installation, included the southerly 5.2 acres of the subject property flowing into the 

storm sewer at the intersection of Carol Lane and Park Place unrestricted in any way.  

 

The proposed development will follow the current local, county, state and federal guidelines 

regarding storm water management and discharge from the subject property.  Accordingly, we are 

proposing two storm water detention basins on the subject property that would collect proportional 

areas of the property in drainage swales and roadway gutters and direct the water into private and 

public storm sewer pipes.  Those pipes would then discharge into the two basins that would 

temporarily hold the water and release it at a restricted rate.  The basins would be sized to limit the 

overall discharge from the site to 3.7 CFS (approximately 17% of the current peak discharge).  A copy 

of the proposed watersheds are depicted on Exhibit "D". 

  

The storm water basins are designed to meet water quality discharge Retention-Volume Control (the 

initial 1” flow of water is filtered or treated in some way to remove sediment and debris).  The basins 

would be constructed in the rear of the northeast and southeast corner lots and would be accessed 

via easements along the side yards of the lots within the subdivision.   

 

Upon conceptual approval of plans by the Village, the developer's engineer will finalize plans 

depicting an onsite storm water management system to include Retention-Volume Control to 

manage the quality of water runoff and Detention to restrict the rate of storm water runoff from the 

site.  The Retention and Detention will be provided in a combination of drainage swales, rain 

gardens, detention basins, chambers and storage within the storm sewer pipe network. 



 

 

 

An Operation and Maintenance Plan has been included as part of the Preliminary Engineering Plan.  

The Plan includes a cross section depicting the limits of the Upland Slope, Upper Shoreline, Bottom of 

Basin, Low Velocity Swale, and Micro Pool Sediment Basin.  The plan includes an outline and 

timeframes for maintenance scope items that will be the responsibility of the Home Owners 

Association to perform. 

 

The storm water management system was analyzed contemplating a dual point of discharge for 

water that is collected within the site and an additional (or emergency) overflow for storm water 

runoff that exceeds the design capacity. 

  

The design contemplates to collect the storm water and release it to both the northeast (Turnbull 

Woods) and southeast (Park Place).  This plan will maintain flow to Turnbull Woods and will reduce 

the primary flow to the Park Place sewer by at least 60%.  The plan is to direct the majority of the 

overland flow from the site away from the existing residential properties. 

  

Our storm water management analysis looked at the following methods to meet the onsite storage 

requirements:  

1. Open basins with vegetated slopes and bottoms (both turf grass and native plantings); 

2. Storm Chambers or pipes within open graded stone; 

3. Permeable Pavers over stone; 

4. Concrete vaults; 

5. Oversized storm pipes; 

6. Energy Passive Groundwater Recharge Products. 

We are proposing open basins that meet the MWRD requirements and utilizing a combination of 

several of the other methods to reduce the impact on the existing trees, where possible.  Should the 

concept of a Single Family Development be approved, we will explore further the best methods to 

provide the required on site storm water detention volumes while limiting the impact to the existing 

trees. 

 

While there will be an increase in impervious area on the subject property as a result of its 

development, the overall peak rate of stormwater runoff will actually decrease to less than 20% of 

the existing peak flow due to the temporary detention of stormwater in the basins the developer will 

be constructing on the property and the release of that stormwater at a controlled and restricted rate 

into the Village’s Terrace Court Basin storm sewer system.   

 

 

 
G:\IG\18\18557\Stormwater Management Report-rev3.doc 































DRAFT/PRELIMINARY

1

OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE PLAN FOR 1800 GREEN BAY ROAD SUBDIVISION
STORMWATER MANAGEMENT IMPROVEMENTS

1. General

Regular inspections and routine maintenance of general areas shall be performed on a monthly 
or as-needed basis.  Specific items of concern include:
_____ Litter and debris shall be controlled
_____ Landscaped areas shall be maintained with regular mowing and restored with 

appropriate seeding/vegetation as necessary
_____ Accumulated sediment shall be disposed of properly, along with any wastes generated 

during maintenance operations
_____ Riprap areas shall be repaired with the addition of new riprap, as necessary, of similar 

size and shape
_____ Roads shall be swept, vacuumed and/or washed on a regular basis

2. Stormwater Management Facilities

All components of the stormwater management facilities shall be checked monthly between 
March and November and maintained as necessary to ensure proper performance.  It is critical 
that all inflows and outflows to the detention facility are clean and performing as designed.  In 
addition, the design volume of the detention facility shall also be maintained.  Inspections for 
the following specific items should be conducted monthly between March and November.

Side Slopes/Embankment/Emergency Overflow Structure
_____ Inspect embankments for settlement and erosion
_____ Remove woody growth from the embankment
_____ Any breaks, hire Registered Professional Engineer for design resolution
_____ Seed and sod any eroded areas
_____ Signs of piping (leakage) or seepage, repair
_____ Stabilize emergency overflow structure if erosion observed
_____ Remove obstructions blocking emergency overflow spillway

Vegetated Areas
_____ Regular mowing to control vegetation, no cutting of native vegetation
_____ Need for planting, reseeding or sodding.  Supplement alternative native vegetation if a 

significant portion has not established (50% of the surface area).  Reseed with 
alternative grass species if original grass cover has not successfully established.

_____ Evidence of grazing, motorbikes or other vehicles, repair
_____ Check for invasive vegetation, remove were possible
_____ All vegetation must be maintained per the approved planting plan



DRAFT/PRELIMINARY

2

Outlet Control Structure
_____ Inspect restrictor and remove debris if clogged or discharge reduced
_____ Remove accumulated sediment at outlet
_____ Scour and erosion at outlet, repair and reseed
_____ Any ice damage to outlet of pipe, repair if necessary
_____ Condition of trash tracks, remove debris
_____ Outlet channel conditions downstream

Access for Maintenance Equipment
_____ Remove any obstructions placed in maintenance easements

Safety Features
_____ Access controls to hazardous areas
_____ Fences
_____ Loose or damaged posts
_____ Loose or broken wires
_____ Condition of gates
_____ Signs

Detention Volume
_____ Inspect all stormwater detention facilities to ensure that the constructed volume for 

detention is maintained.  No sediment, topsoil, or other dumping into the facility shall 
be allowed.  Specific locations in the stormwater management system, designed to 
accumulate sediment, shall be dredged as necessary to prevent sediment from reaching 
the invert of any gravity outlet pipe.

3. Volume Control Facility

Routine inspections and maintenance of volume control facilities shall be performed by the 
Owner on a yearly or as-needed basis.  Specific items of concern include:
_____ Facility shall be inspected yearly using the monitoring well to verify the system is 

functioning properly.
_____ Surface of permeable pavement shall be cleaned with low-pressure power washer.
_____ Accumulated sediment from surface shall be vacuumed out and disposed of properly.
_____ Appropriate signage shall be repaired if damaged or illegible.

4. Stormwater Collection System

The owner shall perform monthly inspections of all components of the stormwater collection 
system that are owned by the Homeowners Association or individual lot owners.  The monthly 
inspection shall occur between March and November and include the following specific areas 
of concern:

Storm Inlets/Manholes
_____ Remove accumulated leaves and other debris from grates
_____ Reset covers/lids on as-needed basis



DRAFT/PRELIMINARY

3

_____ Remove accumulated sediment from manhole bottom when 50% of sump is filled

Storm Sewers/Culverts
_____ Visually inspect pipes by removing manhole lids, make repairs as necessary
_____ Storm sewers and culverts shall be checked for siltation deposits at inlets, outlets, and 

within the conduit, clean out as necessary
_____ Restore riprap at outfalls if erosion observed
_____ Restore riprap at outfalls
_____ Replant and reseed any eroded areas

Overland Flow Routes (Ditches/Swales)
_____ Annual visual inspections shall be performed that verify the design capacity of the 

overland flow routes is maintained.  The slope and cross-sectional area of the 
ditch/swale shall be verified during this inspection.

_____ Remove any obstructions that have been placed in the drainage path
_____ Seed and sod any eroded areas
_____ Restore riprap as necessary
_____ Regrade to provide positive drainage as necessary
_____ Regular mowing to control vegetation

5. Vegetated Areas
_____ Need for planting, reseeding, or sodding.  Supplement alternative native vegetation if a 

significant portion has not established (50% of the surface area after second growing 
season).  Reseed with alternative native grass specifies if original grass cover has not 
successfully established.

_____ Evidence of grazing, motorbikes, or other vehicles, repair.
_____ Check for invasive vegetation, remove when possible.
_____ Regular mowing to control vegetation; it is recommended that native vegetation remain 

uncut.
_____ Dead or damaged non-native grassy areas - repair with seeding with fertilization or 

seeding with mulch.
_____ Compensatory storage area shall be reseeded with appropriate vegetation according to 

the approved planting plan.  

6. Qualified Sewer Construction
_____ Perform manhole inspections once every five years, make repairs as necessary.
_____ Perform sewer inspections once every five years, make repairs as necessary.
_____ Perform regular cleaning so that each sewer segment is cleaned once every 5 years.
_____ Remove any obstructions placed in maintenance easements that may impede 

maintenance equipment access.

G:\IG\18\18557\MWRD Exhibit R Notes.doc



DRAFT/PRELIMINARY

4



TREE INVENTORY

07-29-19

IG #18557

Tag No. Size (") Common Name

Village 

Code 

classifi

cation Cond Form

Action 

Code

Heritage 

Size 

Inches

Heritage 

Inches 

Removed

Heritage 

Poor 

Condition 

Size 

Inches

Heritage 

Poor 

Condition 

Inches 

Removed

Non-

Heritage 

Size 

Inches

Non-

Heritage 

Inches 

Removed

Removable 

(Invasive) 

Size Inches

Removable 

(Invasive) 

Inches 

Removed Notes

1201 18 Black Locust 3 2 18

1202 7 Black Cherry R 6 6 X Dead

1203 18 Ash R 6 6 X 18 18 Topped at 10'

1204 17 Black Locust 2 2 17

1205 6 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

1206 9 Black Locust 2 3 9

1207 7 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

1208 18 Shagbark Hickory HR 4 4 X 18 18 Trunk Rot

1209 20 Siberian Elm 4 3 X 20 20 Encroaching onto nearby tree

1210 7 Ash R 6 6 X Dead

1211 8 Ash R 6 6 X 8 8 Dead

1212 9 Ash R 6 6 X 9 9 Dead

1213 12 American Elm H 2 3 12

1214 7 American Elm 2 3

1215 7 Ash R 6 6 X Dead

1216 13 Eastern White Pine H 2 2 13

1217 30 White Oak H 1 1 30

1218 14 Ash R 6 6 X 14 14 Dead

1219 13 Buckthorn R 3 3 X 13 13 Multi stem trunk: 7,6

1220 8 Buckthorn R 4 3 X 8 8 Trunk Rot

1221 10 Ash R 6 6 X 10 10 Dead

1222 29 White Oak H 2 3 29

1223 27 White Oak H 2 2 27 Trunk rot, basal rot

1224 6 Black Locust 3 4

1225 15 Linden HR 5 3 X 15 15 Trunk rot, basal rot

1226 9 Buckthorn R 3 3 X 9 9

1227 6 Buckthorn R 5 5 X Girdled roots

1228 15 Black Locust 2 2 15

1229 12 Black Locust 2 2 12

1230 7 Black Locust 3 3

1231 14 Eastern White Pine H 2 2 14

1232 17 Eastern White Pine H 3 3 17

1233 10 Eastern White Pine H 3 4 X 10 10 Lean

1234 9 Shagbark Hickory H 2 2 9

1235 6 Hawthorne 5 5

1236 17 Shagbark Hickory H 2 3 R 17 17

1237 7 Ash R 6 6 X Dead

1238 18 Buckthorn R 3 3 X 18 18 Multi stem trunk: 18" at base

1239 31 White Oak H 3 2 31

1240 16 Eastern White Pine HR 3 5 X 16 16 Lean > 40°

1241 25 Ash R 6 6 X 25 25 Topped at 15' dead

1242 20 Northern Red Oak HR 4 4 X 20 20 Multi stem trunk: 10,10 Dead

1243 7 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

1244 16 Black Locust 2 2 16

1245 15 Black Locust 3 3 15

1246 13 American Elm H 3 3 13

1247 7 Walnut 1 1

1248 8 Shagbark Hickory H 1 2 8

1249 21 Shagbark Hickory H 1 1 21

1250 12 Dogwood 2 2 12 Multi stem trunk: 6,6

1251 31 White Oak H 1 1 31

1252 38 White Oak H 2 2 38

1253 22 White Oak H 2 2 22

1254 23 White Oak H 2 3 23

1255 30 Northern Red Oak H 1 3 30

1256 20 White Oak H 2 2 20

1257 19 White Oak H 2 2 19

1258 26 White Oak H 2 2 26

1259 31 White Oak H 2 2 31

1260 18 Red Pine 2 2 R 18 18

1261 16 Red Pine 2 3 R 16 16

1262 17 Eastern White Pine H 3 3 R 17 17

1263 37 Burr Oak HR 3 3 X 37 37 Trunk Rot

1264 8 Fir 3 3 8

1265 21 Shagbark Hickory H 1 1 21

1266 44 Swamp White Oak H 3 2 44 Old lightning strike

1267 22 Shagbark Hickory H 1 1 22

1268 18 Shagbark Hickory H 1 1 18

1269 18 Shagbark Hickory H 1 1 18

1270 40 Swamp White Oak H 1 1 40

1271 38 White Oak HR 3 2 X 38 38 Fruiting bodies along root zone

1272 15 White Poplar R 2 3 15

1273 39 Swamp White Oak HR 4 3 X 39 39 Basal rot

1274 34 White Poplar R 2 3 34

1275 17 Eastern White Pine H 2 3 R 17 17

1276 21 Eastern White Pine H 2 2 R 21 21

1277 25 Crabapple 3 3 X 25 25 Multi stem trunk: 10,9,6

1278 7 Magnolia 2 3

1279 14 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X 14 14

1280 13 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X 13 13

1281 14 Sugar Maple H 2 3 14

1282 11 Eastern Red Cedar 3 3 11

1283 11 Eastern Red Cedar 3 3 11

1284 7 Eastern Red Cedar 3 3

1285 16 Eastern Red Cedar 3 3 16 Multi stem trunk: 6,9

1286 12 Sugar Maple H 2 3 R 12 12

1287 7 American Elm 3 4

1288 7 Sugar Maple 2 3

1289 14 Sugar Maple H 2 2 R 14 14

1290 7 Sugar Maple 2 3

1291 7 Sugar Maple 3 3

1292 32 White Oak H 5 3 32

1293 16 Norway Spruce 2 3 16

1294 20 Shagbark Hickory H 2 2 20

1295 24 Shagbark Hickory H 2 2 24

1296 6 Ornamental Cherry 1 1

1297 18 Buckthorn R 3 3 X 18 18 Multi stem trunk: 18" at base

1298 10 Buckthorn R 3 3 X 10 10

1299 31 White Oak H 1 2 R 31 31

1300 31 Northern Red Oak H 2 2 R 31 31

1301 25 Sugar Maple H 2 2 R 25 25

1302 7 Sugar Maple 2 3

1303 10 Sugar Maple H 2 4 X 10 10 Trunk Damage

1304 7 Sugar Maple 2 3

G/IG/18557/Tree Inventory.xls 1of7



TREE INVENTORY

07-29-19

IG #18557

Tag No. Size (") Common Name

Village 

Code 

classifi

cation Cond Form

Action 

Code

Heritage 

Size 

Inches

Heritage 

Inches 

Removed

Heritage 

Poor 

Condition 

Size 

Inches

Heritage 

Poor 

Condition 

Inches 

Removed

Non-

Heritage 

Size 

Inches

Non-

Heritage 

Inches 

Removed

Removable 

(Invasive) 

Size Inches

Removable 

(Invasive) 

Inches 

Removed Notes

1305 7 Sugar Maple 3 3

1306 11 Sugar Maple H 3 3 11

1307 54 American Elm H 2 3 54 Multi stem trunk: 20,19,15 Included Bark

1308 26 Swamp White Oak H 1 1 26

1309 25 Sugar Maple H 3 3 X 25 25 Multi stem trunk: 25" at base

1310 18 Shagbark Hickory H 2 3 18

1311 23 White Oak H 2 2 23

1312 11 Sugar Maple H 3 3 11

1313 7 Birch 3 3

1314 10 Sugar Maple H 3 4 10

1315 9 Sugar Maple H 3 4 9

1316 33 Swamp White Oak H 2 2 33

1317 18 White Oak H 2 2 18

1318 21 White Oak H 2 3 R 21 21

1319 23 White Oak H 1 1 R 23 23

1320 19 Swamp White Oak H 2 2 19

1321 7 Sugar Maple 2 2

1322 8 Northern Red Oak H 2 3 8

1323 15 White Oak H 2 1 15

1324 19 Northern Red Oak H 2 3 19

1325 15 White Oak H 2 3 15

1326 10 Northern Red Oak H 3 2 10

1327 9 Northern Red Oak H 1 1 9

1328 10 Northern Red Oak H 2 3 10

1329 28 Swamp White Oak H 1 1 28

1330 9 American Elm H 3 3 9

1331 21 Swamp White Oak H 2 2 21

1332 28 Swamp White Oak H 2 2 28

1333 13 Swamp White Oak H 4 5 R 13 13

1334 31 Swamp White Oak H 4 2 R 31 31

1335 41 Swamp White Oak H 2 2 R 41 41

1336 14 Swamp White Oak H 2 3 14

1337 29 Swamp White Oak H 2 2 R 29 29

1338 22 Swamp White Oak H 2 3 22

1339 41 Swamp White Oak H 2 3 41

1340 18 White Oak H 2 3 18

1341 22 White Oak H 1 2 22

1342 17 White Oak H 2 2 17

1343 22 White Oak H 2 3 22

1344 10 Northern Red Oak H 3 3 10

1345 8 Northern Red Oak H 3 3 8

1346 10 Northern Red Oak H 3 3 10

1347 13 Northern Red Oak H 3 3 13

1348 17 Northern Red Oak H 3 3 17

1349 14 Northern Red Oak H 2 3 14

1350 13 Northern Red Oak H 3 3 13

1351 7 Sugar Maple 3 4

1352 16 Shagbark Hickory H 2 3 16

1353 12 Swamp White Oak H 2 4 R 12 12

1354 22 Norway Spruce 2 3 R 22 22 Multi stem trunk: 12,10

1355 16 Northern Red Oak H 3 3 16

1356 13 Norway Spruce 2 2 13

1357 12 Northern Red Oak H 3 3 12

1358 15 Pin Oak H 2 1 15

1359 7 Swamp White Oak 2 3

1360 29 Swamp White Oak H 1 1 R 29 29

1361 25 Swamp White Oak HR 5 3 X 25 25 Trunk split, trunk rot

1362 21 Swamp White Oak H 2 3 R 21 21

1363 7 Northern Red Oak 2 3

1364 24 White Oak H 1 1 24

1365 10 Black Locust 3 4 10

1366 11 Swamp White Oak H 2 3 11

1367 16 White Oak H 2 2 16

1368 14 Swamp White Oak H 1 1 14

1369 12 Northern Red Oak H 2 3 12

1370 9 Northern Red Oak H 2 3 9

1371 15 Northern Red Oak H 2 3 15

1372 9 Northern Red Oak H 2 3 9

1373 8 Northern Red Oak H 2 3 8

1374 10 Black Cherry 4 5 X 10 10 Lean, basal rot

1375 24 White Oak H 1 1 24

1376 29 Swamp White Oak H 2 1 29

1377 19 Sugar Maple HR 2 4 X 19 19 Lean, girdled roots

1378 16 Northern Red Oak H 2 2 R 16 16

1379 9 Sugar Maple H 2 2 9

1380 30 White Oak H 1 2 30

1381 21 Eastern White Pine H 2 3 21

1382 17 Shagbark Hickory H 2 3 X 17 17 Trunk Damage

1383 24 Shagbark Hickory H 2 3 24

1384 26 Norway Maple 4 5 X 26 26 Trunk Rot

1385 43 White Oak H 2 3 43

1386 28 White Oak H 1 1 28

1387 10 Northern Red Oak H 2 3 10

1388 21 White Oak H 2 2 21

1389 18 White Oak H 1 1 18

1390 6 Sugar Maple 2 3

1391 23 Swamp White Oak H 1 1 R 23 23

1392 22 White Oak H 2 3 R 22 22

1393 13 White Oak H 1 1 R 13 13

1394 33 Northern Red Oak H 3 2 R 33 33

1395 17 White Oak H 3 3 R 17 17

1396 26 Northern Red Oak H 2 2 26

1397 27 White Oak H 1 2 27

1398 7 Eastern White Cedar 3 3

1399 28 White Oak H 2 2 28

1400 20 White Oak H 2 2 20

1401 10 Eastern White Pine H 2 2 10

1402 18 White Oak H 1 1 18

1403 22 White Oak H 2 3 22

1404 21 White Oak H 2 2 21

1405 21 White Oak H 2 3 21

1406 28 White Oak H 3 3 28

1407 25 Swamp White Oak H 2 2 25

1408 15 White Oak H 1 1 15

G/IG/18557/Tree Inventory.xls 2of7



TREE INVENTORY

07-29-19

IG #18557

Tag No. Size (") Common Name

Village 

Code 

classifi

cation Cond Form

Action 

Code

Heritage 

Size 

Inches

Heritage 

Inches 

Removed

Heritage 

Poor 

Condition 

Size 

Inches

Heritage 

Poor 

Condition 

Inches 

Removed

Non-

Heritage 

Size 

Inches

Non-

Heritage 

Inches 

Removed

Removable 

(Invasive) 

Size Inches

Removable 

(Invasive) 

Inches 

Removed Notes

1409 21 White Oak H 1 1 21

1410 25 Northern Red Oak H 2 3 25

1411 16 White Oak H 2 2 16

1412 13 White Oak H 3 3 13

1413 19 White Oak H 2 2 19

1414 19 White Oak H 2 2 19

1415 15 White Oak H 2 3 15

1416 26 White Oak H 2 2 26

1417 13 Norway Maple 3 3 13 Multi stem trunk: 8,5

1418 17 White Oak H 3 3 17

1419 17 White Oak H 2 2 17

1420 17 White Oak H 2 3 17

1421 18 Catalpa H 3 3 18

1422 14 Northern Red Oak H 2 3 14

1423 16 Northern Red Oak H 2 3 16

1424 23 Norway Maple 1 1 23

1425 35 Swamp White Oak H 2 1 35

1426 31 Swamp White Oak H 2 2 31

1427 30 Swamp White Oak H 2 2 30

1428 26 Swamp White Oak H 2 3 26

1429 27 Swamp White Oak HR 5 3 X 27 27 Trunk Rot

1430 7 Shagbark Hickory 2 2

1431 15 Swamp White Oak H 3 3 15

1432 25 Swamp White Oak H 2 2 25

1433 26 Swamp White Oak H 2 3 26

1434 6 Dead R 6 6 X

1435 6 Norway Maple 2 3

1436 10 Norway Maple 3 3 10

1437 21 White Oak H 2 2 21

1438 17 White Oak H 2 2 17

1439 17 White Oak H 2 2 17

1488 19 White Oak H 2 2 19

1489 9 Eastern White Pine H 2 2 9

1490 17 Shagbark Hickory H 2 2 R 17 17

1491 7 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2501 15 White Oak H 2 2 15

2502 26 White Oak HR 5 3 X 26 26 Trunk Rot

2503 11 Northern Red Oak H 3 3 11

2504 14 Black Spruce 1 2 14

2505 18 Black Spruce 1 1 18

2506 26 White Oak H 2 2 26

2507 14 White Oak H 2 2 14

2508 8 Northern Red Oak H 3 2 8

2509 8 Norway Spruce 2 2 8

2510 29 White Oak H 2 2 29

2511 22 White Oak H 2 3 22

2512 22 White Oak H 2 2 22

2513 13 Swamp White Oak H 3 3 13

2514 20 White Oak H 2 2 20

2515 19 White Oak H 2 2 19

2516 6 White Oak 3 3

2517 24 White Oak H 2 3 24

2518 7 Northern Red Oak 2 3

2519 10 Northern Red Oak H 3 3 10

2520 14 Northern Red Oak H 2 2 14

2521 16 Northern Red Oak H 2 2 16

2522 14 Northern Red Oak H 3 3 14

2523 19 White Oak H 3 2 19

2524 16 White Oak H 3 3 16

2525 8 Northern Red Oak H 3 3 8

2526 15 White Oak H 3 3 15

2527 7 Northern Red Oak 3 3

2528 8 Northern Red Oak H 2 3 8

2529 18 White Oak H 2 3 18

2530 6 Northern Red Oak 2 2

2531 6 Northern Red Oak 2 2

2532 22 White Oak H 2 3 22

2533 19 Northern Red Oak H 3 3 19

2534 6 Northern Red Oak 3 3

2535 18 Black Spruce 1 1 18

2536 20 White Oak H 2 2 20

2537 12 Northern Red Oak H 2 3 12

2538 23 White Oak H 2 2 23

2539 18 White Oak H 3 3 18

2540 11 Northern Red Oak H 2 3 11

2541 14 Black Spruce 2 1 14

2542 9 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X 9 9

2543 8 Dead R 6 6 X 8 8 High risk tree, overhanging adjacent back yard

2544 6 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2545 10 American Elm H 3 3 10

2546 6 Dead R 6 6 X

2547 7 Sugar Maple 2 3

2548 7 Dead R 6 6 X

2549 11 Dead R 6 6 X 11 11 High Risk Tree, Leaning over adjacent front yard

2550 17 Northern Red Oak H 3 3 17

2551 8 Dead R 6 6 X 8 8

2552 6 Dead R 6 6 X

2553 10 Dead R 6 6 X 10 10

2554 9 Buckthorn R 3 3 X 9 9

2555 7 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2556 12 Dead R 6 6 X 12 12

2557 8 Dead R 6 6 X 8 8

2558 10 American Elm H 3 2 10

2559 7 Buckthorn R 4 5 X

2560 11 Dead R 6 6 X 11 11

2561 12 Dead R 6 6 X 12 12

2562 18 American Elm H 4 4 18 Growing into fence

2563 8 Buckthorn R 3 3 X 8 8

2564 10 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X 10 10

2565 11 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X 11 11

2566 7 White Walnut 2 2

2567 18 Shagbark Hickory H 2 3 18

2568 7 Hawthorne 4 4 Fruiting Bodies on Trunk

2569 8 Shagbark Hickory H 1 1 8

G/IG/18557/Tree Inventory.xls 3of7



TREE INVENTORY

07-29-19

IG #18557

Tag No. Size (") Common Name

Village 

Code 

classifi

cation Cond Form

Action 

Code

Heritage 

Size 

Inches

Heritage 

Inches 

Removed

Heritage 

Poor 

Condition 

Size 

Inches

Heritage 

Poor 

Condition 

Inches 

Removed

Non-

Heritage 

Size 

Inches

Non-

Heritage 

Inches 

Removed

Removable 

(Invasive) 

Size Inches

Removable 

(Invasive) 

Inches 

Removed Notes

2570 13 Norway Maple 3 3 13

2571 11 Norway Maple 3 3 11

2572 7 Shagbark Hickory 2 1

2573 18 Norway Maple 3 3 18 Multi stem trunk: 10,8

2574 9 Norway Maple 3 3 9

2575 7 Norway Maple 3 3

2576 10 Norway Maple 3 3 10

2577 24 Swamp White Oak H 2 2 24

2578 21 Swamp White Oak H 2 2 21

2579 6 Shagbark Hickory 1 1

2580 29 Swamp White Oak H 2 2 29

2581 11 Black Locust 3 4 11

2582 8 Black Locust 3 3 8

2583 6 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2584 7 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X

2585 7 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X

2586 8 Buckthorn R 4 4 X 8 8

2587 6 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2588 6 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2589 8 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X 8 8

2590 6 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X

2591 7 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X

2592 6 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2593 8 Buckthorn R 3 3 X 8 8

2594 11 Buckthorn R 5 5 X 11 11 Trunk Rot

2595 6 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2596 6 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X

2597 32 White Oak H 2 1 32

2598 7 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2599 10 Buckthorn R 4 4 X 10 10

2600 9 Buckthorn R 4 5 X 9 9 Fallen

2601 17 White Oak H 2 3 17

2602 6 Boxelder 3 3

2603 28 White Oak H 2 3 28

2604 16 White Oak H 2 3 16

2605 28 Swamp White Oak H 2 2 28

2606 6 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2607 11 Black Locust 3 4 11

2608 7 Black Locust 5 5 Trunk rot/leaning

2609 6 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2610 14 White Oak H 2 2 14

2611 23 Swamp White Oak H 2 3 23

2612 7 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2613 10 Norway Maple 2 2 10

2614 15 Buckthorn R 4 4 X 15 15 Multi stem trunk: 8,7

2615 8 Buckthorn R 4 4 X 8 8

2616 7 Buckthorn R 4 4 X

2617 9 Buckthorn R 3 3 X 9 9

2618 6 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2619 10 Buckthorn R 3 4 X 10 10

2620 9 Buckthorn R 4 3 X 9 9

2621 10 Buckthorn R 3 3 X 10 10

2622 9 Buckthorn R 4 4 X 9 9

2623 16 Black Locust 4 3 X 16 16 Trunk Rot

2624 6 Buckthorn R 5 5 X

2625 22 White Oak H 2 2 22

2626 13 Buckthorn R 4 3 X 13 13 Multi stem trunk: 7,6

2627 6 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2628 6 Buckthorn R 4 3 X

2629 8 Buckthorn R 3 3 X 8 8

2630 16 Black Locust 2 2 16

2631 6 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2632 6 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2633 18 White Oak H 2 3 18

2634 8 Buckthorn R 3 3 X 8 8

2635 9 Black Locust 5 4 X 9 9 Fruiting bodies at +/- 20'

2636 9 Buckthorn R 3 3 X 9 9

2637 10 Buckthorn R 3 3 X 10 10

2638 8 Buckthorn R 3 3 X 8 8

2639 12 Black Locust R 6 6 X 12 12 Dead, leaning against nearby tree, high risk tree

2640 12 Black Locust R 6 6 X 12 12 Dead/Dying

2641 15 Black Locust 4 3 X 15 15 Fruiting Bodies on trunk at 30

2642 11 Black Locust 4 4 X 11 11 Trunk Rot

2643 6 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2644 6 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2645 7 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2646 20 Black Locust 2 2 20

2647 7 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2648 8 Buckthorn R 4 4 X 8 8

2649 11 Buckthorn R 4 4 X 11 11 Multi stem trunk: 6,5

2650 12 Buckthorn R 4 4 X 12 12 Multi stem trunk: 8,4

2651 17 Black Locust 4 3 17

2652 30 White Oak H 2 3 30

2653 9 Buckthorn R 3 3 X 9 9

2654 13 Dead R 6 6 X 13 13 High risk tree, leaning tree over entrance

2655 13 Dead R 6 6 X 13 13

2656 6 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2657 7 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2658 6 Dead R 6 6 X

2659 21 Norway Maple 3 3 21

2660 13 Black Locust 4 3 13

2661 7 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2662 22 Swamp White Oak H 2 2 22

2663 8 Buckthorn R 3 3 X 8 8

2665 6 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2666 7 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2667 8 Buckthorn R 4 4 X 8 8

2668 9 Buckthorn R 3 3 X 9 9

2669 6 Buckthorn R 4 4 X

2670 23 Swamp White Oak H 2 2 23

2671 11 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X 11 11

2672 15 Buckthorn R 6 6 X 15 15 Multi stem trunk: 8,7 Fallen

2673 7 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2674 23 White Oak H 3 3 23

G/IG/18557/Tree Inventory.xls 4of7



TREE INVENTORY

07-29-19

IG #18557

Tag No. Size (") Common Name

Village 

Code 

classifi

cation Cond Form

Action 

Code

Heritage 

Size 

Inches

Heritage 

Inches 

Removed

Heritage 

Poor 

Condition 

Size 

Inches

Heritage 

Poor 

Condition 

Inches 

Removed

Non-

Heritage 

Size 

Inches

Non-

Heritage 

Inches 

Removed

Removable 

(Invasive) 

Size Inches

Removable 

(Invasive) 

Inches 

Removed Notes

2675 6 Buckthorn R 4 3 X

2676 22 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X 22 22

2677 21 Buckthorn R 3 3 X 21 21 Multi stem trunk: 10,6,5

2678 15 White Oak H 2 2 15

2679 7 Buckthorn R 4 3 X

2680 22 White Oak H 2 2 22

2681 9 Buckthorn R 3 3 X 9 9

2682 23 White Oak H 3 2 23

2683 7 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2684 13 Linden R 2 1 13

2685 22 White Oak H 2 2 22

2686 14 Norway Maple 2 2 14

2687 24 White Oak H 2 2 24

2688 7 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2689 7 Buckthorn R 4 3 X

2690 7 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2691 7 Siberian Elm 2 3

2692 26 White Oak H 2 2 26

2693 28 White Oak H 3 3 28

2694 6 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2695 6 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2696 13 Buckthorn R 3 3 X 13 13 Multi stem trunk: 7,6

2697 6 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2698 7 Buckthorn R 3 4 X

2699 9 Buckthorn R 3 3 X 9 9

2700 11 Shagbark Hickory H 1 1 11

2701 7 Walnut 2 2

2702 18 White Oak H 3 2 * 18 18

2703 22 Swamp White Oak H 3 3 * 22 22

2704 17 White Oak H 3 3 * 17 17

2705 12 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X 12 12

2706 14 Norway Maple 3 4 14 Growing into fence

2707 11 Norway Maple 3 3 11

2708 9 Norway Maple 3 4 9

2709 22 Norway Maple 3 3 * 22 22 Multi stem trunk: 13,9

2710 20 White Oak H 2 2 20

2711 17 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X 17 17

2712 22 Sugar Maple H 4 4 * 22 22 Multi stem trunk: 8,6,6

2713 22 White Oak H 2 2 22

2714 18 White Oak H 2 2 18

2715 22 White Oak H 2 2 22

2716 16 White Oak H 2 2 16

2717 8 Norway Maple 4 4 X 8 8 Encroaching onto nearby tree

2718 24 White Oak H 2 2 24

2719 6 Shagbark Hickory 2 2

2720 10 Black Locust 3 3 10

2721 16 White Oak H 3 3 16

2722 21 White Oak H 2 2 21

2723 17 White Oak H 2 3 17

2724 23 White Oak H 1 1 23

2725 9 Black Locust 3 3 9

2726 20 White Oak H 2 2 20

2727 14 Black Locust 3 3 14

2728 23 Black Locust 3 3 23

2729 26 Swamp White Oak H 2 3 26

2730 7 Northern Red Oak 2 2

2731 20 White Oak H 2 2 20

2732 11 Northern Red Oak H 3 3 11

2733 18 White Oak H 3 3 18

2734 13 Norway Spruce 2 3 13

2735 9 Northern Red Oak H 2 3 9

2736 20 White Oak H 1 1 20

2737 8 Northern Red Oak HR 4 5 X 8 8 Leaning

2738 10 Northern Red Oak H 3 3 10

2739 13 Northern Red Oak H 3 3 13

2740 9 Northern Red Oak H 3 3 9

2741 6 Northern Red Oak 3 3

2742 22 White Oak H 3 3 22

2743 19 White Oak H 2 2 19

2744 16 White Oak H 2 2 16

2745 22 White Oak H 3 2 22

2746 7 Shagbark Hickory 2 2

2747 16 Buckthorn R 3 3 X 16 16 Multi stem trunk: 8,8

2748 13 Black Spruce 3 3 13

2749 10 Norway Spruce 2 4 10

2750 17 White Oak H 2 2 17

2751 17 White Oak H 2 2 17

2752 19 White Oak H 2 2 19

2753 9 Northern Red Oak H 3 3 9

2754 20 Northern Red Oak H 3 3 20

2755 30 Northern Red Oak H 3 2 30

2818 8 Norway Maple 3 3 8

2819 12 Black Locust 4 4 12

2820 10 Black Locust 4 4 10

2821 6 Dead R 6 6 X

2822 16 Black Locust 5 4 X 16 16 Trunk Damage

2823 14 Black Locust 5 4 X 14 14 Trunk Damage

2824 18 Black Locust 5 4 X 18 18 Trunk Damage

2825 7 Buckthorn R 3 4 X

2826 8 Black Locust 3 3 8

2827 6 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2828 9 Black Locust 3 3 9

2829 10 Black Locust 3 2 10

2830 8 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X 8 8

2831 9 Dead R 6 6 X 9 9

2832 15 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X 15 15

2833 8 Norway Maple 3 3 8

2834 11 Dead R 6 6 X 11 11

2835 6 Norway Maple 3 4

2836 8 Dead R 6 6 X 8 8

2837 15 Eastern White Pine H 3 3 15

2840 9 Eastern White Pine H 3 3 9

2841 21 Dead R 6 6 X 21 21

2843 10 Norway Maple 3 2

G/IG/18557/Tree Inventory.xls 5of7



TREE INVENTORY

07-29-19

IG #18557

Tag No. Size (") Common Name

Village 

Code 

classifi

cation Cond Form

Action 

Code

Heritage 

Size 

Inches

Heritage 

Inches 

Removed

Heritage 

Poor 

Condition 

Size 

Inches

Heritage 

Poor 

Condition 

Inches 

Removed

Non-

Heritage 

Size 

Inches

Non-

Heritage 

Inches 

Removed

Removable 

(Invasive) 

Size Inches

Removable 

(Invasive) 

Inches 

Removed Notes

2844 13 Norway Maple 3 3

2845 12 Norway Maple 3 3

2846 12 Black Locust 3 3 12

2849 10 Eastern White Pine H 3 3 10

2850 10 Dead R 6 6 X 10 10

2851 10 Eastern White Pine H 2 3 10

2853 20 Eastern White Pine H 3 3 20

2854 15 Norway Maple 3 3

2855 10 Norway Maple 3 3

2858 13 Dead R 6 6 X 13 13

2860 18 Eastern White Pine H 2 2 18

2863 36 White Oak H 2 2 36

2864 25 White Oak H 2 2 25

2865 24 White Oak H 3 2 24

2866 18 Dead R 6 6 X 18 18 High risk tree, leaning over adjacent property

2868 29 White Oak H 2 2 29

2869 8 Buckthorn R 3 4 X 8 8

2870 30 White Oak H 3 2 30

2871 15 Shagbark Hickory H 2 2 15

2872 27 White Oak H 3 3 27

2874 17 Shagbark Hickory HR 4 5 17 Trunk Damage

2875 9 Northern Red Oak H 2 3 9

2876 17 Shagbark Hickory H 2 3 17

2877 27 Swamp White Oak H 2 2 27

2878 28 White Oak H 3 2 28

2879 7 Buckthorn R 3 4 X

2880 8 Dead R 6 6 X 8 8

2881 6 Dead R 6 6 X

2882 7 Shagbark Hickory 2 2

2883 8 Shagbark Hickory H 2 3 8

2884 10 Norway Maple 3 4 10

2885 28 White Poplar R 3 3 28

2886 13 Dead R 6 6 X 13 13

2887 8 Boxelder R 4 5 8 Poor form

2888 39 Swamp White Oak H 2 2 39

2889 7 American Elm 4 4

2890 39 Swamp White Oak H 3 3 39

2891 6 American Elm 3 3

2892 7 American Elm 3 4

2893 9 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X 9 9

2894 15 Shagbark Hickory H 2 2 15

2895 16 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X 16 16

2896 7 Boxelder 3 3

2896 7 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X

2897 6 Eastern White Pine 3 4

2898 13 Buckthorn R 3 4 X 13 13 Multi stem trunk: 7,6

2899 34 White Oak H 3 2 34

2900 14 Eastern White Pine H 3 3 14

2901 11 Black Locust 4 3 11

2902 7 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X

2903 8 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X 8 8

2904 12 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X 12 12

2905 7 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X

2906 18 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X 18 18

2907 18 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X 18 18

2908 16 Shagbark Hickory H 2 2 * 16 16

2909 6 Buckthorn R 3 4 X

2910 7 Dead R 6 6 X

2911 12 Dead R 6 6 X 12 12

2912 7 Buckthorn R 3 4 X

2913 14 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X 14 14

2914 12 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X 12 12

2915 11 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X 11 11

2916 6 Eastern White Pine 3 3

2917 10 Buckthorn R 3 4 X 10 10

2918 18 Shagbark Hickory H 2 2 18

2919 12 Boxelder R 3 4 12

2920 41 White Oak H 2 2 41

2921 7 Black Locust 3 2

2922 17 Boxelder R 5 4 17 Multi stem trunk: 11,6

2923 7 Buckthorn R 3 4 X

2924 6 Dead R 6 6 X

2925 14 Black Locust 2 2 * 14 14

2926 11 Shagbark Hickory H 2 2 11

2927 8 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X 8 8 High risk tree, leaning over adjacent property

2928 9 Buckthorn R 3 4 X 9 9

2929 7 Boxelder 4 4

2930 8 Buckthorn R 3 3 X 8 8

2931 7 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2932 14 Boxelder R 3 3 14

2933 8 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X 8 8

2934 6 Buckthorn R 3 4 X

2935 12 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X 12 12

2936 13 Buckthorn R 3 4 X 13 13 Multi stem trunk: 7,6

2937 10 Buckthorn R 3 4 X 10 10

2938 8 Black Locust 3 3 * 8 8

2939 14 Black Locust 3 3 * 14 14

2940 9 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X 9 9

2941 8 Dead R 6 6 X 8 8

2942 10 Dead R 6 6 X 10 10

2943 7 Dead R 6 6 X

2944 14 Dead R 6 6 X 14 14

2945 14 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X 14 14

2946 14 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X 14 14

2947 13 Dead R 6 6 X 13 13

2948 8 Dead R 6 6 X 8 8

2949 9 Dead R 6 6 X 9 9

2950 8 American Elm H 3 3 * 8 8

2951 6 Dead/Dying R 6 6 X

2952 6 Boxelder 3 3

2953 7 Sugar Maple 3 3

2954 7 Boxelder 3 4

2955 33 White Oak H 3 2 33

2956 7 Boxelder 3 3

G/IG/18557/Tree Inventory.xls 6of7



TREE INVENTORY

07-29-19

IG #18557

Tag No. Size (") Common Name

Village 

Code 

classifi

cation Cond Form

Action 

Code

Heritage 

Size 

Inches

Heritage 

Inches 

Removed

Heritage 

Poor 

Condition 

Size 

Inches

Heritage 

Poor 

Condition 

Inches 

Removed

Non-

Heritage 

Size 

Inches

Non-

Heritage 

Inches 

Removed

Removable 

(Invasive) 

Size Inches

Removable 

(Invasive) 

Inches 

Removed Notes

2957 6 Boxelder 3 3

2958 15 Northern Red Oak H 2 3 15

2959 6 Boxelder 3 4

2960 9 Dead R 6 6 X 9 9

2961 9 Dead R 6 6 X 9 9

2962 6 Shagbark Hickory 3 3

2963 12 American Elm H 3 3 12

2964 8 American Elm H 3 4 8

2965 16 Boxelder R 3 4 16

2966 8 White Spruce 4 4 8

2967 17 Norway Spruce 1 2 17

2968 18 Norway Spruce 1 1 18

2969 11 Norway Spruce 1 1 11

2970 27 Norway Spruce 1 1 27

2971 17 Norway Spruce 1 1 17

2972 18 Norway Spruce 1 1 18

2973 13 Norway Spruce 1 1 13

2974 16 Norway Spruce 1 1 16

2975 6 Buckthorn R 3 3 X

2976 7 Buckthorn R 4 4 X

2977 6 Buckthorn R 3 4 X

2978 16 Norway Maple 3 3 16

2979 17 Norway Maple 2 2 17

2980 12 Siberian Elm 4 4 12

2981 6 Norway Maple 3 3

2982 42 Cottonwood R 5 2 X 42 42 Trunk Rot

2983 6 Boxelder 3 3

2984 12 Shagbark Hickory H 3 3 12

2985 28 Swamp White Oak H 3 3 28

2987 44 Swamp White Oak H 3 2 44

2988 6 Dead R 6 6 X

2989 8 Dead R 6 6 X 8 8

2990 11 Norway Maple 3 3 11

2991 25 White Oak H 2 2 25

2992 19 Shagbark Hickory H 2 2 19

2993 37 White Oak H 2 2 37

2994 13 Norway Maple 3 3 13

2995 22 Dead R 6 6 X 22 22

2996 11 Norway Maple 3 3 11

2997 10 Norway Maple 4 4 10

2998 25 Norway Maple 3 3 25 Multi stem trunk: 16,9

2999 26 Black Locust 5 4 X 26 26 Trunk Rot

3000 35 Swamp White Oak H 2 2 35

3001 8 Dead R 6 6 X 8 8

7867 TOTAL CALIPER INCHES 5782 711 305 288 1331 328 1471 1314

525 Total number of trees 290 35 13 12 95 20 122 113

Code Description Action

1 Specimen Code Removal Description

2 Good X Inch diameter to be removed based on condition &/or species

3 Average R Inch diameter to be removed based on road alignment option

4 Fair * Inch diameter to be removed based on subdivision improvements

5 Poor Tree to remain

6 Dead

Classification Inventory prepared by Derrick Jenner, Certified Arborist

The condition of the trees shall be based Code Village Classification Description

on a six (6) point scale with one (1) H Heritage Tree

being the best and six (6) being the worst HR Heritage Tree to be removed due to Poor or Hazardous Condition

R Removable Tree

Non-Heritage Tree

G/IG/18557/Tree Inventory.xls 7of7





1     08.16.19   
 

PRELIMINARY PLAT OF
SUBDIVISION SUBMITTAL



1     08.16.19   
 

PRELIMINARY PLAT OF
SUBDIVISION SUBMITTAL



1     08.16.19   
 

PRELIMINARY PLAT OF
SUBDIVISION SUBMITTAL



1     08.16.19   
 

PRELIMINARY PLAT OF
SUBDIVISION SUBMITTAL



1     08.16.19   
 

PRELIMINARY PLAT OF
SUBDIVISION SUBMITTAL



1     08.16.19   
 

PRELIMINARY PLAT OF
SUBDIVISION SUBMITTAL



1     08.16.19   
 

PRELIMINARY PLAT OF
SUBDIVISION SUBMITTAL



1     08.16.19   
 

PRELIMINARY PLAT OF
SUBDIVISION SUBMITTAL



1     08.16.19   
 

PRELIMINARY PLAT OF
SUBDIVISION SUBMITTAL



1     08.16.19   
 

PRELIMINARY PLAT OF
SUBDIVISION SUBMITTAL



1     08.16.19   
 

PRELIMINARY PLAT OF
SUBDIVISION SUBMITTAL



 
 

 

 
Traffic Impact Study 

Proposed Residential Development 
 

Glencoe, Illinois 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared For: 
 

Glencoe Developers, LLC 
 
 
 
 

 

 June 20, 2019 
Revised August 16, 2019 



Residential Development 

Glencoe, Illinois 1 

1. Introduction 
 

 

This report summarizes the methodologies, results, and findings of a traffic impact study 

conducted by Kenig, Lindgren, O’Hara, Aboona, Inc. (KLOA, Inc.) for a proposed residential 

development to be located in Glencoe, Illinois. The site, which currently contains two single-

family homes, is located on the east side of Green Bay Road opposite its intersection with Westley 

Road. As proposed, the site will be developed with 29 single-family homes. Access to the 

development will be provided via a proposed access road on Green Bay Road aligned opposite 

Westley Road. 

 

The purpose of this study was to examine background traffic conditions, assess the impact that the 

proposed development will have on traffic conditions in the area, and determine if any roadway or 

access improvements are necessary to accommodate traffic generated by the proposed 

development. Figure 1 shows the location of the site in relation to the area roadway system. Figure 

2 shows an aerial view of the site. 

 

The sections of this report present the following: 

 

• Existing roadway conditions 

• A description of the proposed development 

• Directional distribution of the development traffic 

• Vehicle trip generation for the development 

• Future traffic conditions including access to the development 

• Traffic analyses for the weekday morning and weekday evening peak hours 

• Recommendations with respect to adequacy of the site access and adjacent roadway system 

 

Traffic capacity analyses were conducted for the weekday morning and evening peak hours for the 

following conditions:  

 

1. Existing Conditions - Analyzes the capacity of the existing roadway system using existing 

peak hour traffic volumes in the surrounding area. 

 

2. Projected Conditions – Analyzes the capacity of the future roadway system using the 

projected traffic volumes that include the existing traffic volumes, ambient area growth not 

attributable to any particular development, and the traffic estimated to be generated by the 

full buildout of the proposed development.



Residential Development 

Glencoe, Illinois 2 

Site Location Figure 1

SITE 



Residential Development 

Glencoe, Illinois 3 

Aerial View of Site Figure 2 



 

Residential Development 

Glencoe, Illinois 4 

2. Existing Conditions 
 

 

Existing transportation conditions in the vicinity of the site were documented based on field visits 

conducted by KLOA, Inc. in order to obtain a database for projecting future conditions. The 

following provides a description of the geographical location of the site, physical characteristics 

of the area roadway system including lane usage and traffic control devices, and existing peak hour 

traffic volumes. 

 

Site Location 
 

The site, which currently contains two single-family homes, is located on the east side of Green 

Bay Road opposite its intersection with Westley Road. Land uses in the area are primarily 

residential with single-family homes located north, east, and south of the site. The Glencoe Golf 

Club is located on the west side of Green Bay Road. 

 

Existing Roadway System Characteristics 
 

The characteristics of the existing roadways near the development are described below and 

illustrated in Figure 3. 

 

Green Bay Road is generally a northwest-southeast, minor arterial roadway that has a three-lane 

cross-section which widens to a four-lane cross-section just north of Northwood Drive. At its 

unsignalized intersection with Westley Road, Green Bay Road has an exclusive left-turn lane and 

a through lane on the northbound approach and a combined through/right-turn lane on the 

southbound approach. At its unsignalized intersection with Kelling Lane, Green Bay Road has one 

lane in each direction. Immediately north of its intersection with Westley Road, Green Bay 

provides a short lay-by lane that serves Pace Bus Route 213. This lay-by lane allows buses to leave 

the flow of traffic when making stops at this location. Green Bay Road is under the jurisdiction of 

the Village of Glencoe, is not designated as a Strategic Regional Arterial (SRA) route, and has a 

posted speed limit of 30 mph south of Westley Road and 35 mph north of Westley Road. According 

to the Illinois Department of Transportation (IDOT), Green Bay Road had a 2014 Annual Average 

Daily Traffic (AADT) volume of 8,800 vehicles. 

 

Westley Road is an east-west, local roadway that has one lane in each direction. At its unsignalized 

T-intersection with Green Bay Road, Westley Road has an exclusive left-turn lane and an exclusive 

right-turn lane under stop sign control. Westley Road is under the jurisdiction of the Village of 

Glencoe and has a posted speed limit of 25 mph. 

 

Kelling Lane is an east-west local roadway that has one lane in each direction. At its unsignalized 

T-intersection with Green Bay Road, Kelling Lane has a combined left-turn/right-turn lane under 

stop sign control. Kelling Lane is under the jurisdiction of the Village of Glencoe. 

 

  



R
E

S
I
D

E
N

T
I
A

L

R
E

S
I
D

E
N

T
I
A

L

R
E

S
I
D

E
N

T
I
A

L

S
IT

E

G
O

L
F

 C
L

U
B

G
L

E
N

C
O

E

F
ig

u
r
e
: 

 3

E
x
is

ti
n
g
 R

o
a
d
w

a
y
 C

h
a
r
a
c
te

r
is

ti
c
s

*
- 

B
U

S
 S

T
O

P
 W

IT
H

 S
H

E
L

T
E

R

K
e
n

ig
,L

in
d

g
r
e
n

,O
'H

a
r
a
,A

b
o

o
n

a
,I

n
c
.

B

J
o
b
 N

o
: 

1
9
-
0
7
7

N

N
O

T
  
T

O
  
S

C
A

L
E

L
E

G
E

N
D

ROAD
GREEN 

BAY

R
O

A
D

W
E
S
T
L
E
Y

L
A

N
E

K
E

L
L

IN
G

3
0

2
5

3
0

B

- 
T

R
A

V
E

L
 L

A
N

E

- 
S

T
O

P
 S

IG
N

- 
S

P
E

E
D

 L
IM

IT
X

X

- 
B

U
S

 S
T

O
P

B

B

- 
B

U
S

 O
N

L
Y

 L
A

Y
-B

Y
 L

A
N

E

*

G
le

n
c
o
e
, 
I
ll

in
o
is

1
8
0
1
 G

r
e
e
n
 B

a
y
 R

o
a
d

5



 

Residential Development 

Glencoe, Illinois 6 

Existing Traffic Volumes 
 

In order to determine current traffic conditions in the vicinity of the site, KLOA, Inc. conducted 

peak period traffic counts using Miovision Scout Collection Units on Tuesday, April 9, 2019 

during the weekday morning (7:00 A.M. to 9:00 A.M.) and weekday evening (4:00 P.M. to 6:00 

P.M.) peak periods at the intersections of Green Bay Road with Westley Road and Kelling Lane. 

The results of the traffic counts showed that the weekday morning peak hour of traffic occurs from 

8:00 A.M. to 9:00 A.M. and the evening peak hour of traffic occurs from 5:00 P.M. to 6:00 P.M. 

Figure 4 illustrates the existing peak hour traffic volumes. Copies of the traffic count summary 

sheets are included in the Appendix. 

 

Crash Data 
 

KLOA, Inc. obtained crash data1 for the past five years (2013 to 2017) for the intersections of 

Green Bay Road with Westley Road and Green Bay Road with Kelling Lane. A review of the 

crash data revealed there were a total of three crashes at the intersection of Green Bay Road with 

Westley Road and no crashes at the intersection of Green Bay Road with Kelling Lane. Further, 

no fatalities were reported at either location during the reviewed period.  

 

 

  

                                                 
1 IDOT DISCLAIMER: The motor vehicle crash data referenced herein was provided by the Illinois Department of Transportation. 

Any conclusions drawn from analysis of the aforementioned data are the sole responsibility of the data recipient(s). Additionally, 

for coding years 2015 to present, the Bureau of Data Collection uses the exact latitude/longitude supplied by the investigating law 

enforcement agency to locate crashes. Therefore, location data may vary in previous years since data prior to 2015 was physically 

located by bureau personnel.  

 



S
IT

E
S

IT
E

N

N
O

T
  
T

O
  
S

C
A

L
E

F
ig

u
r
e
: 

 4

E
x
is

ti
n
g
 T

ra
ff

ic
 V

o
lu

m
e
s

L
E

G
E

N
D

0
0

(
0

0
)

- 
A

M
 P

E
A

K
 H

O
U

R
 (

8
:0

0
-9

:0
0

 A
M

)

- 
P

M
 P

E
A

K
 H

O
U

R
 (

5
:0

0
-6

:0
0
 P

M
)

K
e
n

ig
,L

in
d

g
r
e
n

,O
'H

a
r
a
,A

b
o

o
n

a
,I

n
c
.

J
o
b
 N

o
: 

1
9
-
0
7
7

22
 (
33
)

63
 (
11
0)

90
 
(1
14
)

40
1 
(5
38
)

2
8
8
 
(3
8
6
)

2
5
 
(1
8
)

ROAD
GREEN 

BAY

R
O

A
D

W
E
S
T
L
E
Y

L
A

N
E

K
E

L
L

IN
G

0
 
(2
)

42
3 
(5
6
9)

1 
(1
)

0
 
(2
) 3 

(2
)

31
2 
(4
0
3)

G
le

n
c
o
e
, 
I
ll

in
o
is

1
8
0
1
 G

r
e
e
n
 B

a
y
 R

o
a
d

7



 

Residential Development 
Glencoe, Illinois 8 

3. Traffic Characteristics of the Proposed Development 
 
 
In order to properly evaluate future traffic conditions in the surrounding area, it was necessary to 
determine the traffic characteristics of the proposed development, including the directional 
distribution and volumes of traffic that it will generate. 
 
Proposed Site and Development Plan 
 
As proposed, the plans call for developing the site with 29 single-family homes. Access to the 
development will be provided via a proposed access road on the east side of Green Bay Road that 
will be aligned opposite Westley Road and will form the fourth (east) leg of the intersection. The 
access road will provide one inbound lane and one outbound lane with outbound movements under 
stop sign control. In addition, the following modifications are proposed at the intersection and 
along Green Bay Road: 
 
 The Westley Road approach is proposed to be restriped to (1) provide a shared through/left-

turn lane and (2) realign the eastbound lanes so that the shared through/left-turn lane better 
aligns with the proposed access road and to align the lanes perpendicular to Green Bay 
Road. 

 
 Green Bay Road is proposed to be restriped north of Westley Road and Northwood Drive 

in order to provide one lane in each direction and separate left-turn lanes serving both 
Northwood Drive and the proposed access road.  

 
 The maximum speed limit along Green Bay Road between Lake-Cook Road and Westley 

Road is proposed to be reduced from 40 mph to 35 mph. As proposed, the four-lane section 
of Green Bay Road will have a posted speed limit of 35 mph and the three-lane section of 
Green Bay Road will have a posted speed limit of 30 mph.  

 
 A radar speed feedback sign and an intersection warning sign are proposed to be located 

along southbound Green Bay Road north of the intersection. 
 

Copies of the site plan and intersection striping modifications are located in the Appendix. 
 
Directional Distribution 
 
The directions from which residents will approach and depart the site were estimated based on 
existing travel patterns, as determined from the traffic counts. Figure 5 illustrates the directional 
distribution of the development-generated traffic. 
 
 
  



S
IT

E
S

IT
E

F
ig

u
r
e
: 

 5

0
0
'

- 
D

IS
T

A
N

C
E

 I
N

 F
E

E
T

K
e
n

ig
,L

in
d

g
r
e
n

,O
'H

a
r
a
,A

b
o

o
n

a
,I

n
c
.

J
o
b
 N

o
: 

1
9
-
0
7
7

N

N
O

T
  
T

O
  
S

C
A

L
E

L
E

G
E

N
DROAD

GREEN 
BAY

R
O

A
D

W
E
S
T
L
E
Y

L
A

N
E

K
E

L
L

IN
G

E
s
ti

m
a
te

d
 D

ir
e
c
ti

o
n

a
l 

D
is

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n

35
%

3
0
%

3
5
%

0
0

%
- 

P
E

R
C

E
N

T
 D

IS
T

R
IB

U
T

IO
N

G
le

n
c
o
e
, 
I
ll

in
o
is

1
8
0
1
 G

r
e
e
n
 B

a
y
 R

o
a
d

9



 

Residential Development 

Glencoe, Illinois 10 

Site-Generated Traffic Volumes 
 

The number of peak hour vehicle trips estimated to be generated by the proposed development of 29 

single-family homes was based on vehicle trip generation rates contained in Trip Generation Manual, 

10th Edition, published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE). Table 1 shows the traffic 

volumes estimated to be generated by the proposed development. Copies of the trip generation sheets 

are included in the Appendix. 

 

Table 1 

PROJECTED SITE-GENERATED TRAFFIC VOLUMES 

ITE 

Land-Use 

Code 

 
Weekday Morning 

Peak Hour 
 

Weekday Evening 

Peak Hour 

 Daily 

Two-

Way 

Trips Type/Size In Out Total  In Out Total  

210 

Single-Family 

Detached Housing 

(29 Homes) 

6 19 25  20 11 31 

 

333 

 

  



 

Residential Development 

Glencoe, Illinois 11 

4. Projected Traffic Conditions 
 

 

The total projected traffic volumes include the existing traffic volumes, increase in background 

traffic due to growth, and the traffic estimated to be generated by the proposed subject 

development. 

 

Development Traffic Assignment 
 

The estimated weekday morning and evening peak hour traffic volumes that will be generated by 

the proposed development were assigned to the roadway system in accordance with the previously 

described directional distribution (Figure 5). The traffic assignment for the development is 

illustrated in Figure 6.  

 

Background Traffic Conditions 
 

The existing traffic volumes (Figure 4) were increased by a regional growth factor to account for 

the increase in existing traffic related to regional growth in the area (i.e., not attributable to any 

particular planned development). Based on ADT projections provided by the Chicago 

Metropolitan Agency for Planning (CMAP) in a letter dated April 8, 2019, the existing traffic 

volumes are projected to increase by a compound annual growth rate of 0.8 percent per year. As 

such, traffic volumes were increased by approximately 5.0 percent total to represent Year 2025 

conditions (one-year buildout plus five years). A copy of the CMAP projections letter is included 

in the Appendix.  

 

Total Projected Traffic Volumes 
 

The development-generated traffic was added to the existing traffic volumes accounting for 

background growth to determine the Year 2025 total projected traffic volumes as shown in Figure 

7. 

  



S
IT

E
S

IT
E

F
ig

u
r
e
: 

 6

K
e
n

ig
,L

in
d

g
r
e
n

,O
'H

a
r
a
,A

b
o

o
n

a
,I

n
c
.

J
o
b
 N

o
: 

1
9
-
0
7
7

N

N
O

T
  
T

O
  
S

C
A

L
E

L
E

G
E

N
D

0
0

(
0

0
)

- 
A

M
 P

E
A

K
 H

O
U

R
 (

8
:0

0
-9

:0
0

 A
M

)

- 
P

M
 P

E
A

K
 H

O
U

R
 (

5
:0

0
-6

:0
0
 P

M
)

ROAD
GREEN 

BAY

R
O

A
D

W
E
S
T
L
E
Y

L
A

N
E

K
E

L
L

IN
G

E
s
ti

m
a
te

d
 S

it
e
-
G

e
n

e
r
a
te

d
 T

r
a
f
f
ic

 V
o

lu
m

e
s

2 
(7
)

2 
(7
)

2 
(6
)

7 
(4
)

5 
(3
)

7 
(4
)

7 
(4
)

2 
(7
)

G
le

n
c
o
e
, 
I
ll

in
o
is

1
8
0
1
 G

r
e
e
n
 B

a
y
 R

o
a
d

12



S
IT

E
S

IT
E

F
ig

u
r
e
: 

 7

K
e
n

ig
,L

in
d

g
r
e
n

,O
'H

a
r
a
,A

b
o

o
n

a
,I

n
c
.

J
o
b
 N

o
: 

1
9
-
0
7
7

N

N
O

T
  
T

O
  
S

C
A

L
E

L
E

G
E

N
D

0
0

(
0

0
)

- 
A

M
 P

E
A

K
 H

O
U

R
 (

8
:0

0
-9

:0
0

 A
M

)

- 
P

M
 P

E
A

K
 H

O
U

R
 (

5
:0

0
-6

:0
0
 P

M
)

ROAD
GREEN 

BAY

R
O

A
D

W
E
S
T
L
E
Y

L
A

N
E

K
E

L
L

IN
G

0
 
(2
)

45
1 
(6
0
2)

1 
(1
)

0
 
(2
) 3 

(2
)

66
 (
11
6) 23

 (
35
)

95
 
(1
20
)

26
 
(1
9)

7 
(4
) 5 

(3
) 7 

(4
)

2 
(7
)

42
1 
(5
6
5)

2 
(7
)

30
2 
(4
0
5)

32
9 
(4
30
)

Y
e
a
r 

2
0

2
5

 T
o

ta
l 

P
ro

je
c
te

d
 T

ra
ff

ic
 V

o
lu

m
e
s

2 
(6
)

G
le

n
c
o
e
, 
I
ll

in
o
is

1
8
0
1
 G

r
e
e
n
 B

a
y
 R

o
a
d

13



 

Residential Development 

Glencoe, Illinois 14 

5. Traffic Analysis and Recommendations 
 

 

The following provides an evaluation conducted for the weekday morning and weekday evening 

peak hours. The analysis includes conducting capacity analyses to determine how well the roadway 

system and access drives are projected to operate and whether any roadway improvements or 

modifications are required. 

 

Traffic Analyses 
 

Roadway and adjacent or nearby intersection analyses were performed for the weekday morning 

and evening peak hours for the existing year (Year 2019) as well as future projected (Year 2025) 

traffic volumes. 

 

The traffic analyses were performed using the methodologies outlined in the Transportation 

Research Board’s Highway Capacity Manual (HCM), 6th Edition and analyzed using 

Synchro/SimTraffic 10 software. 

 

The analyses for the unsignalized intersections determine the average control delay to vehicles at 

an intersection. Control delay is the elapsed time from a vehicle joining the queue at a stop sign 

(includes the time required to decelerate to a stop) until its departure from the stop sign and 

resumption of free flow speed. The methodology analyzes each intersection approach controlled 

by a stop sign and considers traffic volumes on all approaches and lane characteristics. 

 

The ability of an intersection to accommodate traffic flow is expressed in terms of level of service, 

which is assigned a letter from A to F based on the average control delay experienced by vehicles 

passing through the intersection. The Highway Capacity Manual definitions for levels of service 

and the corresponding control delay for signalized intersections and unsignalized intersections are 

included in the Appendix of this report. 

 

Summaries of the traffic analysis results showing the level of service and overall intersection delay 

(measured in seconds) for the existing and Year 2025 total projected conditions are presented in 

Tables 2 and 3. A discussion of the intersections follows. Summary sheets for the capacity 

analyses are included in the Appendix.



 

Residential Development 

Glencoe, Illinois 15 

Table 2 

CAPACITY ANALYSIS RESULTS - EXISTING CONDITIONS – UNSIGNALIZED 

 Weekday Morning 

Peak Hour 

 Weekday Evening 

Peak Hour 

Intersection LOS Delay  LOS Delay 

Green Bay Road with Westley Road 

• Eastbound Left Turn C 19.9  D 34.6 

• Eastbound Right Turn B 11.5  B 13.0 

• Northbound Left Turn A 8.7  A 9.0 

Green Bay Road with Kelling Lane 

• Westbound Approach B 10.1  C 16.8 

• Southbound Left Turn -- --  A 8.2 

LOS = Level of Service  

Delay is measured in seconds. 

 

 

Table 3 

CAPACITY ANALYSIS RESULTS - TOTAL PROJECTED CONDITIONS– UNSIGNALIZED 

 Weekday Morning 

Peak Hour 

 Weekday Evening 

Peak Hour 

Intersection LOS Delay  LOS Delay 

Green Bay Road with Westley Road and Proposed Access Road 

• Eastbound Left Turn/Through D 27.2  F 77.8 

• Eastbound Right Turn B 11.8  B 13.4 

• Westbound Approach C 17.2  C 22.4 

• Northbound Left Turn A 8.8  A 9.2 

• Southbound Left Turn A 7.9  A 8.2 

Green Bay Road with Kelling Lane 

• Westbound Approach B 10.2  C 17.8 

• Southbound Left Turn -- --  A 8.3 

LOS = Level of Service  

Delay is measured in seconds. 

 

  



 

Residential Development 
Glencoe, Illinois 16 

Discussion and Recommendations 
 
The following summarizes how the intersections are projected to operate and identifies any 
roadway and traffic control improvements necessary to accommodate the development-generated 
traffic. 
 
Green Bay Road with Westley Road 
 
The results of the capacity analyses indicate that the Westley Road left-turn movement currently 
operates at Level of Service (LOS) C during the weekday morning peak hour and at LOS D during 
the weekday evening peak hour and the Westley Road right-turn movement currently operates at 
LOS B during both peak hours. In addition, the northbound left-turn movement operates at LOS 
A. 
 
Access to the development will be provided via a proposed access road on the east side of Green 
Bay Road that will be aligned opposite Westley Road and form the fourth (east) leg of the 
intersection. The access road will provide one inbound lane and one outbound lane with outbound 
movements under stop sign control. In addition, the following modifications are proposed at the 
intersection and along Green Bay Road: 
 
 The Westley Road approach is proposed to be restriped to (1) provide a shared through/left-

turn lane and (2) realign the eastbound lanes so that the shared through/left-turn lane better 
aligns with the proposed access road and to align the lanes perpendicular to Green Bay 
Road. 

 
 Green Bay Road is proposed to be restriped north of Westley Road and Northwood Drive 

in order to provide one lane in each direction and separate left-turn lanes serving both 
Northwood Drive and the proposed access road.  

 
 The maximum speed limit along Green Bay Road between Lake-Cook Road and Westley 

Road is proposed to be reduced from 40 mph to 35 mph. As proposed, the four-lane section 
of Green Bay Road will have a posted speed limit of 35 mph and the three-lane section of 
Green Bay Road will have a posted speed limit of 30 mph.  

 
 A radar speed feedback sign and an intersection warning sign are proposed to be located 

along southbound Green Bay Road north of the intersection. 
 
  



 

Residential Development 
Glencoe, Illinois 17 

Under Year 2025 total projected conditions, the Westley Road shared through/left-turn movement 
is projected to operate at LOS D during the weekday morning peak hour and LOS F during the 
evening peak hour. However, this is typical and expected at unsignalized intersections where a 
minor road intersects an arterial such as Green Bay Road. This traffic will be able to exit Westley 
Road, but may experience some additional delay. Further, the Westley Road right-turn movement 
is projected to continue to operate at LOS B and the northbound left-turn movement is projected 
to continue to operate at LOS A. Outbound movements from the access road are projected to 
operate at LOS C during the weekday morning and weekday evening peak hours. Further, 
southbound left-turn movements into the development are projected to operate at LOS A. As such, 
this intersection has sufficient reserve capacity to accommodate the development-generated traffic 
and the proposed access road will adequately accommodate site-generated traffic. 
 
Green Bay Road with Kelling Lane 
 
The results of the capacity analyses indicate that the westbound approach currently operates at 
LOS B during the weekday morning peak hour and at LOS C during the weekday evening peak 
hour. Under future conditions, the westbound approach is projected to continue to operate at the 
same LOS during both peak hours with increases in delay of one second or less. Further, the 
southbound left-turn movement currently operates at LOS A and is projected to continue to do so 
under future conditions. It should be noted that site-generated traffic will increase traffic through 
this intersection by less than two percent. As such, this intersection has sufficient reserve capacity 
to accommodate the development-generated traffic and no roadway improvements are required at 
this intersection. 
 
Sight Distance Analysis 
 
Green Bay Road has a curve in the road just north of the proposed access road to the development. 
KLOA, Inc. conducted horizontal sight distance analyses along Green Bay Road north of the 
access road to ensure that adequate sight distance is available for vehicles turning out of the access 
road. Copies of the sight distance analyses are located in the Appendix. The sight distance analyses 
were conducted based on the location and design of the access road and per the guidelines provided 
in the IDOT Bureau of Design & Environment Manual (BDE Manual) and in A Policy on 
Geometric Design of Highways and Streets (Green Book) published by the American Association 
of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). The Green Book indicates that, at a 
minimum, the location of a side road or access road must meet the minimum stopping sight 
distance requirements. As proposed, the maximum speed limit along Green Bay Road will be 
reduced from 40 mph to 35 mph. The four-lane section of Green Bay Road will have a posted 
speed limit of 35 mph and the three-lane section of Green Bay Road, including the proposed 
section that will be restriped, will have a posted speed limit of 30 mph. According to the BDE 
Manual and the Green Book, the minimum stopping sight distance for a road with a 30 mph speed 
limit (35 mph design speed) is 250 feet for grades less than three percent.  
 
  



 

Residential Development 
Glencoe, Illinois 18 

Per the requirements of the BDE Manual and the Green Book, the driver’s eye is to be located 14.4 
feet from the edge of the travel way, which represents the typical position of the driver’s eye. The 
preliminary sight distance analysis shows that the access road has a minimum of 285 feet of 
horizontal sight distance looking north along Green Bay Road, which exceeds the minimum sight 
distance for a 30 mph posted speed limit (250 feet).  
 
A second horizontal sight distance analysis was conducted assuming the driver pulls up 
approximately four feet, which puts the driver’s eye approximately 10 feet from the edge of 
pavement. Given the various obstructions at intersections, it is common for drivers to pull up closer 
to the travel way to obtain a better view of the major road. Under this scenario, the access road has 
a minimum of 347 feet of horizontal sight distance looking north along Green Bay Road, which 
exceeds the minimum stopping sight distance.  
 
In addition, the following measures are proposed to be installed to further enhance the operation 
of Green Bay Road and its intersection with Westley Road and the access drive: 
 
 A radar feedback sign is proposed to be installed on southbound Green Bay Road north of 

the intersection. 
 

 An intersection warning sign is proposed to be installed on southbound Green Bay Road 
north of the intersection. 
  



 

Residential Development 
Glencoe, Illinois 19 

6. Conclusion 
 
 
Based on the preceding analyses and recommendations, the following conclusions have been 
made: 
 
 Access to the site will be provided via a proposed access road on the east side of Green 

Bay Road that will be aligned opposite Westley Road and will form the fourth (east) leg of 
the intersection. The access road will provide one inbound lane and one outbound lane with 
outbound movements under stop sign control. In addition, the following modifications are 
proposed at the intersection and along Green Bay Road: 

 
o The Westley Road approach is proposed to be restriped to (1) provide a shared 

through/left-turn lane and (2) realign the eastbound lanes so that the shared 
through/left-turn lane better aligns with the proposed access road and to align the 
lanes perpendicular to Green Bay Road. 
 

o Green Bay Road is proposed to be restriped north of Westley Road and 
Northwood Drive in order to provide one lane in each direction and separate left-
turn lanes serving both Northwood Drive and the proposed access road.  
 

o The maximum speed limit along Green Bay Road between Lake-Cook Road and 
Westley Road is proposed to be reduced from 40 mph to 35 mph. As proposed, 
the four-lane section of Green Bay Road will have a posted speed limit of 35 mph 
and the three-lane section of Green Bay Road will have a posted speed limit of 30 
mph.  
 

o A radar speed feedback sign and an intersection warning sign are proposed to be 
located along southbound Green Bay Road north of the intersection. 

 
 The results of the sight distance analyses show that the location of the access road meets 

the minimum stopping sight distance for the proposed 30 mph posted speed limit. 
 

 The roadway system has sufficient reserve capacity to accommodate the limited additional 
traffic to be generated by the development. 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 
 

 
 

Traffic Count Summary Sheets 
Preliminary Site Plan 

ITE Trip Generation Sheets 
CMAP 2050 Projections Letter 

Level of Service Criteria 
Capacity Analysis Summary Sheets 

Sight Distance Analysis 



Traffic Count Summary Sheets 



 

Kenig Lindgren O'Hara Aboona, Inc.
9575 W. Higgins Rd., Suite 400

Rosemont, Illinois, United States  60018
(847)518-9990

Count Name: Green Bay Road and Kelling Lane
Site Code:
Start Date: 04/09/2019
Page No: 1

Turning Movement Data

Start Time

Kelling Lane Green Bay Road Green Bay Road

Westbound Northbound Southbound

U-Turn Left Right Peds App. Total U-Turn Thru Right Peds App. Total U-Turn Left Thru Peds App. Total Int. Total

7:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 34 0 0 34 0 0 63 0 63 97

7:15 AM 0 0 1 0 1 0 45 0 0 45 0 0 62 0 62 108

7:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 68 0 0 68 0 0 80 0 80 148

7:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 52 0 0 52 0 0 123 0 123 175

Hourly Total 0 0 1 0 1 0 199 0 0 199 0 0 328 0 328 528

8:00 AM 0 0 1 0 1 0 69 1 0 70 0 0 100 0 100 171

8:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 85 1 0 86 0 0 100 0 100 186

8:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 89 0 0 89 0 0 99 0 99 188

8:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 72 1 0 73 0 0 126 0 126 199

Hourly Total 0 0 1 0 1 0 315 3 0 318 0 0 425 0 425 744

*** BREAK *** - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

4:00 PM 0 1 0 0 1 0 97 1 0 98 0 0 100 0 100 199

4:15 PM 0 0 1 0 1 0 97 0 0 97 0 0 105 0 105 203

4:30 PM 0 2 0 0 2 0 75 0 0 75 0 2 121 0 123 200

4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 99 1 0 100 0 0 128 0 128 228

Hourly Total 0 3 1 0 4 0 368 2 0 370 0 2 454 0 456 830

5:00 PM 0 1 0 0 1 0 99 2 0 101 0 0 134 0 134 236

5:15 PM 0 1 1 1 2 0 109 0 0 109 0 0 156 0 156 267

5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 98 0 0 98 0 1 142 0 143 241

5:45 PM 0 0 0 1 0 0 102 0 0 102 0 1 137 0 138 240

Hourly Total 0 2 1 2 3 0 408 2 0 410 0 2 569 0 571 984

Grand Total 0 5 4 2 9 0 1290 7 0 1297 0 4 1776 0 1780 3086

Approach % 0.0 55.6 44.4 - - 0.0 99.5 0.5 - - 0.0 0.2 99.8 - - -

Total % 0.0 0.2 0.1 - 0.3 0.0 41.8 0.2 - 42.0 0.0 0.1 57.6 - 57.7 -

Lights 0 5 3 - 8 0 1241 7 - 1248 0 4 1686 - 1690 2946

% Lights - 100.0 75.0 - 88.9 - 96.2 100.0 - 96.2 - 100.0 94.9 - 94.9 95.5

Buses 0 0 0 - 0 0 11 0 - 11 0 0 13 - 13 24

% Buses - 0.0 0.0 - 0.0 - 0.9 0.0 - 0.8 - 0.0 0.7 - 0.7 0.8

Single-Unit Trucks 0 0 0 - 0 0 17 0 - 17 0 0 26 - 26 43

% Single-Unit Trucks - 0.0 0.0 - 0.0 - 1.3 0.0 - 1.3 - 0.0 1.5 - 1.5 1.4

Articulated Trucks 0 0 0 - 0 0 4 0 - 4 0 0 23 - 23 27

% Articulated Trucks - 0.0 0.0 - 0.0 - 0.3 0.0 - 0.3 - 0.0 1.3 - 1.3 0.9

Bicycles on Road 0 0 1 - 1 0 17 0 - 17 0 0 28 - 28 46

% Bicycles on Road - 0.0 25.0 - 11.1 - 1.3 0.0 - 1.3 - 0.0 1.6 - 1.6 1.5

Pedestrians - - - 2 - - - - 0 - - - - 0 - -

% Pedestrians - - - 100.0 - - - - - - - - - - - -



 

Kenig Lindgren O'Hara Aboona, Inc.
9575 W. Higgins Rd., Suite 400

Rosemont, Illinois, United States  60018
(847)518-9990

Count Name: Green Bay Road and Kelling Lane
Site Code:
Start Date: 04/09/2019
Page No: 2

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data (8:00 AM)

Start Time

Kelling Lane Green Bay Road Green Bay Road

Westbound Northbound Southbound

U-Turn Left Right Peds App. Total U-Turn Thru Right Peds App. Total U-Turn Left Thru Peds App. Total Int. Total

8:00 AM 0 0 1 0 1 0 69 1 0 70 0 0 100 0 100 171

8:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 85 1 0 86 0 0 100 0 100 186

8:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 89 0 0 89 0 0 99 0 99 188

8:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 72 1 0 73 0 0 126 0 126 199

Total 0 0 1 0 1 0 315 3 0 318 0 0 425 0 425 744

Approach % 0.0 0.0 100.0 - - 0.0 99.1 0.9 - - 0.0 0.0 100.0 - - -

Total % 0.0 0.0 0.1 - 0.1 0.0 42.3 0.4 - 42.7 0.0 0.0 57.1 - 57.1 -

PHF 0.000 0.000 0.250 - 0.250 0.000 0.885 0.750 - 0.893 0.000 0.000 0.843 - 0.843 0.935

Lights 0 0 1 - 1 0 300 3 - 303 0 0 400 - 400 704

% Lights - - 100.0 - 100.0 - 95.2 100.0 - 95.3 - - 94.1 - 94.1 94.6

Buses 0 0 0 - 0 0 4 0 - 4 0 0 3 - 3 7

% Buses - - 0.0 - 0.0 - 1.3 0.0 - 1.3 - - 0.7 - 0.7 0.9

Single-Unit Trucks 0 0 0 - 0 0 8 0 - 8 0 0 13 - 13 21

% Single-Unit Trucks - - 0.0 - 0.0 - 2.5 0.0 - 2.5 - - 3.1 - 3.1 2.8

Articulated Trucks 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 7 - 7 7

% Articulated Trucks - - 0.0 - 0.0 - 0.0 0.0 - 0.0 - - 1.6 - 1.6 0.9

Bicycles on Road 0 0 0 - 0 0 3 0 - 3 0 0 2 - 2 5

% Bicycles on Road - - 0.0 - 0.0 - 1.0 0.0 - 0.9 - - 0.5 - 0.5 0.7

Pedestrians - - - 0 - - - - 0 - - - - 0 - -

% Pedestrians - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -



 

Kenig Lindgren O'Hara Aboona, Inc.
9575 W. Higgins Rd., Suite 400

Rosemont, Illinois, United States  60018
(847)518-9990

Count Name: Green Bay Road and Kelling Lane
Site Code:
Start Date: 04/09/2019
Page No: 3

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data (5:00 PM)

Start Time

Kelling Lane Green Bay Road Green Bay Road

Westbound Northbound Southbound

U-Turn Left Right Peds App. Total U-Turn Thru Right Peds App. Total U-Turn Left Thru Peds App. Total Int. Total

5:00 PM 0 1 0 0 1 0 99 2 0 101 0 0 134 0 134 236

5:15 PM 0 1 1 1 2 0 109 0 0 109 0 0 156 0 156 267

5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 98 0 0 98 0 1 142 0 143 241

5:45 PM 0 0 0 1 0 0 102 0 0 102 0 1 137 0 138 240

Total 0 2 1 2 3 0 408 2 0 410 0 2 569 0 571 984

Approach % 0.0 66.7 33.3 - - 0.0 99.5 0.5 - - 0.0 0.4 99.6 - - -

Total % 0.0 0.2 0.1 - 0.3 0.0 41.5 0.2 - 41.7 0.0 0.2 57.8 - 58.0 -

PHF 0.000 0.500 0.250 - 0.375 0.000 0.936 0.250 - 0.940 0.000 0.500 0.912 - 0.915 0.921

Lights 0 2 0 - 2 0 397 2 - 399 0 2 557 - 559 960

% Lights - 100.0 0.0 - 66.7 - 97.3 100.0 - 97.3 - 100.0 97.9 - 97.9 97.6

Buses 0 0 0 - 0 0 3 0 - 3 0 0 3 - 3 6

% Buses - 0.0 0.0 - 0.0 - 0.7 0.0 - 0.7 - 0.0 0.5 - 0.5 0.6

Single-Unit Trucks 0 0 0 - 0 0 1 0 - 1 0 0 2 - 2 3

% Single-Unit Trucks - 0.0 0.0 - 0.0 - 0.2 0.0 - 0.2 - 0.0 0.4 - 0.4 0.3

Articulated Trucks 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 1 - 1 1

% Articulated Trucks - 0.0 0.0 - 0.0 - 0.0 0.0 - 0.0 - 0.0 0.2 - 0.2 0.1

Bicycles on Road 0 0 1 - 1 0 7 0 - 7 0 0 6 - 6 14

% Bicycles on Road - 0.0 100.0 - 33.3 - 1.7 0.0 - 1.7 - 0.0 1.1 - 1.1 1.4

Pedestrians - - - 2 - - - - 0 - - - - 0 - -

% Pedestrians - - - 100.0 - - - - - - - - - - - -



 

Kenig Lindgren O'Hara Aboona, Inc.
9575 W. Higgins Rd., Suite 400

Rosemont, Illinois, United States  60018
(847)518-9990

Count Name: Westley Road and Green Bay
Road
Site Code:
Start Date: 04/09/2019
Page No: 1

Turning Movement Data

Start Time

Westley Road Green Bay Road Green Bay Road

Eastbound Northbound Southbound

U-Turn Left Right Peds App. Total U-Turn Left Thru Peds App. Total U-Turn Thru Right Peds App. Total Int. Total

7:00 AM 0 15 4 0 19 0 3 30 0 33 0 59 17 0 76 128

7:15 AM 0 12 3 0 15 0 3 43 0 46 0 58 20 0 78 139

7:30 AM 0 6 2 0 8 0 6 62 0 68 0 78 22 0 100 176

7:45 AM 0 16 4 0 20 0 3 50 0 53 0 120 21 0 141 214

Hourly Total 0 49 13 0 62 0 15 185 0 200 0 315 80 0 395 657

8:00 AM 0 13 7 0 20 0 5 64 0 69 0 90 26 0 116 205

8:15 AM 0 19 10 0 29 0 11 75 0 86 0 90 12 0 102 217

8:30 AM 0 16 2 2 18 0 5 83 2 88 0 97 21 0 118 224

8:45 AM 0 17 3 2 20 0 4 68 0 72 0 122 31 0 153 245

Hourly Total 0 65 22 4 87 0 25 290 2 315 0 399 90 0 489 891

*** BREAK *** - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

4:00 PM 0 35 8 0 43 0 3 93 0 96 0 91 23 0 114 253

4:15 PM 0 29 5 0 34 0 7 91 0 98 0 101 30 0 131 263

4:30 PM 0 29 9 1 38 0 3 72 0 75 0 113 30 0 143 256

4:45 PM 0 31 3 1 34 0 6 89 0 95 0 125 21 0 146 275

Hourly Total 0 124 25 2 149 0 19 345 0 364 0 430 104 0 534 1047

5:00 PM 0 29 8 0 37 0 4 96 0 100 0 127 30 0 157 294

5:15 PM 0 25 14 0 39 0 2 109 0 111 0 144 27 0 171 321

5:30 PM 0 26 9 0 35 0 7 91 0 98 0 130 23 0 153 286

5:45 PM 0 30 4 0 34 0 5 98 0 103 0 134 34 0 168 305

Hourly Total 0 110 35 0 145 0 18 394 0 412 0 535 114 0 649 1206

Grand Total 0 348 95 6 443 0 77 1214 2 1291 0 1679 388 0 2067 3801

Approach % 0.0 78.6 21.4 - - 0.0 6.0 94.0 - - 0.0 81.2 18.8 - - -

Total % 0.0 9.2 2.5 - 11.7 0.0 2.0 31.9 - 34.0 0.0 44.2 10.2 - 54.4 -

Lights 0 335 90 - 425 0 75 1162 - 1237 0 1597 374 - 1971 3633

% Lights - 96.3 94.7 - 95.9 - 97.4 95.7 - 95.8 - 95.1 96.4 - 95.4 95.6

Buses 0 1 1 - 2 0 1 9 - 10 0 12 6 - 18 30

% Buses - 0.3 1.1 - 0.5 - 1.3 0.7 - 0.8 - 0.7 1.5 - 0.9 0.8

Single-Unit Trucks 0 3 1 - 4 0 0 20 - 20 0 22 6 - 28 52

% Single-Unit Trucks - 0.9 1.1 - 0.9 - 0.0 1.6 - 1.5 - 1.3 1.5 - 1.4 1.4

Articulated Trucks 0 5 0 - 5 0 0 6 - 6 0 24 1 - 25 36

% Articulated Trucks - 1.4 0.0 - 1.1 - 0.0 0.5 - 0.5 - 1.4 0.3 - 1.2 0.9

Bicycles on Road 0 4 3 - 7 0 1 17 - 18 0 24 1 - 25 50

% Bicycles on Road - 1.1 3.2 - 1.6 - 1.3 1.4 - 1.4 - 1.4 0.3 - 1.2 1.3

Pedestrians - - - 6 - - - - 2 - - - - 0 - -

% Pedestrians - - - 100.0 - - - - 100.0 - - - - - - -



 

Kenig Lindgren O'Hara Aboona, Inc.
9575 W. Higgins Rd., Suite 400

Rosemont, Illinois, United States  60018
(847)518-9990

Count Name: Westley Road and Green Bay
Road
Site Code:
Start Date: 04/09/2019
Page No: 2

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data (8:00 AM)

Start Time

Westley Road Green Bay Road Green Bay Road

Eastbound Northbound Southbound

U-Turn Left Right Peds App. Total U-Turn Left Thru Peds App. Total U-Turn Thru Right Peds App. Total Int. Total

8:00 AM 0 13 7 0 20 0 5 64 0 69 0 90 26 0 116 205

8:15 AM 0 19 10 0 29 0 11 75 0 86 0 90 12 0 102 217

8:30 AM 0 16 2 2 18 0 5 83 2 88 0 97 21 0 118 224

8:45 AM 0 17 3 2 20 0 4 68 0 72 0 122 31 0 153 245

Total 0 65 22 4 87 0 25 290 2 315 0 399 90 0 489 891

Approach % 0.0 74.7 25.3 - - 0.0 7.9 92.1 - - 0.0 81.6 18.4 - - -

Total % 0.0 7.3 2.5 - 9.8 0.0 2.8 32.5 - 35.4 0.0 44.8 10.1 - 54.9 -

PHF 0.000 0.855 0.550 - 0.750 0.000 0.568 0.873 - 0.895 0.000 0.818 0.726 - 0.799 0.909

Lights 0 60 22 - 82 0 24 275 - 299 0 375 85 - 460 841

% Lights - 92.3 100.0 - 94.3 - 96.0 94.8 - 94.9 - 94.0 94.4 - 94.1 94.4

Buses 0 0 0 - 0 0 1 2 - 3 0 3 4 - 7 10

% Buses - 0.0 0.0 - 0.0 - 4.0 0.7 - 1.0 - 0.8 4.4 - 1.4 1.1

Single-Unit Trucks 0 2 0 - 2 0 0 9 - 9 0 10 1 - 11 22

% Single-Unit Trucks - 3.1 0.0 - 2.3 - 0.0 3.1 - 2.9 - 2.5 1.1 - 2.2 2.5

Articulated Trucks 0 1 0 - 1 0 0 1 - 1 0 9 0 - 9 11

% Articulated Trucks - 1.5 0.0 - 1.1 - 0.0 0.3 - 0.3 - 2.3 0.0 - 1.8 1.2

Bicycles on Road 0 2 0 - 2 0 0 3 - 3 0 2 0 - 2 7

% Bicycles on Road - 3.1 0.0 - 2.3 - 0.0 1.0 - 1.0 - 0.5 0.0 - 0.4 0.8

Pedestrians - - - 4 - - - - 2 - - - - 0 - -

% Pedestrians - - - 100.0 - - - - 100.0 - - - - - - -



 

Kenig Lindgren O'Hara Aboona, Inc.
9575 W. Higgins Rd., Suite 400

Rosemont, Illinois, United States  60018
(847)518-9990

Count Name: Westley Road and Green Bay
Road
Site Code:
Start Date: 04/09/2019
Page No: 3

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data (5:00 PM)

Start Time

Westley Road Green Bay Road Green Bay Road

Eastbound Northbound Southbound

U-Turn Left Right Peds App. Total U-Turn Left Thru Peds App. Total U-Turn Thru Right Peds App. Total Int. Total

5:00 PM 0 29 8 0 37 0 4 96 0 100 0 127 30 0 157 294

5:15 PM 0 25 14 0 39 0 2 109 0 111 0 144 27 0 171 321

5:30 PM 0 26 9 0 35 0 7 91 0 98 0 130 23 0 153 286

5:45 PM 0 30 4 0 34 0 5 98 0 103 0 134 34 0 168 305

Total 0 110 35 0 145 0 18 394 0 412 0 535 114 0 649 1206

Approach % 0.0 75.9 24.1 - - 0.0 4.4 95.6 - - 0.0 82.4 17.6 - - -

Total % 0.0 9.1 2.9 - 12.0 0.0 1.5 32.7 - 34.2 0.0 44.4 9.5 - 53.8 -

PHF 0.000 0.917 0.625 - 0.929 0.000 0.643 0.904 - 0.928 0.000 0.929 0.838 - 0.949 0.939

Lights 0 107 33 - 140 0 18 380 - 398 0 525 112 - 637 1175

% Lights - 97.3 94.3 - 96.6 - 100.0 96.4 - 96.6 - 98.1 98.2 - 98.2 97.4

Buses 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 3 - 3 0 3 0 - 3 6

% Buses - 0.0 0.0 - 0.0 - 0.0 0.8 - 0.7 - 0.6 0.0 - 0.5 0.5

Single-Unit Trucks 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 1 - 1 0 2 2 - 4 5

% Single-Unit Trucks - 0.0 0.0 - 0.0 - 0.0 0.3 - 0.2 - 0.4 1.8 - 0.6 0.4

Articulated Trucks 0 3 0 - 3 0 0 2 - 2 0 1 0 - 1 6

% Articulated Trucks - 2.7 0.0 - 2.1 - 0.0 0.5 - 0.5 - 0.2 0.0 - 0.2 0.5

Bicycles on Road 0 0 2 - 2 0 0 8 - 8 0 4 0 - 4 14

% Bicycles on Road - 0.0 5.7 - 1.4 - 0.0 2.0 - 1.9 - 0.7 0.0 - 0.6 1.2

Pedestrians - - - 0 - - - - 0 - - - - 0 - -

% Pedestrians - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -



Preliminary Site Plan  





ONLY

ONLY

DRAWN:

DATE:

CHECKED:

REV:

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

MWDS

7-23-19

FIGURE:  A1

WESTLEY ROAD

G
R
E
E
N
 

B
A

Y
 

R
O

A
D

LAKE-COOK ROAD

NORTHWOOD DRIVE

8-16-19

GREEN BAY ROAD AND WESTLEY ROAD

PROPOSED CONCEPTUAL STRIPING MODIFICATIONS
PROJECT # 19-077

PRELIMINARY

6
7
0
' 

A
D

V
I
S

O
R

Y
 

W
A

R
N
I
N

G
 

D
I
S

T
A

N
C

E

T
A
P
E
R

13
2
' 

L
T

S
T

O
R

A
G
E

115
' 

L
T

3
2
0
' 

L
A

N
E
 

D
R

O
P
 

T
A
P

E
R

2
4
0
' 

A
P
P

R
O

A
C

H
 

T
A
P

E
R

T
A
P

E
R

1
3
2
' 

L
T

S
T

O
R

A
G

E

1
1
5
' 

L
T

1
6
8
'

1" = 100' (22x34)
1" = 200' (11x17)

SCALE:

N

GLENCOE, ILLINOIS

DEVELOPMENT

1801 GREEN BAY ROAD



ONLY

ONLY

WESTLEY RD

DRAWN:

DATE:

CHECKED:

REV:

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

PROJECT # 19-077

MWDS

7-23-19

FIGURE:  A2

WESTLEY ROAD

G
R
E
E
N
 

B
A

Y
 

R
O

A
D

LAKE-COOK ROAD
35

35

30

35

NORTHWOOD DRIVE

GREEN BAY ROAD

PROPOSED SPEED LIMIT AND SIGNAGE MODIFICATIONS

3
0

3
0

SPEED YOUR

XX

8-16-19

PRELIMINARY

N

SCALE: 1" = 200'

GLENCOE, ILLINOIS

DEVELOPMENT

1801 GREEN BAY ROAD



ITE Trip Generation Sheets  











CMAP 2050 Projections Letter 



 
April 8, 2019 

Andrew Bowen 

Consultant 

Kenig, Lindgren, O’Hara and Aboona, Inc. 

9575 West Higgins Road 

Suite 400 

Rosemont, IL 60018 

 

Subject:  Green Bay Road @ Westly Road 

  IDOT 

 

Dear Mr. Bowen:  

 

In response to a request made on your behalf and dated April 5, 2019, we have developed 

year 2050 average daily traffic (ADT) projections for the subject location.    

 
ROAD SEGMENT Current Volume Year 2050 ADT 

Green Bay Rd, @ Westly Rd 8,800 11,900 

 

Traffic projections are developed using existing ADT data provided in the request letter 

and the results from the March 2019 CMAP Travel Demand Analysis. The regional travel 

model uses CMAP 2050 socioeconomic projections and assumes the implementation of 

the ON TO 2050 Comprehensive Regional Plan for the Northeastern Illinois area.  The 

provision of this data in support of your request does not constitute a CMAP endorsement 

of the proposed development or any subsequent developments. 
 

If you have any questions, please call me at (312) 386-8806. 

 

Sincerely, 

 
Jose Rodriguez, PTP, AICP 

Senior Planner, Research & Analysis 
 
cc: Quigley (IDOT)    

S:\AdminGroups\ResearchAnalysis\2019_ForecastsTraffic\Glencoe\ck-56-19\ck-56-19.docx

 



Level of Service Criteria  



LEVEL OF SERVICE CRITERIA 
Signalized Intersections 

 
Level of 
Service 

 
 

Interpretation 

Average Control 
Delay  

(seconds per vehicle) 
A 

 
 
 

Favorable progression.  Most vehicles arrive during the 
green indication and travel through the intersection 

without stopping. 

≤10 

B 
 
 

Good progression, with more vehicles stopping than for 
Level of Service A. 

>10 - 20 

C 
 
 
 

Individual cycle failures (i.e., one or more queued 
vehicles are not able to depart as a result of insufficient 

capacity during the cycle) may begin to appear.  
Number of vehicles stopping is significant, although many 

vehicles still pass through the intersection without 
stopping. 

 

>20 - 35 

D 
 
 
 

The volume-to-capacity ratio is high and either 
progression is ineffective or the cycle length is too long.  

Many vehicles stop and individual cycle failures are 
noticeable. 

 

>35 - 55 

E Progression is unfavorable.  The volume-to-capacity ratio 
is high and the cycle length is long.  Individual cycle 

failures are frequent. 
 

>55 - 80 

F The volume-to-capacity ratio is very high, progression is 
very poor, and the cycle length is long.  Most cycles fail 

to clear the queue. 

>80.0 

Unsignalized Intersections 
Level of Service Average Total Delay (SEC/VEH) 

A      0 - 10 

B > 10 - 15 

C > 15 - 25 

D > 25 - 35 

E > 35 - 50 

F > 50 
Source:  Highway Capacity Manual, 2010. 



Capacity Analysis Summary Sheets 
Existing Weekday Morning Peak Hour Conditions  



HCM 6th TWSC
1: Green Bay Road & Westly Road 04/19/2019

Hoover Estates  04/18/2019 Existing Morning Peak Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.9

Movement EBL EBR SET SER NWL NWT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 63 22 401 90 25 288
Future Vol, veh/h 63 22 401 90 25 288
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 2 0 4 4 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 105 0 - - 120 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 5 0 6 5 4 4
Mvmt Flow 69 24 441 99 27 316
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 865 497 0 0 544 0
          Stage 1 495 - - - - -
          Stage 2 370 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.45 6.2 - - 4.14 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.45 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.45 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.545 3.3 - - 2.236 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 320 577 - - 1015 -
          Stage 1 606 - - - - -
          Stage 2 692 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 310 574 - - 1011 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 310 - - - - -
          Stage 1 587 - - - - -
          Stage 2 692 - - - - -
 

Approach EB SE NW
HCM Control Delay, s 17.7 0 0.7
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NWL NWT EBLn1 EBLn2 SET SER
Capacity (veh/h) 1011 - 310 574 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.027 - 0.223 0.042 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.7 - 19.9 11.5 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - C B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - 0.8 0.1 - -



HCM 6th TWSC
2: Green Bay Road & Kelling Lane 04/19/2019

Hoover Estates  04/18/2019 Existing Morning Peak Synchro 10 Report
Page 2

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0

Movement WBL WBR SEL SET NWT NWR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 1 0 423 312 3
Future Vol, veh/h 0 1 0 423 312 3
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 94 94 94 94 94 94
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 4 4 0
Mvmt Flow 0 1 0 450 332 3
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 784 334 335 0 - 0
          Stage 1 334 - - - - -
          Stage 2 450 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.4 6.2 4.1 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.4 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.4 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5 3.3 2.2 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 365 712 1236 - - -
          Stage 1 730 - - - - -
          Stage 2 647 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 365 712 1236 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 365 - - - - -
          Stage 1 730 - - - - -
          Stage 2 647 - - - - -
 

Approach WB SE NW
HCM Control Delay, s 10.1 0 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NWT NWRWBLn1 SEL SET
Capacity (veh/h) - - 712 1236 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.001 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 10.1 0 -
HCM Lane LOS - - B A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0 0 -



Capacity Analysis Summary Sheets 
Existing Weekday Evening Peak Hour Conditions  



HCM 6th TWSC
1: Green Bay Road & Westly Road 04/19/2019

Hoover Estates  04/18/2019 Existing Evening Peak Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.7

Movement EBL EBR SET SER NWL NWT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 110 33 538 114 18 386
Future Vol, veh/h 110 33 538 114 18 386
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 105 0 - - 120 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 94 94 94 94 94 94
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 0 1 0 0 2
Mvmt Flow 117 35 572 121 19 411
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1082 633 0 0 693 0
          Stage 1 633 - - - - -
          Stage 2 449 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.43 6.2 - - 4.1 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.43 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.43 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.527 3.3 - - 2.2 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 240 483 - - 912 -
          Stage 1 527 - - - - -
          Stage 2 641 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 235 483 - - 912 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 235 - - - - -
          Stage 1 516 - - - - -
          Stage 2 641 - - - - -
 

Approach EB SE NW
HCM Control Delay, s 29.6 0 0.4
HCM LOS D
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NWL NWT EBLn1 EBLn2 SET SER
Capacity (veh/h) 912 - 235 483 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.021 - 0.498 0.073 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 9 - 34.6 13 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - D B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - 2.5 0.2 - -



HCM 6th TWSC
2: Green Bay Road & Kelling Lane 04/19/2019

Hoover Estates  04/18/2019 Existing Evening Peak Synchro 10 Report
Page 2

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.1

Movement WBL WBR SEL SET NWT NWR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 2 1 2 569 403 2
Future Vol, veh/h 2 1 2 569 403 2
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 2 0 0 2
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 1 1 0
Mvmt Flow 2 1 2 618 438 2
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1063 441 442 0 - 0
          Stage 1 441 - - - - -
          Stage 2 622 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.4 6.2 4.1 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.4 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.4 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5 3.3 2.2 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 249 621 1129 - - -
          Stage 1 653 - - - - -
          Stage 2 539 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 247 620 1127 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 247 - - - - -
          Stage 1 650 - - - - -
          Stage 2 538 - - - - -
 

Approach WB SE NW
HCM Control Delay, s 16.8 0 0
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NWT NWRWBLn1 SEL SET
Capacity (veh/h) - - 309 1127 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.011 0.002 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 16.8 8.2 0
HCM Lane LOS - - C A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0 0 -



Capacity Analysis Summary Sheets 
Projected Weekday Morning Peak Hour Conditions 



HCM 6th TWSC
1: Green Bay Road & Westly Road 04/19/2019

Hoover Estates  04/18/2019 Projected Morning Peak Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.8

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SEL SET SER NWL NWT NWR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 66 2 23 7 5 7 2 421 95 26 302 2
Future Vol, veh/h 66 2 23 7 5 7 2 421 95 26 302 2
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 4 4 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - 0 - - - - - - 120 - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 5 4 4 0
Mvmt Flow 73 2 25 8 5 8 2 463 104 29 332 2
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 921 915 521 926 966 333 334 0 0 571 0 0
          Stage 1 523 523 - 391 391 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 398 392 - 535 575 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.15 6.5 6.2 7.1 6.5 6.2 4.1 - - 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.15 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.15 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.545 4 3.3 3.5 4 3.3 2.2 - - 2.236 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 248 275 559 251 257 713 1237 - - 992 - -
          Stage 1 532 534 - 637 611 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 622 610 - 533 506 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 235 265 556 232 248 713 1237 - - 988 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 235 265 - 232 248 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 529 531 - 636 593 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 592 592 - 505 503 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB SE NW
HCM Control Delay, s 23.3 17.2 0 0.7
HCM LOS C C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NWL NWT NWR EBLn1 EBLn2WBLn1 SEL SET SER
Capacity (veh/h) 988 - - 236 556 316 1237 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.029 - - 0.317 0.045 0.066 0.002 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.8 - - 27.2 11.8 17.2 7.9 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - - D B C A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - - 1.3 0.1 0.2 0 - -



HCM 6th TWSC
2: Green Bay Road & Kelling Lane 04/19/2019

Hoover Estates  04/18/2019 Projected Morning Peak Synchro 10 Report
Page 2

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0

Movement WBL WBR SEL SET NWT NWR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 1 0 451 329 3
Future Vol, veh/h 0 1 0 451 329 3
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 94 94 94 94 94 94
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 4 4 0
Mvmt Flow 0 1 0 480 350 3
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 832 352 353 0 - 0
          Stage 1 352 - - - - -
          Stage 2 480 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.4 6.2 4.1 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.4 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.4 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5 3.3 2.2 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 342 696 1217 - - -
          Stage 1 716 - - - - -
          Stage 2 627 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 342 696 1217 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 342 - - - - -
          Stage 1 716 - - - - -
          Stage 2 627 - - - - -
 

Approach WB SE NW
HCM Control Delay, s 10.2 0 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NWT NWRWBLn1 SEL SET
Capacity (veh/h) - - 696 1217 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.002 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 10.2 0 -
HCM Lane LOS - - B A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0 0 -



Capacity Analysis Summary Sheets 
Projected Weekday Evening Peak Hour Conditions 



HCM 6th TWSC
1: Green Bay Road & Westly Road 04/19/2019

Hoover Estates  04/18/2019 Projected Evening Peak Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 8.1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SEL SET SER NWL NWT NWR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 116 6 35 4 3 4 7 565 120 19 405 7
Future Vol, veh/h 116 6 35 4 3 4 7 565 120 19 405 7
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length 105 - 0 - - - - - - 120 - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 0 0 0 0 2 0 1 0 0 2 0
Mvmt Flow 123 6 37 4 3 4 7 601 128 20 431 7
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1157 1157 665 1176 1218 435 438 0 0 729 0 0
          Stage 1 679 679 - 475 475 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 478 478 - 701 743 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.13 6.5 6.2 7.1 6.5 6.22 4.1 - - 4.1 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.13 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.13 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.527 4 3.3 3.5 4 3.318 2.2 - - 2.2 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 173 198 464 170 182 621 1133 - - 884 - -
          Stage 1 440 454 - 574 561 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 566 559 - 433 425 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 165 191 464 149 176 621 1133 - - 884 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 165 191 - 149 176 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 435 449 - 568 548 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 546 546 - 388 420 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB SE NW
HCM Control Delay, s 63.4 22.4 0.1 0.4
HCM LOS F C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NWL NWT NWR EBLn1 EBLn2WBLn1 SEL SET SER
Capacity (veh/h) 884 - - 166 464 219 1133 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.023 - - 0.782 0.08 0.053 0.007 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 9.2 - - 77.8 13.4 22.4 8.2 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A - - F B C A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - - 5.1 0.3 0.2 0 - -



HCM 6th TWSC
2: Green Bay Road & Kelling Lane 04/19/2019

Hoover Estates  04/18/2019 Projected Evening Peak Synchro 10 Report
Page 2

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.1

Movement WBL WBR SEL SET NWT NWR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 2 1 2 602 430 2
Future Vol, veh/h 2 1 2 602 430 2
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 2 0 0 2
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 1 1 0
Mvmt Flow 2 1 2 654 467 2

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1128 470 471 0 - 0
          Stage 1 470 - - - - -
          Stage 2 658 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.4 6.2 4.1 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.4 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.4 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5 3.3 2.2 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 228 598 1101 - - -
          Stage 1 633 - - - - -
          Stage 2 519 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 226 597 1099 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 226 - - - - -
          Stage 1 630 - - - - -
          Stage 2 518 - - - - -

Approach WB SE NW
HCM Control Delay, s 17.8 0 0
HCM LOS C

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NWT NWRWBLn1 SEL SET
Capacity (veh/h) - - 285 1099 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.011 0.002 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 17.8 8.3 0
HCM Lane LOS - - C A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0 0 -



Sight Distance Analysis 



LOT 11

LOT 12

LOT 13

40' FRONT YARD SETBACK (TYP.)

M
IN
. 

10
' 

SI
D
E 

YAR
D
 
SETB

AC
K
 
(T

YP
.)

ZONE R-A

GLENCOE GOLF CLUB

UNSUBDIVIDED

LOT 2 LOT 1

#480 #470 #440

#
1
7
9
9

LOT 9

ONLY
ONLY

ON
LY

ONLY
BUS

ONLY
0
+

0
0

1
+
0
0

2+00

3+00

ESTATES

13,888 S.F.

0.32 AC.

13,304 S.F.

0.31 AC.

13,243 S.F.

0.30 AC.

13,029 S.F.

0.30 AC.

shelter

waiting 

bus 

:where

a

t

V

SSD

= driver deceleration, ft/s (m/s )

= brake time, 2.5 seconds

= design speed, mph (km/h)

= Stopping Sight Distance, ft (m)

V
a

2

SSD = 1.47 Vt + 1.075

IDOT BDE MANUAL - CHAPTER 31

2 2

DESIGN SPEED = 35 MPH

POSTED SPEED LIMIT = 30 MPH

250 = 1.47 35(2.5) + 1.075 (         )
1225
11.2

DRAWN:

DATE:

MD CHECKED:

REV:

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

PROJECT # 19-077

MW

04-10-19 08-16-19

GLENCOE, ILLINOIS

1801 GREEN BAY ROAD

N

SCALE: 1" = 40'

14
.4
'

A
P
P
R
O
X
. 

2
8
5
' 

M
A
X
IM

U
M
 
S
T
O
P
P
IN

G
 
S
IG

H
T
 
D
IS

T
A
N
C
E

WESTLEY ROAD G
REEN

 
BA

Y RO
A
D

GREEN BAY ROAD @ WESTLEY ROAD

STOPPING SIGHT DISTANCE STUDY @ 14.4 FT

FIGURE:  A1



LOT 11

LOT 12

LOT 13

40' FRONT YARD SETBACK (TYP.)

4
0
' 

F
R

O
N

T
 

Y
A
R

D
 
S

E
T
B

A
C

K
 
(
T
Y
P
.)

M
IN
. 

10
' 

SI
D
E 

YAR
D
 
SETB

AC
K
 
(T

YP
.)

ZONE R-A

GLENCOE GOLF CLUB

UNSUBDIVIDED

#
1
7
9
9

LOT 1

LOT 10

LOT 2

LOT 9

ONLY
ONLY

ONLY
BUS

ONLY
0
+

0
0

1
+
0
0

2+00

3+00

27,965 S.F.

0.64 AC.

ESTATES

18,751 S.F.

0.43 AC.

16,928 S.F.

0.39 AC.

13,888 S.F.

0.32 AC.

13,304 S.F.

0.31 AC.

13,243 S.F.

0.30 AC.

13,029 S.F.

0.30 AC.

BUILDING

shelter

waiting 

bus 

:where

a

t

V

SSD

= driver deceleration, ft/s (m/s )

= brake time, 2.5 seconds

= design speed, mph (km/h)

= Stopping Sight Distance, ft (m)

V
a

2

SSD = 1.47 Vt + 1.075

IDOT BDE MANUAL - CHAPTER 31

2 2

DESIGN SPEED = 35 MPH

POSTED SPEED LIMIT = 30 MPH

250 = 1.47 35(2.5) + 1.075 (         )
1225
11.2

DRAWN:

DATE:

MD CHECKED:

REV:

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

PROJECT # 19-077

MW

04-10-19 08-16-19

GLENCOE, ILLINOIS

1801 GREEN BAY ROAD

N

SCALE: 1" = 40'

10
.0
'

A
P
P
R
O
X
. 

3
4
7
' 

M
A
X
IM

U
M
 
S
T
O
P
P
IN

G
 
S
IG

H
T
 
D
IS

T
A
N
C
E

WESTLEY ROAD

G
REEN

 
BA

Y RO
A
D

GREEN BAY ROAD @ WESTLEY ROAD

STOPPING SIGHT DISTANCE STUDY @ 10.0 FT

FIGURE:  A2



ONLY

ONLY

DRAWN:

DATE:

CHECKED:

REV:

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

MWDS

7-23-19

FIGURE:  A1

WESTLEY ROAD

G
R
E
E
N
 

B
A

Y
 

R
O

A
D

LAKE-COOK ROAD

NORTHWOOD DRIVE

8-16-19

GREEN BAY ROAD AND WESTLEY ROAD

PROPOSED CONCEPTUAL STRIPING MODIFICATIONS
PROJECT # 19-077

PRELIMINARY

6
7
0
' 

A
D

V
I
S

O
R

Y
 

W
A

R
N
I
N

G
 

D
I
S

T
A

N
C

E

T
A
P
E
R

13
2
' 

L
T

S
T

O
R

A
G
E

115
' 

L
T

3
2
0
' 

L
A

N
E
 

D
R

O
P
 

T
A
P

E
R

2
4
0
' 

A
P
P

R
O

A
C

H
 

T
A
P

E
R

T
A
P

E
R

1
3
2
' 

L
T

S
T

O
R

A
G

E

1
1
5
' 

L
T

1
6
8
'

1" = 100' (22x34)
1" = 200' (11x17)

SCALE:

N

GLENCOE, ILLINOIS

DEVELOPMENT

1801 GREEN BAY ROAD



ONLY

ONLY

WESTLEY RD

DRAWN:

DATE:

CHECKED:

REV:

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

PROJECT # 19-077

MWDS

7-23-19

FIGURE:  A2

WESTLEY ROAD

G
R
E
E
N
 

B
A

Y
 

R
O

A
D

LAKE-COOK ROAD
35

35

30

35

NORTHWOOD DRIVE

GREEN BAY ROAD

PROPOSED SPEED LIMIT AND SIGNAGE MODIFICATIONS

3
0

3
0

SPEED YOUR

XX

8-16-19

PRELIMINARY

N

SCALE: 1" = 200'

GLENCOE, ILLINOIS

DEVELOPMENT

1801 GREEN BAY ROAD



 
 

 

 
Traffic Signal Warrant Study 

  

Green Bay Road with Westley Road 
and Proposed Access Road 

 

Glencoe, Illinois 
 

 

Prepared For: 
 

Glencoe Developers, LLC 
 

August 16, 2019 

Westley Road 



Green Bay Road with Westley Road 

Glencoe, Illinois  1 

1. Introduction 
 

 

This report summarizes the methodologies, results, and findings of a traffic signal warrant study 

conducted by Kenig, Lindgren, O’Hara, Aboona, Inc. (KLOA, Inc.) for the intersection of Green 

Bay Road with Westley Road in Glencoe, Illinois. Currently, the T-intersection operates with the 

Westley Street approach under stop sign control (one-way stop sign control). Access to the 

proposed 1801 Green Bay Road residential development is to be located on the east side of Green 

Bay Road aligned opposite Westley Road and will form the fourth leg of this intersection.  

 

The sections of this report present the following: 

 

• A summary of the existing roadway conditions including vehicle traffic volumes at the 

study intersection 

 

• The modifications of the intersection and the projected traffic volumes assuming the 

proposed 1801 Green Bay Road residential development 

 

• The results of the traffic signal warrant study for the study intersection 

 

The primary purpose of this study is to determine if the existing and projected intersection 

conditions warrant the need for a traffic signal control based on the criteria outlined in the Manual 

on Uniform Traffic Control Devices for Streets and Highways (MUTCD), 2009 published by the 

Federal Highway Administration.  



Green Bay Road with Westley Road 

Glencoe, Illinois  2 

2. Existing Conditions 
 

 

Existing transportation conditions in the vicinity of the intersection were documented based on 

field visits conducted by KLOA, Inc. in order to obtain a database for projecting future conditions. 

The following provides a description of the geographical location of the intersection, physical 

characteristics and operation of the intersection, the existing traffic volumes, and the intersection 

crash data. 

 

Study Intersection Location 
 

The intersection of Green Bay Road with Westley Road is located in the northern section of the 

Village of Glencoe. The closest signalized intersections to the subject intersection are located 

approximately 0.5 miles to the northwest at Lake-Cook Road and approximately 1.1 miles to the 

southeast at Park Avenue. Land uses in the area of the intersection are primarily residential with 

single-family homes located north, east, and south of the site. The Glencoe Golf Club is located 

on the west side of Green Bay Road. Figure 1 shows an aerial of the study intersection and Figure 

2 shows the location of the intersection with respect to the area roadways. 

 

Existing Roadway System Characteristics 
 

The intersection of Green Bay Road with Westley Road is under the jurisdiction of the Village of 

Glencoe. The characteristics of the existing roadways that form the subject intersection are 

described below.  

 

Green Bay Road is generally a northwest-southeast, minor arterial roadway that has a three-lane 

cross-section which widens to a four-lane cross-section just north of Northwood Drive. At its 

unsignalized intersection with Westley Road, Green Bay Road has an exclusive left-turn lane and 

a through lane on the northbound approach and a combined through/right-turn lane on the 

southbound approach. Immediately north of its intersection with Westley Road, Green Bay Road 

provides a short lay-by lane that serves Pace Bus Route 213. This lay-by lane allows buses to leave 

the flow of traffic when making stops at this location. Green Bay Road is under the jurisdiction of 

the Village of Glencoe and has a posted speed limit of 30 mph south of Westley Road and 35 and 

40 mph north of Westley Road. According to the Illinois Department of Transportation (IDOT), 

Green Bay Road had a 2014 Annual Average Daily Traffic (AADT) volume of 8,800 vehicles. 

 

Westley Road is an east-west, local roadway that has one lane in each direction. At its unsignalized 

T-intersection with Green Bay Road, Westley Road has an exclusive left-turn lane and an exclusive 

right-turn lane under stop sign control. Westley Road is under the jurisdiction of the Village of 

Glencoe and has a posted speed limit of 25 mph. 

 

 

  



Green Bay Road with Westley Road 

Glencoe, Illinois  3 

Aerial View of Intersection Figure 1 

  

Westley Road 



Green Bay Road with Westley Road 

Glencoe, Illinois  4 

Intersection Location Figure 2 

 

  

Green Bay Road with 

Westley Road 



Green Bay Road with Westley Road 

Glencoe, Illinois  5 

Crash Data 
 

KLOA, Inc. obtained crash data1 for the past five years (2013 to 2017) for the intersection of Green 

Bay Road with Westley Road. A review of the crash data revealed there were a total of three 

crashes at the intersection. Further, no fatalities were reported at the intersection during the 

reviewed period.  

 

Existing Traffic Counts 
 

In order to determine the volume of traffic traversing the intersection of Green Bay Road with 

Westley Road, KLOA, Inc. conducted a 13-hour traffic count (6:00 A.M. to 7:00 P.M.) on 

Thursday, July 18, 2019. In addition, KLOA, Inc. also performed previous counts on Tuesday, 

April 9, 2019 during the weekday morning (7:00 A.M. to 9:00 A.M.) and weekday evening (4:00 

P.M. to 6:00 P.M.) peak periods. The highest volumes from the two traffic counts were used for 

the study and the hourly results are summarized in Table 1, which shows the individual 

movements for each intersection approach. The raw traffic count data is included in the Appendix. 

Based on a review of the traffic data, it was determined that the morning peak hour of traffic 

occurred from 8:00 to 9:00 A.M. and the evening peak hour of traffic occurred from 5:00 to 6:00 

P.M.  

  

                                                 
1 IDOT DISCLAIMER: The motor vehicle crash data referenced herein was provided by the Illinois Department of Transportation. 

Any conclusions drawn from analysis of the aforementioned data are the sole responsibility of the data recipient(s). Additionally, 

for coding years 2015 to present, the Bureau of Data Collection uses the exact latitude/longitude supplied by the investigating law 

enforcement agency to locate crashes. Therefore, location data may vary in previous years since data prior to 2015 was physically 

located by bureau personnel.  

 



Green Bay Road with Westley Road 

Glencoe, Illinois  6 

Table 1 

GREEN BAY ROAD WITH WESTLEY ROAD  

EXISTING TRAFFIC VOLUMES 

 
Green Bay Road 

Northbound Approach 

Green Bay Road 

Southbound Approach 

Westley Road 

Approach 

Time Left Through Through Right Left Right 

6:00 AM 4 115 199 30 17 8 

7:00 AM 11 216 291 69 54 25 

8:00 AM 30 341 404 76 88 23 

9:00 AM 38 343 338 77 94 18 

10:00 AM 15 258 290 86 65 14 

11:00 AM 16 309 319 69 85 17 

12:00 PM 18 326 345 73 94 20 

1:00 PM 19 390 297 60 79 14 

2:00 PM 18 354 316 64 93 17 

3:00 PM 25 435 349 71 124 10 

4:00 PM 21 377 426 103 108 22 

5:00 PM 18 394 535 114 110 35 

6:00 PM 30 313 319 84 85 25 

  



Green Bay Road with Westley Road 

Glencoe, Illinois  7 

3. Projected Intersection Conditions 
 

 

As part of the proposed 1801 Green Bay Road residential development, access will be provided 

on the east side of Green Bay Road opposite Westley Road and will form the fourth leg of the 

subject intersection. This chapter summarizes the proposed modifications to the intersection and 

the additional traffic that will be generated by the development.  

 

Proposed Development Plan 
 

As proposed, the plans call for developing the former Hoover Estate with 29 single-family homes. 

Access to the development will be provided via a proposed access road on the east side of Green 

Bay Road that will be aligned opposite Westley Road and will form the fourth (east) leg of the 

intersection. The access road will provide one inbound lane and one outbound lane with outbound 

movements under stop sign control. In addition, the following modifications are proposed at the 

intersection and along Green Bay Road: 

 

• The Westley Road approach is proposed to be restriped to (1) provide a shared through/left-

turn lane and (2) realign the eastbound lanes so that the shared through/left-turn lane better 

aligns with the proposed access road and to align the lanes perpendicular to Green Bay 

Road. 

 

• Green Bay Road is proposed to be restriped north of Westley Road and Northwood Drive 

in order to provide one lane in each direction and separate left-turn lanes serving both 

Northwood Drive and the proposed access road.  

 

• The maximum speed limit along Green Bay Road between Lake-Cook Road and Westley 

Road is proposed to be reduced from 40 mph to 35 mph. As proposed, the four-lane section 

of Green Bay Road will have a posted speed limit of 35 mph and the three-lane section of 

Green Bay Road will have a posted speed limit of 30 mph.  

 

• A radar speed feedback sign and an intersection warning sign are proposed to be located 

along southbound Green Bay Road north of the intersection. 

 

Copies of the site plan and intersection striping modifications are located in the Appendix. 

 

Development-Generated Traffic Volumes 
 

The volume of traffic to be estimated to be generated by the proposed development was based on 

vehicle trip generation rates contained in Trip Generation Manual, 10th Edition, published by the 

Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE).  In addition, the hourly distribution of the traffic was 

based on surveys performed by the Wisconsin Department of Transportation.  Since access will only 

be provided via the single access drive, all of the development-generated traffic will be traversing the 

subject intersection.  

 



Green Bay Road with Westley Road 

Glencoe, Illinois  8 

Total Intersection Traffic Volumes  
 

The hourly traffic estimated to be generated by the proposed development was added to the existing 

hourly traffic volumes to obtain the total projected intersection traffic volumes, which are illustrated 

in Table 2.  



Green Bay Road with Westley Road 

Glencoe, Illinois  9 

Table 2 

GREEN BAY ROAD WITH WESTLEY ROAD AND PROPOSED ACCESS ROAD 

TOTAL PROJECTED TRAFFIC VOLUMES 

 

 

Time 

Green Bay Road 

Northbound Approach 

Green Bay Road 

Southbound Approach 

Westley Road 

Approach 

Access Road 

Approach 

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right 

6:00 AM 4 115 1 1 199 30 17 1 8 4 3 4 

7:00 AM 11 216 1 1 291 69 54 1 25 4 3 4 

8:00 AM 30 341 2 2 404 76 88 2 23 7 5 7 

9:00 AM 38 343 3 3 338 77 94 3 18 4 3 4 

10:00 AM 15 258 3 3 290 86 65 3 14 3 2 3 

11:00 AM 16 309 5 5 319 69 85 5 17 3 2 3 

12:00 PM 18 326 5 5 345 73 94 4 20 4 3 4 

1:00 PM 19 390 4 4 297 60 79 3 14 3 2 3 

2:00 PM 18 354 5 5 316 64 93 4 17 4 3 4 

3:00 PM 25 435 6 6 349 71 124 5 10 3 2 3 

4:00 PM 21 377 7 7 426 103 108 6 22 4 3 4 

5:00 PM 18 394 6 6 535 114 110 5 35 4 3 4 

6:00 PM 30 313 6 6 319 84 85 5 25 3 2 3 



Green Bay Road with Westley Road 

Glencoe, Illinois  10 

3. Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis 
 

 

Typically, the installation of a traffic signal requires the satisfaction of one or more of the following 

nine warrants from the Federal Highway Administration’s Manual on Uniform Traffic Control 

Devices for Streets and Highways (MUTCD), 2009. The satisfaction of one or more of the warrants 

does not in itself justify the installation of a traffic signal. A review of the intersection’s physical 

characteristics and traffic conditions is also necessary to determine whether a traffic control signal 

installation is justified. It should be noted that due to the low volume of left-turn movements, the 

intersection was assumed to provide one lane on all approaches. 

Warrant 1 (A and B): Eight-Hour Vehicular Volume 

Warrant 2: Four-Hour Vehicular Volume 

Warrant 3: Peak Hour 

Warrant 4: Pedestrian Volume 

Warrant 5: School Crossing 

Warrant 6: Coordinated Signal System 

Warrant 7: Crash Experience 

Warrant 8: Roadway Network 

Warrant 9: Intersection Near a Railroad Grade Crossing 

 

A description of each of the nine warrants is summarized below:  

 

Warrant 1 (Eight-Hour Vehicular Volume) has three conditions: Condition A-Minimum Vehicular 

Volume, Condition B-Interruption of Continuous Traffic, or a combination of both Condition A 

and B. Condition A is intended for application where a large volume of intersecting traffic is the 

principal reason to consider installing a traffic control signal. Condition B is intended for 

application where the traffic volume on a major street is so heavy that the traffic on a minor 

intersecting street suffers excessive delay or conflict in entering or crossing the major street. 

Warrant 1 Conditions A or B are satisfied when the traffic volumes for each of any eight hours of 

an average day are above a threshold value of minor street traffic, which varies depending on the 

major street traffic volume and the number of travel lanes on the major and minor streets.  

 

Warrant 2 (Four-Hour Vehicular Volume) 2 is applied when the volume of intersecting traffic is 

the principal reason to consider installing a traffic signal. The warrant is satisfied when the traffic 

volumes for each of any four hours of an average day are above a threshold value of minor street 

traffic, which varies depending on the major street traffic volume and the number of travel lanes. 

 

Warrant 3 (Peak Hour) is intended for application when traffic conditions are such that for a 

minimum of one hour of an average day, the minor-street traffic suffers undue delay when entering 

or crossing the major street. As with Warrant 2, the threshold value of minor street traffic varies 

depending on the major street traffic volume and number of travel lanes. This signal warrant is 

primarily used in cases where a high volume of traffic is discharged over a short time. 

  



Green Bay Road with Westley Road 

Glencoe, Illinois  11 

Warrant 4 (Pedestrian Volume) is intended for application where the traffic volume on the major 

street is so heavy that pedestrians experience excessive delay in crossing the major street. The 

warrant is satisfied when the pedestrian volumes for each of any four hours of an average day are 

above a threshold value of major street traffic, which varies depending on the major street traffic 

volume and has a minimum value of 75 pedestrian crossings per hour. The warrant can also be 

satisfied when the pedestrian volumes for any one-hour period of an average day are above a 

threshold value of major street traffic, which also varies depending on the major street traffic 

volume and has a minimum value of 93 pedestrian crossings per hour. The volume thresholds can 

be reduced by 50 percent if the 15th-percentile crossing speed of pedestrians is less than 3.5 

feet/second.  

 

Warrant 5 (School Crossing) applies to locations where the fact that school children cross the 

major street is the principal reason to consider installing a traffic control signal. This warrant 

evaluates the number of adequate gaps in the traffic stream of the major street and has a threshold 

value of 20 student crossings during the highest hour. In addition, other remedial measures should 

be considered first, such as warning signs, flashers, school speed zones, and school crossing 

guards. 

 

Warrant 6 (Coordinated Signal System) applies when the upstream traffic control signals do not 

provide the necessary degree of vehicle platooning, but the proposed signal in combination with 

the upstream signal will collectively provide a progressive operation.  

 

Warrant 7 (Crash Experience) is applicable where the severity and frequency of traffic crashes are 

susceptible to correction by the presence of a traffic signal. The warrant is satisfied when five or 

more crashes have occurred within a 12-month period and specific traffic or pedestrian volume 

threshold values are exceeded for the major and minor streets.  

 

Warrant 8 (Roadway Network) states that installing a traffic control signal at some intersections 

might be justified to encourage concentration and organization of traffic flow on a roadway 

network. It is intended to be applied to the intersection of two major through routes in a city. 

 

Warrant 9 (Intersection Near a Railroad Grade Crossing) is intended for use at a location where 

none of the conditions described in the other eight warrants are met, but the proximity of a grade 

crossing to an intersection controlled by a STOP or YIELD sign is the principal reason to consider 

installing a traffic control signal. There are two criteria for this warrant, one related to the distance 

between the grade crossing and the intersection, and the other related to the volume of traffic on 

the intersecting roadways.   

  



Green Bay Road with Westley Road 

Glencoe, Illinois  12 

Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis  

A traffic signal warrant analysis was performed for the Green Bay Road with Westley Road and 

the proposed access road intersection to determine if the projected traffic conditions warrant the 

installation of a traffic signal. Of the nine warrants that can be applied in establishing the 

justification for a traffic signal, only the following five warrants were considered for this analysis:  

 

• Warrant 1, Eight-Hour Vehicular Volume 

• Warrant 2, Four-Hour Vehicular Volume 

• Warrant 3, Peak Hour 

• Warrant 4, Pedestrian Volume  

• Warrant 7, Crash Experience 

 

The other four warrants were not considered as the intersection is not a primary school crossing 

(Warrant 5) or part of a coordinated traffic signal system (Warrant 6), does not consist of two 

major through routes (Warrant 8), and is not located near a railroad crossing (Warrant 9).  

 

Evaluation of Warrants 1, 2, and 3 - Intersection Traffic Volumes 

 

Table 3 summarizes the hourly traffic volumes projected to traverse the intersection of Green Bay 

Road with Westley Road and the proposed access road. The table also highlights which hours of 

the day satisfy the minimum volume threshold for Warrant 1A, Warrant 1B, combination of 

Warrant 1A/1B, Warrant 2, and Warrant 3. 

 

The flowing and Table 3 summarize the results of the evaluation of the projected traffic volumes:  

 

• Warrant 1A: Only one hour satisfies the minimum volumes when eight hours are required. 

 

• Warrant 1B: Only two hours satisfy the minimum volumes when eight hours are required. 

 

• Combination of Warrants 1A/1B: Only three hours satisfy the minimum volumes when 

eight hours are required. 

 

• Warrant 2: Only one hour satisfies the minimum volumes when four hours are required. 

 

• Warrant 3: None of the hourly volumes satisfy the minimum volumes when one hour is 

required. 

 

Therefore, the existing traffic volumes do not satisfy Warrant 1, Warrant 2, or Warrant 3.  



Green Bay Road with Westley Road 

Glencoe, Illinois 13 

Table 3 

GREEN BAY ROAD WITH WESTLEY ROAD AND ACCESS ROAD  

VOLUME WARRANT SUMMARY  

Hour 

Green Bay 

Road 

(Major) 

Westley 

Road 

(Minor) 

Access 

Road 

(Minor) 

Signal Warrants 

Warrant 1 

Warrant 2 

(4-Hour) 

Warrant 3 

(1-Hour) 
Warrant 

1A 

(8-Hour) 

Warrant 

1B 

(8-Hour) 

Combination 

1A 80% 1B 80% 

6:00 to 7:00 AM 351 26 12 No No No No No No 

7:00 to 8:00 AM 589 80 12 No No No No No No 

8:00 to 9:00 AM 855 113 19 No No Yes Yes No No 

9:00 to 10:00 AM 802 115 11 No No No Yes No No 

10:00 to 11:00 AM 655 82 9 No No No No No No 

11:00 AM to 12:00 PM 723 107 8 No No No Yes No No 

12:00 to 1:00 PM 772 118 10 No No No Yes No No 

1:00 to 2:00 PM 774 96 7 No No No Yes No No 

2:00 to 3:00 PM 762 114 11 No No No Yes No No 

3:00 to 4:00 PM 892 139 9 No No Yes Yes No No 

4:00 to 5:00 PM 941 136 11 No Yes Yes Yes No No 

5:00 to 6:00 PM 1,073 150 11 Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No 

6:00 to 7:00 PM 758 115 8 No No No Yes No No 

Total Hours Met: 1 2 3 10 1 0 

Required Hours: 8 8 8 8 4 1 

Warrant Satisfied: No No No No No 

 



 

Evaluation of Warrant 4 - Intersection Pedestrian Volumes 

 

The intersection had a total of 13 pedestrians during the 13-hour count. As such, given the low 

pedestrian activity, this intersection does not satisfy Warrant 4.  

 

Evaluation of Warrant 7 – Crash Experience  

 

Per the MUTCD, the following indicates the requirements to meet Warrant 7 – Crash Experience:  

 

The need for a traffic control signal shall be considered if an engineering study finds that all 

of the following criteria are met: 

 

A. Adequate trial of alternatives with satisfactory observance and enforcement has failed to 

reduce the crash frequency; and 

 

B. Five or more reported crashes, of types susceptible to correction by a traffic control signal, 

have occurred within a 12-month period, each crash involving personal injury or property 

damage apparently exceeding the applicable requirements for a reportable crash; and 

 

C. For each of any 8 hours of an average day, the vehicles per hour (vph) given in both of the 

80 percent columns of Condition A in Table 4C-1 (see Section 4C.02), or the vph in both 

of the 80 percent columns of Condition B in Table 4C-1 exists on the major-street and the 

higher-volume minor-street approach, respectively, to the intersection, or the volume of 

pedestrian traffic is not less than 80 percent of the requirements specified in the Pedestrian 

Volume warrant. These major-street and minor-street volumes shall be for the same 8 

hours. On the minor street, the higher volume shall not be required to be on the same 

approach during each of the 8 hours. 

 

Given that the intersection has had only three crashes in a five- year period, the intersection does 

not satisfy the criteria of Warrant 7. 

 

Traffic Signal Warrant Findings 
  

The results of the traffic signal warrant study have shown that the intersection does not satisfy any 

of the traffic volume warrants (Warrants 1, 2, and 3), the pedestrian volume warrant (Warrant 4), 

or the crash experience warrant (Warrant 7). As such, a traffic signal is not warranted at this 

intersection.  

 



 

Appendix 
 

Traffic Count Summary Sheets 
Site Plan 

Conceptual Roadway Modification Plans 
  



 

Traffic Count Summary Sheets 

  



 

Kenig Lindgren O'Hara Aboona, Inc.
9575 W. Higgins Rd., Suite 400

Rosemont, Illinois, United States  60018
(847)518-9990

Count Name: Green Bay Road with Westley
Road
Site Code:
Start Date: 07/18/2019
Page No: 1

Turning Movement Data

Start Time

Westley Road Green Bay Road Green Bay Road

Eastbound Northbound Southbound

U-Turn Left Right Peds App. Total U-Turn Left Thru Peds App. Total U-Turn Thru Right Peds App. Total Int. Total

6:00 AM 0 1 1 0 2 0 1 22 0 23 0 18 3 0 21 46

6:15 AM 0 2 0 0 2 1 0 32 0 33 0 61 6 0 67 102

6:30 AM 1 8 4 1 13 0 0 36 0 36 0 51 12 0 63 112

6:45 AM 0 6 3 1 9 0 3 25 0 28 0 69 9 0 78 115

Hourly Total 1 17 8 2 26 1 4 115 0 120 0 199 30 0 229 375

7:00 AM 0 5 3 0 8 1 0 44 0 45 0 54 13 0 67 120

7:15 AM 0 10 5 0 15 0 4 55 0 59 0 63 18 0 81 155

7:30 AM 0 17 5 0 22 0 4 53 0 57 0 68 21 0 89 168

7:45 AM 0 22 12 0 34 0 3 64 0 67 0 106 17 0 123 224

Hourly Total 0 54 25 0 79 1 11 216 0 228 0 291 69 0 360 667

8:00 AM 0 18 5 0 23 0 4 62 0 66 0 115 14 0 129 218

8:15 AM 0 30 5 0 35 0 5 79 0 84 0 114 16 0 130 249

8:30 AM 0 25 1 0 26 0 4 97 0 101 0 75 15 0 90 217

8:45 AM 0 15 12 0 27 0 17 103 0 120 0 100 31 0 131 278

Hourly Total 0 88 23 0 111 0 30 341 0 371 0 404 76 0 480 962

9:00 AM 0 17 7 0 24 0 20 95 0 115 0 76 23 0 99 238

9:15 AM 0 25 6 0 31 0 8 106 0 114 0 88 18 0 106 251

9:30 AM 0 34 4 0 38 0 6 75 0 81 0 80 16 0 96 215

9:45 AM 0 18 1 0 19 0 4 67 0 71 0 94 20 0 114 204

Hourly Total 0 94 18 0 112 0 38 343 0 381 0 338 77 0 415 908

10:00 AM 0 10 6 0 16 0 1 62 0 63 0 71 21 0 92 171

10:15 AM 0 21 3 0 24 0 5 60 0 65 0 80 34 0 114 203

10:30 AM 0 17 1 0 18 0 5 67 0 72 0 66 12 0 78 168

10:45 AM 0 17 4 0 21 0 4 69 0 73 0 73 19 0 92 186

Hourly Total 0 65 14 0 79 0 15 258 0 273 0 290 86 0 376 728

11:00 AM 0 11 4 0 15 0 6 64 0 70 0 69 12 0 81 166

11:15 AM 0 24 4 1 28 0 3 68 0 71 0 79 10 0 89 188

11:30 AM 0 27 7 0 34 0 1 101 0 102 0 79 21 0 100 236

11:45 AM 0 23 2 0 25 0 6 76 0 82 0 92 26 0 118 225

Hourly Total 0 85 17 1 102 0 16 309 0 325 0 319 69 0 388 815

12:00 PM 0 22 1 0 23 0 5 87 0 92 0 101 16 0 117 232

12:15 PM 0 27 8 0 35 0 2 88 0 90 0 90 24 0 114 239

12:30 PM 0 18 3 0 21 0 6 78 0 84 0 89 21 0 110 215

12:45 PM 0 27 8 0 35 0 5 73 0 78 0 65 12 0 77 190

Hourly Total 0 94 20 0 114 0 18 326 0 344 0 345 73 0 418 876

1:00 PM 0 28 2 0 30 0 4 94 0 98 0 51 16 0 67 195

1:15 PM 0 11 3 0 14 0 11 97 0 108 0 75 13 0 88 210

1:30 PM 0 12 4 1 16 0 4 94 0 98 0 88 17 1 105 219



1:45 PM 0 28 5 0 33 0 0 105 0 105 0 83 14 0 97 235

Hourly Total 0 79 14 1 93 0 19 390 0 409 0 297 60 1 357 859

2:00 PM 0 16 3 1 19 0 1 86 0 87 0 87 18 0 105 211

2:15 PM 0 21 5 0 26 0 4 91 0 95 0 68 15 0 83 204

2:30 PM 0 34 4 0 38 0 5 91 0 96 0 79 13 0 92 226

2:45 PM 0 22 5 0 27 0 8 86 0 94 0 82 18 0 100 221

Hourly Total 0 93 17 1 110 0 18 354 0 372 0 316 64 0 380 862

3:00 PM 0 23 5 0 28 0 17 114 0 131 0 89 15 0 104 263

3:15 PM 0 30 0 2 30 0 4 104 0 108 0 90 14 0 104 242

3:30 PM 0 36 3 1 39 0 0 106 0 106 0 87 17 0 104 249

3:45 PM 0 35 2 0 37 0 4 111 0 115 0 83 25 0 108 260

Hourly Total 0 124 10 3 134 0 25 435 0 460 0 349 71 0 420 1014

4:00 PM 0 27 7 2 34 0 2 100 0 102 0 98 17 0 115 251

4:15 PM 0 22 4 0 26 0 10 101 0 111 0 106 28 0 134 271

4:30 PM 0 28 5 0 33 0 3 91 0 94 0 108 23 0 131 258

4:45 PM 0 31 6 0 37 0 6 85 0 91 0 114 35 0 149 277

Hourly Total 0 108 22 2 130 0 21 377 0 398 0 426 103 0 529 1057

5:00 PM 0 30 6 0 36 0 5 101 0 106 0 95 26 0 121 263

5:15 PM 0 35 6 0 41 0 3 126 0 129 0 113 32 0 145 315

5:30 PM 0 25 4 0 29 0 7 104 0 111 0 112 22 0 134 274

5:45 PM 0 16 6 2 22 0 3 101 0 104 0 101 23 0 124 250

Hourly Total 0 106 22 2 128 0 18 432 0 450 0 421 103 0 524 1102

6:00 PM 0 25 4 0 29 0 9 88 0 97 0 89 25 0 114 240

6:15 PM 0 24 8 0 32 0 11 102 0 113 0 86 19 0 105 250

6:30 PM 0 17 8 0 25 0 5 63 0 68 0 87 25 0 112 205

6:45 PM 0 19 5 0 24 0 5 60 0 65 0 57 15 0 72 161

Hourly Total 0 85 25 0 110 0 30 313 0 343 0 319 84 0 403 856

Grand Total 1 1092 235 12 1328 2 263 4209 0 4474 0 4314 965 1 5279 11081

Approach % 0.1 82.2 17.7 - - 0.0 5.9 94.1 - - 0.0 81.7 18.3 - - -

Total % 0.0 9.9 2.1 - 12.0 0.0 2.4 38.0 - 40.4 0.0 38.9 8.7 - 47.6 -

Lights 0 1060 226 - 1286 0 254 3992 - 4246 0 4062 932 - 4994 10526

% Lights 0.0 97.1 96.2 - 96.8 0.0 96.6 94.8 - 94.9 - 94.2 96.6 - 94.6 95.0

Buses 0 5 1 - 6 0 0 44 - 44 0 46 3 - 49 99

% Buses 0.0 0.5 0.4 - 0.5 0.0 0.0 1.0 - 1.0 - 1.1 0.3 - 0.9 0.9

Single-Unit Trucks 0 15 2 - 17 0 9 90 - 99 0 71 14 - 85 201

% Single-Unit Trucks 0.0 1.4 0.9 - 1.3 0.0 3.4 2.1 - 2.2 - 1.6 1.5 - 1.6 1.8

Articulated Trucks 0 4 1 - 5 0 0 9 - 9 0 8 3 - 11 25

% Articulated Trucks 0.0 0.4 0.4 - 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.2 - 0.2 - 0.2 0.3 - 0.2 0.2

Bicycles on Road 1 8 5 - 14 2 0 74 - 76 0 127 13 - 140 230

% Bicycles on Road 100.0 0.7 2.1 - 1.1 100.0 0.0 1.8 - 1.7 - 2.9 1.3 - 2.7 2.1

Pedestrians - - - 12 - - - - 0 - - - - 1 - -

% Pedestrians - - - 100.0 - - - - - - - - - 100.0 - -



 

Kenig Lindgren O'Hara Aboona, Inc.
9575 W. Higgins Rd., Suite 400

Rosemont, Illinois, United States  60018
(847)518-9990

Count Name: Green Bay Road with Westley
Road
Site Code:
Start Date: 07/18/2019
Page No: 3

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data (8:30 AM)

Start Time

Westley Road Green Bay Road Green Bay Road

Eastbound Northbound Southbound

U-Turn Left Right Peds App. Total U-Turn Left Thru Peds App. Total U-Turn Thru Right Peds App. Total Int. Total

8:30 AM 0 25 1 0 26 0 4 97 0 101 0 75 15 0 90 217

8:45 AM 0 15 12 0 27 0 17 103 0 120 0 100 31 0 131 278

9:00 AM 0 17 7 0 24 0 20 95 0 115 0 76 23 0 99 238

9:15 AM 0 25 6 0 31 0 8 106 0 114 0 88 18 0 106 251

Total 0 82 26 0 108 0 49 401 0 450 0 339 87 0 426 984

Approach % 0.0 75.9 24.1 - - 0.0 10.9 89.1 - - 0.0 79.6 20.4 - - -

Total % 0.0 8.3 2.6 - 11.0 0.0 5.0 40.8 - 45.7 0.0 34.5 8.8 - 43.3 -

PHF 0.000 0.820 0.542 - 0.871 0.000 0.613 0.946 - 0.938 0.000 0.848 0.702 - 0.813 0.885

Lights 0 78 26 - 104 0 49 371 - 420 0 328 87 - 415 939

% Lights - 95.1 100.0 - 96.3 - 100.0 92.5 - 93.3 - 96.8 100.0 - 97.4 95.4

Buses 0 2 0 - 2 0 0 11 - 11 0 2 0 - 2 15

% Buses - 2.4 0.0 - 1.9 - 0.0 2.7 - 2.4 - 0.6 0.0 - 0.5 1.5

Single-Unit Trucks 0 2 0 - 2 0 0 14 - 14 0 8 0 - 8 24

% Single-Unit Trucks - 2.4 0.0 - 1.9 - 0.0 3.5 - 3.1 - 2.4 0.0 - 1.9 2.4

Articulated Trucks 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 5 - 5 0 1 0 - 1 6

% Articulated Trucks - 0.0 0.0 - 0.0 - 0.0 1.2 - 1.1 - 0.3 0.0 - 0.2 0.6

Bicycles on Road 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 - 0 0

% Bicycles on Road - 0.0 0.0 - 0.0 - 0.0 0.0 - 0.0 - 0.0 0.0 - 0.0 0.0

Pedestrians - - - 0 - - - - 0 - - - - 0 - -

% Pedestrians - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -



 

Kenig Lindgren O'Hara Aboona, Inc.
9575 W. Higgins Rd., Suite 400

Rosemont, Illinois, United States  60018
(847)518-9990

Count Name: Green Bay Road with Westley
Road
Site Code:
Start Date: 07/18/2019
Page No: 4

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data (4:45 PM)

Start Time

Westley Road Green Bay Road Green Bay Road

Eastbound Northbound Southbound

U-Turn Left Right Peds App. Total U-Turn Left Thru Peds App. Total U-Turn Thru Right Peds App. Total Int. Total

4:45 PM 0 31 6 0 37 0 6 85 0 91 0 114 35 0 149 277

5:00 PM 0 30 6 0 36 0 5 101 0 106 0 95 26 0 121 263

5:15 PM 0 35 6 0 41 0 3 126 0 129 0 113 32 0 145 315

5:30 PM 0 25 4 0 29 0 7 104 0 111 0 112 22 0 134 274

Total 0 121 22 0 143 0 21 416 0 437 0 434 115 0 549 1129

Approach % 0.0 84.6 15.4 - - 0.0 4.8 95.2 - - 0.0 79.1 20.9 - - -

Total % 0.0 10.7 1.9 - 12.7 0.0 1.9 36.8 - 38.7 0.0 38.4 10.2 - 48.6 -

PHF 0.000 0.864 0.917 - 0.872 0.000 0.750 0.825 - 0.847 0.000 0.952 0.821 - 0.921 0.896

Lights 0 119 17 - 136 0 21 400 - 421 0 425 112 - 537 1094

% Lights - 98.3 77.3 - 95.1 - 100.0 96.2 - 96.3 - 97.9 97.4 - 97.8 96.9

Buses 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 1 - 1 0 2 0 - 2 3

% Buses - 0.0 0.0 - 0.0 - 0.0 0.2 - 0.2 - 0.5 0.0 - 0.4 0.3

Single-Unit Trucks 0 1 0 - 1 0 0 7 - 7 0 3 1 - 4 12

% Single-Unit Trucks - 0.8 0.0 - 0.7 - 0.0 1.7 - 1.6 - 0.7 0.9 - 0.7 1.1

Articulated Trucks 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 1 0 - 1 1

% Articulated Trucks - 0.0 0.0 - 0.0 - 0.0 0.0 - 0.0 - 0.2 0.0 - 0.2 0.1

Bicycles on Road 0 1 5 - 6 0 0 8 - 8 0 3 2 - 5 19

% Bicycles on Road - 0.8 22.7 - 4.2 - 0.0 1.9 - 1.8 - 0.7 1.7 - 0.9 1.7

Pedestrians - - - 0 - - - - 0 - - - - 0 - -

% Pedestrians - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -



 

Kenig Lindgren O'Hara Aboona, Inc.
9575 W. Higgins Rd., Suite 400

Rosemont, Illinois, United States  60018
(847)518-9990

Count Name: Westley Road and Green Bay
Road
Site Code:
Start Date: 04/09/2019
Page No: 1

Turning Movement Data

Start Time

Westley Road Green Bay Road Green Bay Road

Eastbound Northbound Southbound

U-Turn Left Right Peds App. Total U-Turn Left Thru Peds App. Total U-Turn Thru Right Peds App. Total Int. Total

7:00 AM 0 15 4 0 19 0 3 30 0 33 0 59 17 0 76 128

7:15 AM 0 12 3 0 15 0 3 43 0 46 0 58 20 0 78 139

7:30 AM 0 6 2 0 8 0 6 62 0 68 0 78 22 0 100 176

7:45 AM 0 16 4 0 20 0 3 50 0 53 0 120 21 0 141 214

Hourly Total 0 49 13 0 62 0 15 185 0 200 0 315 80 0 395 657

8:00 AM 0 13 7 0 20 0 5 64 0 69 0 90 26 0 116 205

8:15 AM 0 19 10 0 29 0 11 75 0 86 0 90 12 0 102 217

8:30 AM 0 16 2 2 18 0 5 83 2 88 0 97 21 0 118 224

8:45 AM 0 17 3 2 20 0 4 68 0 72 0 122 31 0 153 245

Hourly Total 0 65 22 4 87 0 25 290 2 315 0 399 90 0 489 891

*** BREAK *** - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

4:00 PM 0 35 8 0 43 0 3 93 0 96 0 91 23 0 114 253

4:15 PM 0 29 5 0 34 0 7 91 0 98 0 101 30 0 131 263

4:30 PM 0 29 9 1 38 0 3 72 0 75 0 113 30 0 143 256

4:45 PM 0 31 3 1 34 0 6 89 0 95 0 125 21 0 146 275

Hourly Total 0 124 25 2 149 0 19 345 0 364 0 430 104 0 534 1047

5:00 PM 0 29 8 0 37 0 4 96 0 100 0 127 30 0 157 294

5:15 PM 0 25 14 0 39 0 2 109 0 111 0 144 27 0 171 321

5:30 PM 0 26 9 0 35 0 7 91 0 98 0 130 23 0 153 286

5:45 PM 0 30 4 0 34 0 5 98 0 103 0 134 34 0 168 305

Hourly Total 0 110 35 0 145 0 18 394 0 412 0 535 114 0 649 1206

Grand Total 0 348 95 6 443 0 77 1214 2 1291 0 1679 388 0 2067 3801

Approach % 0.0 78.6 21.4 - - 0.0 6.0 94.0 - - 0.0 81.2 18.8 - - -

Total % 0.0 9.2 2.5 - 11.7 0.0 2.0 31.9 - 34.0 0.0 44.2 10.2 - 54.4 -

Lights 0 335 90 - 425 0 75 1162 - 1237 0 1597 374 - 1971 3633

% Lights - 96.3 94.7 - 95.9 - 97.4 95.7 - 95.8 - 95.1 96.4 - 95.4 95.6

Buses 0 1 1 - 2 0 1 9 - 10 0 12 6 - 18 30

% Buses - 0.3 1.1 - 0.5 - 1.3 0.7 - 0.8 - 0.7 1.5 - 0.9 0.8

Single-Unit Trucks 0 3 1 - 4 0 0 20 - 20 0 22 6 - 28 52

% Single-Unit Trucks - 0.9 1.1 - 0.9 - 0.0 1.6 - 1.5 - 1.3 1.5 - 1.4 1.4

Articulated Trucks 0 5 0 - 5 0 0 6 - 6 0 24 1 - 25 36

% Articulated Trucks - 1.4 0.0 - 1.1 - 0.0 0.5 - 0.5 - 1.4 0.3 - 1.2 0.9

Bicycles on Road 0 4 3 - 7 0 1 17 - 18 0 24 1 - 25 50

% Bicycles on Road - 1.1 3.2 - 1.6 - 1.3 1.4 - 1.4 - 1.4 0.3 - 1.2 1.3

Pedestrians - - - 6 - - - - 2 - - - - 0 - -

% Pedestrians - - - 100.0 - - - - 100.0 - - - - - - -



 

Kenig Lindgren O'Hara Aboona, Inc.
9575 W. Higgins Rd., Suite 400

Rosemont, Illinois, United States  60018
(847)518-9990

Count Name: Westley Road and Green Bay
Road
Site Code:
Start Date: 04/09/2019
Page No: 2

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data (8:00 AM)

Start Time

Westley Road Green Bay Road Green Bay Road

Eastbound Northbound Southbound

U-Turn Left Right Peds App. Total U-Turn Left Thru Peds App. Total U-Turn Thru Right Peds App. Total Int. Total

8:00 AM 0 13 7 0 20 0 5 64 0 69 0 90 26 0 116 205

8:15 AM 0 19 10 0 29 0 11 75 0 86 0 90 12 0 102 217

8:30 AM 0 16 2 2 18 0 5 83 2 88 0 97 21 0 118 224

8:45 AM 0 17 3 2 20 0 4 68 0 72 0 122 31 0 153 245

Total 0 65 22 4 87 0 25 290 2 315 0 399 90 0 489 891

Approach % 0.0 74.7 25.3 - - 0.0 7.9 92.1 - - 0.0 81.6 18.4 - - -

Total % 0.0 7.3 2.5 - 9.8 0.0 2.8 32.5 - 35.4 0.0 44.8 10.1 - 54.9 -

PHF 0.000 0.855 0.550 - 0.750 0.000 0.568 0.873 - 0.895 0.000 0.818 0.726 - 0.799 0.909

Lights 0 60 22 - 82 0 24 275 - 299 0 375 85 - 460 841

% Lights - 92.3 100.0 - 94.3 - 96.0 94.8 - 94.9 - 94.0 94.4 - 94.1 94.4

Buses 0 0 0 - 0 0 1 2 - 3 0 3 4 - 7 10

% Buses - 0.0 0.0 - 0.0 - 4.0 0.7 - 1.0 - 0.8 4.4 - 1.4 1.1

Single-Unit Trucks 0 2 0 - 2 0 0 9 - 9 0 10 1 - 11 22

% Single-Unit Trucks - 3.1 0.0 - 2.3 - 0.0 3.1 - 2.9 - 2.5 1.1 - 2.2 2.5

Articulated Trucks 0 1 0 - 1 0 0 1 - 1 0 9 0 - 9 11

% Articulated Trucks - 1.5 0.0 - 1.1 - 0.0 0.3 - 0.3 - 2.3 0.0 - 1.8 1.2

Bicycles on Road 0 2 0 - 2 0 0 3 - 3 0 2 0 - 2 7

% Bicycles on Road - 3.1 0.0 - 2.3 - 0.0 1.0 - 1.0 - 0.5 0.0 - 0.4 0.8

Pedestrians - - - 4 - - - - 2 - - - - 0 - -

% Pedestrians - - - 100.0 - - - - 100.0 - - - - - - -



 

Kenig Lindgren O'Hara Aboona, Inc.
9575 W. Higgins Rd., Suite 400

Rosemont, Illinois, United States  60018
(847)518-9990

Count Name: Westley Road and Green Bay
Road
Site Code:
Start Date: 04/09/2019
Page No: 3

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data (5:00 PM)

Start Time

Westley Road Green Bay Road Green Bay Road

Eastbound Northbound Southbound

U-Turn Left Right Peds App. Total U-Turn Left Thru Peds App. Total U-Turn Thru Right Peds App. Total Int. Total

5:00 PM 0 29 8 0 37 0 4 96 0 100 0 127 30 0 157 294

5:15 PM 0 25 14 0 39 0 2 109 0 111 0 144 27 0 171 321

5:30 PM 0 26 9 0 35 0 7 91 0 98 0 130 23 0 153 286

5:45 PM 0 30 4 0 34 0 5 98 0 103 0 134 34 0 168 305

Total 0 110 35 0 145 0 18 394 0 412 0 535 114 0 649 1206

Approach % 0.0 75.9 24.1 - - 0.0 4.4 95.6 - - 0.0 82.4 17.6 - - -

Total % 0.0 9.1 2.9 - 12.0 0.0 1.5 32.7 - 34.2 0.0 44.4 9.5 - 53.8 -

PHF 0.000 0.917 0.625 - 0.929 0.000 0.643 0.904 - 0.928 0.000 0.929 0.838 - 0.949 0.939

Lights 0 107 33 - 140 0 18 380 - 398 0 525 112 - 637 1175

% Lights - 97.3 94.3 - 96.6 - 100.0 96.4 - 96.6 - 98.1 98.2 - 98.2 97.4

Buses 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 3 - 3 0 3 0 - 3 6

% Buses - 0.0 0.0 - 0.0 - 0.0 0.8 - 0.7 - 0.6 0.0 - 0.5 0.5

Single-Unit Trucks 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 1 - 1 0 2 2 - 4 5

% Single-Unit Trucks - 0.0 0.0 - 0.0 - 0.0 0.3 - 0.2 - 0.4 1.8 - 0.6 0.4

Articulated Trucks 0 3 0 - 3 0 0 2 - 2 0 1 0 - 1 6

% Articulated Trucks - 2.7 0.0 - 2.1 - 0.0 0.5 - 0.5 - 0.2 0.0 - 0.2 0.5

Bicycles on Road 0 0 2 - 2 0 0 8 - 8 0 4 0 - 4 14

% Bicycles on Road - 0.0 5.7 - 1.4 - 0.0 2.0 - 1.9 - 0.7 0.0 - 0.6 1.2

Pedestrians - - - 0 - - - - 0 - - - - 0 - -

% Pedestrians - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -



 

Site Plan 

  





 

Conceptual Roadway Modification Plans 



ONLY

ONLY

DRAWN:

DATE:

CHECKED:

REV:

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

MWDS

7-23-19

FIGURE:  A1

WESTLEY ROAD

G
R
E
E
N
 

B
A

Y
 

R
O

A
D

LAKE-COOK ROAD

NORTHWOOD DRIVE

8-16-19

GREEN BAY ROAD AND WESTLEY ROAD

PROPOSED CONCEPTUAL STRIPING MODIFICATIONS
PROJECT # 19-077

PRELIMINARY

6
7
0
' 

A
D

V
I
S

O
R

Y
 

W
A

R
N
I
N

G
 

D
I
S

T
A

N
C

E

T
A
P
E
R

13
2
' 

L
T

S
T

O
R

A
G
E

115
' 

L
T

3
2
0
' 

L
A

N
E
 

D
R

O
P
 

T
A
P

E
R

2
4
0
' 

A
P
P

R
O

A
C

H
 

T
A
P

E
R

T
A
P

E
R

1
3
2
' 

L
T

S
T

O
R

A
G

E

1
1
5
' 

L
T

1
6
8
'

1" = 100' (22x34)
1" = 200' (11x17)

SCALE:

N

GLENCOE, ILLINOIS

DEVELOPMENT

1801 GREEN BAY ROAD



ONLY

ONLY

WESTLEY RD

DRAWN:

DATE:

CHECKED:

REV:

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

PROJECT # 19-077

MWDS

7-23-19

FIGURE:  A2

WESTLEY ROAD

G
R
E
E
N
 

B
A

Y
 

R
O

A
D

LAKE-COOK ROAD
35

35

30

35

NORTHWOOD DRIVE

GREEN BAY ROAD

PROPOSED SPEED LIMIT AND SIGNAGE MODIFICATIONS

3
0

3
0

SPEED YOUR

XX

8-16-19

PRELIMINARY

N

SCALE: 1" = 200'

GLENCOE, ILLINOIS

DEVELOPMENT

1801 GREEN BAY ROAD



{35457: 002: 02654318.DOCX : }

DECLARATION FOR 1801 GREEN BAY ROAD SUBDIVISION

SUMMARY OF CERTAIN MATERIAL TERMS AND PROVISIONS

The Declaration for 1801 Green Bay Road Subdivision contains the following material 
terms and provisions:

1. It subjects the entire subdivision to the terms of the Declaration, including Lots and 
Outlots.

2. The Outlots will be conveyed to and owned by the Homeowners Association (HOA).

3. The HOA will provide various maintenance services to the Outlots and Lots, including 
the detention basins, the monument signs, internal park areas, perimeter fencing, and the 
Storm Water Drainage System.

4. The HOA will adopt budgets for providing the services which the HOA is required to 
provide and for building up reserves to pay for periodic major repairs or replacements to 
certain areas maintained by the HOA.  Each Owner will be assessed periodically to pay 
the costs provided for in the budget and build up reserves.  The failure to pay the 
assessments will result in a lien being placed on the delinquent Owner’s Lot which can be 
foreclosed by the HOA. 

5. The Village will have the right to step in if an Owner or the HOA is not providing 
maintenance provided for in the Declaration and undertake the necessary maintenance 
and charge the Owner or the HOA the cost thereof, which, if not paid, could give rise to a 
lien against the Lot of an Owner or all Lots, depending on who is responsible for doing 
the work or paying for it.  

6. The rights granted to the Village under the Declaration cannot be amended without the 
Village’s consent.



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 }

THIS INSTRUMENT PREPARED
BY AND SHOULD BE RETURNED
TO:

Brian Meltzer
MELTZER, PURTILL & STELLE LLC
1515 East Woodfield Road
Second Floor
Schaumburg, Illinois  60173-5431

PINs:  See Exhibit A

DECLARATION FOR 1801 GREEN BAY ROAD SUBDIVISION

TABLE OF CONTENTS
ARTICLE ONE Definitions ........................................................................................................................................4

1.01  ASSOCIATION .................................................................................................................................................4
1.02  CHARGES .........................................................................................................................................................4
1.03  COMMUNITY AREA.......................................................................................................................................4
1.04  COMMUNITY ASSESSMENT ........................................................................................................................5
1.05  COMMUNITY EXPENSES..............................................................................................................................5
1.06  COUNTY ...........................................................................................................................................................5
1.07  DECLARANT ...................................................................................................................................................5
1.08  DECLARANT’S DEVELOPMENT PLAN......................................................................................................5
1.09  DECLARATION ...............................................................................................................................................5
1.10  FIRST MORTGAGEE.......................................................................................................................................5
1.11  HOME................................................................................................................................................................5
1.12  LOT....................................................................................................................................................................5
1.13  MANAGERS .....................................................................................................................................................5
1.14  MUNICIPALITY...............................................................................................................................................5
1.15  OPERATING AGREEMENT ...........................................................................................................................5
1.16  OWNER .............................................................................................................................................................5
1.17  PERSON ............................................................................................................................................................6
1.18  PLAT OF SUBDIVISION .................................................................................................................................6
1.19  PREMISES.........................................................................................................................................................6
1.20  RECORD ...........................................................................................................................................................6
1.21  RESIDENT ........................................................................................................................................................6
1.22  STORM WATER DRAINAGE SYSTEM ........................................................................................................6
1.23  TURNOVER DATE ..........................................................................................................................................6
1.24  VOTING MEMBER ..........................................................................................................................................6

ARTICLE TWO Scope of Declaration....................................................................................................................6

2.01  PROPERTY SUBJECT TO DECLARATION..................................................................................................6
2.02  CONVEYANCES SUBJECT TO DECLARATION ........................................................................................6
2.03  DURATION.......................................................................................................................................................6
2.04  LOT CONVEYANCE .......................................................................................................................................7
2.05  ACCESS EASEMENT ......................................................................................................................................7
2.06  RIGHT OF ENJOYMENT ................................................................................................................................7
2.07  DELEGATION OF USE ...................................................................................................................................7
2.08  RULES AND REGULATIONS ........................................................................................................................7
2.09  UTILITY EASEMENTS ...................................................................................................................................7

ABOVE SPACE FOR RECORDER’S USE ONLY



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 } 2

2.10  EASEMENTS, LEASES, LICENSES AND CONCESSIONS.........................................................................7
2.11  ASSOCIATION'S ACCESS ..............................................................................................................................8
2.12  NO DEDICATION TO PUBLIC USE ..............................................................................................................8
2.13  OWNERSHIP OF COMMUNITY AREA ........................................................................................................8
2.14  REAL ESTATE TAXES FOR COMMUNITY AREA.....................................................................................8
2.15  LEASE OF HOME ............................................................................................................................................8
2.16  EASEMENT FOR ENCROACHMENT ...........................................................................................................9

ARTICLE THREE Maintenance.................................................................................................................................9

3.01  IN GENERAL....................................................................................................................................................9
3.02  MAINTENANCE, REPAIR AND REPLACEMENT BY ASSOCIATION ....................................................9
3.03  CERTAIN UTILITY COSTS ..........................................................................................................................10
3.04  DAMAGE BY RESIDENT .............................................................................................................................10
3.05  ALTERATIONS, ADDITIONS OR IMPROVEMENTS TO THE COMMUNITY AREA ..........................10
3.06  ALTERATIONS, ADDITIONS OR IMPROVEMENTS TO LOTS..............................................................10
3.07  ADDITIONAL SERVICES.............................................................................................................................11

ARTICLE FOUR Insurance/Condemnation ...........................................................................................................11

4.01  COMMUNITY AREA.....................................................................................................................................11
4.02  CONDEMNATION .........................................................................................................................................12

ARTICLE FIVE The Association .........................................................................................................................12

5.01  IN GENERAL..................................................................................................................................................12
5.02  MEMBERSHIP................................................................................................................................................12
5.03  VOTING MEMBERS......................................................................................................................................12
5.04  MANAGERS ...................................................................................................................................................13
5.05  VOTING RIGHTS...........................................................................................................................................13
5.06  DIRECTOR AND OFFICER LIABILITY......................................................................................................13
5.07  MANAGING AGENT.....................................................................................................................................13
5.08  DISSOLUTION ...............................................................................................................................................14
5.09  LITIGATION...................................................................................................................................................14

ARTICLE SIX Assessments ...................................................................................................................................14

6.01  PURPOSE OF ASSESSMENTS .....................................................................................................................14
6.02  COMMUNITY ASSESSMENT ......................................................................................................................14
6.03  PAYMENT OF COMMUNITY ASSESSMENT............................................................................................15
6.04  REVISED ASSESSMENT ..............................................................................................................................15
6.05  SPECIAL ASSESSMENT...............................................................................................................................16
6.06  CAPITAL RESERVE ......................................................................................................................................16
6.07  INITIAL CAPITAL CONTRIBUTION ..........................................................................................................16
6.08  PAYMENT OF ASSESSMENTS ...................................................................................................................17

ARTICLE SEVEN Collection of Charges and Remedies for Breach or Violation ..................................................17

7.01  CREATION OF LIEN AND PERSONAL OBLIGATION ............................................................................17
7.02  COLLECTION OF CHARGES.......................................................................................................................17
7.03  NON-PAYMENT OF CHARGES...................................................................................................................17
7.04  LIEN FOR CHARGES SUBORDINATED TO MORTGAGES....................................................................17
7.05  SELF-HELP BY MANAGERS .......................................................................................................................18
7.06  OTHER REMEDIES OF THE MANAGERS .................................................................................................18
7.07  COSTS AND EXPENSES...............................................................................................................................18
7.08  ENFORCEMENT BY OWNERS....................................................................................................................18

ARTICLE EIGHT Use Restrictions .........................................................................................................................19

8.01  INDUSTRY/SIGNS.........................................................................................................................................19
8.02  UNSIGHTLY USES ........................................................................................................................................19
8.03  SATELLITE DISHES/ANTENNAE...............................................................................................................19
8.04  RESIDENTIAL USE ONLY ...........................................................................................................................19



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 } 3

8.05  PARKING........................................................................................................................................................20
8.06  OBSTRUCTIONS ...........................................................................................................................................20
8.07  PETS ................................................................................................................................................................20
8.08  NO NUISANCE...............................................................................................................................................20
8.09  HAZARDOUS ACTIONS OR MATERIALS ................................................................................................20
8.10  WATERING ....................................................................................................................................................20
8.11  RULES AND REGULATIONS ......................................................................................................................20
8.12  PROHIBITED ALTERATIONS AND PLAY EQUIPMENT ........................................................................20
8.13  FENCING ........................................................................................................................................................21

ARTICLE NINE Declarant's Reserved Rights and Special Provisions Covering Development Period ...............21

9.01  IN GENERAL..................................................................................................................................................21
9.02  PROMOTION OF PROJECT..........................................................................................................................21
9.03  CONSTRUCTION ON PREMISES................................................................................................................21
9.04  GRANT OF EASEMENTS AND DEDICATIONS........................................................................................22
9.05  DECLARANT CONTROL OF ASSOCIATION............................................................................................22
9.06  OTHER RIGHTS.............................................................................................................................................22
9.07  ASSIGNMENT BY DECLARANT ................................................................................................................22
9.08 ARCHITECTURAL CONTROLS ...................................................................................................................22

ARTICLE TEN Amendment ....................................................................................................................................23

10.01  SPECIAL AMENDMENTS ..........................................................................................................................23
10.02  AMENDMENT..............................................................................................................................................23

ARTICLE ELEVEN First Mortgagees Rights ..........................................................................................................24

11.01  NOTICE TO FIRST MORTGAGEES ..........................................................................................................24
11.02  CONSENT OF FIRST MORTGAGEES.......................................................................................................24
11.03  INSURANCE PROCEEDS/CONDEMNATION AWARDS .......................................................................25

ARTICLE TWELVE Miscellaneous.........................................................................................................................25

12.01  NOTICES.......................................................................................................................................................25
12.02  CAPTIONS ....................................................................................................................................................25
12.03  SEVERABILITY ...........................................................................................................................................26
12.04  PERPETUITIES AND OTHER INVALIDITY ............................................................................................26
12.05  TITLE HOLDING LAND TRUST................................................................................................................26
12.06  WAIVER OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF HABITABILITY AND OTHER WARRANTIES..................26



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 } 4

DECLARATION FOR ___________________

This Declaration is made by ____________________, an Illinois limited liability 
company ("Declarant"). 

R E C I T A L S

Declarant is the record title holder of the Premises which is legally described in 
Exhibit A hereto.  The Premises is to be the site of a single family home development called 
"1801 Green Bay Road Subdivision" (the "Development").  The Development will include 
detached single family dwelling units and certain common areas.  With the Recording hereof, 
Declarant is subjecting the Premises to the provisions of this Declaration. 

Certain portions of the Premises are designated as Lots and other portions are 
designated as Community Area.  The Declarant has formed (or will form) the Association 
under the Illinois Limited Liability Company Act.  The Association shall have the 
responsibility for administering and maintaining the Community Area and shall set budgets 
and fix assessments to pay the expenses incurred in connection with such responsibility.  Each 
Owner of a Lot shall be a member of the Association and shall be responsible for paying 
assessments with respect to the Lot owned by such Owner.  

During the construction and marketing of the Development, the Declarant will retain 
certain rights set forth in this Declaration, which rights shall include, without limitation, the 
right, prior to the Turnover Date, to manage the affairs of the Association or to designate the 
Managers of the Association and the right to come upon the Premises in connection with 
Declarant's efforts to sell Lots and other rights reserved in Article Nine and in the Operating 
Agreement.  

NOW, THEREFORE, the Declarant hereby declares as follows:  

ARTICLE ONE
Definitions

For the purpose of brevity and clarity, certain words and terms used in this Declaration 
are defined as follows:  

1.01  ASSOCIATION:  The 1801 Green Bay Road Subdivision Homeowners 
Association, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company, its successors and assigns.

1.02  CHARGES:  The Community Assessment, any special assessment levied by the 
Association and/or any other charges or payments which an Owner is required to pay or for 
which an Owner is liable under this Declaration or the Operating Agreement.  

1.03  COMMUNITY AREA:  Those portions of the Premises which are described and 
designated as “Community Area” in Part II of Exhibit A hereto, together with all 
improvements located above and below the ground and rights appurtenant thereto.  



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 } 5

1.04  COMMUNITY ASSESSMENT:  The amounts which the Association shall 
assess and collect from the Owners to pay the Community Expenses and accumulate reserves 
for such expenses, as more fully described in Article Six.  

1.05  COMMUNITY EXPENSES:  The expenses of administration (including 
management and professional services), operation, maintenance, repair, replacement and 
landscaping provided by the Association hereunder; premiums for insurance policies 
maintained by the Association hereunder; the cost of, and the expenses incurred for, the 
maintenance, repair and replacement of personal property acquired and used by the 
Association in connection with the duties of the Association hereunder; and any other 
expenses lawfully incurred by the Association for the common benefit of all of the Owners.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Community Expenses shall not include any payments made 
out of Capital Reserves.

1.06  COUNTY: Cook County, Illinois or any political entity which may from time to 
time be empowered to perform the functions or exercise the powers vested in the County as of 
the Recording of this Declaration.

1.07  DECLARANT: _____________, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company, its 
successors and assigns.

1.08  DECLARANT’S DEVELOPMENT PLAN:  Declarant’s current plan for the 
Development which shall be maintained by the Declarant at its principal place of business and 
may be changed at any time, or from time to time, without notice.

1.09  DECLARATION:  This instrument with all Exhibits hereto, as amended or 
supplemented from time to time.  

1.10  FIRST MORTGAGEE:  The holder of a bona fide first mortgage, first trust deed 
or equivalent security interest covering a Lot.

1.11  HOME:  That portion of a Lot which is improved with a single family home.

1.12  LOT:  Each subdivided lot designated as a “Lot” in Part I of Exhibit A hereto, 
together with all improvements thereon and thereto.

1.13  MANAGERS:  The manager or managers from time to time of the Association, 
as appointed or elected pursuant to this Declaration or the Operating Agreement.

1.14  MUNICIPALITY:  The Village of Glencoe, an Illinois municipal corporation.

1.15  OPERATING AGREEMENT:  The Operating Agreement of the Association 
which is attached hereto as Exhibit C.

1.16  OWNER:  A Record owner, whether one or more persons, of fee simple title to a 
Lot, including contract seller, but excluding those having such interest merely as security for 
the performance of an obligation.  The Declarant shall be deemed to be an Owner with respect 
to each Lot owned by the Declarant.   



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 } 6

1.17  PERSON:  A natural individual, corporation, partnership, trustee or other legal 
entity capable of holding title to real property.  

1.18  PLAT OF SUBDIVISION:  The Plat of Subdivision for ____________, 
Recorded on _____________, as Document ____________, a copy of which is attached 
hereto as Exhibit B. 

1.19  PREMISES:  The real estate described in Exhibit A hereto with all improvements 
thereon and rights appurtenant thereto. 

1.20  RECORD:  To record in the office of the Recorder of Deeds for the County.  

1.21  RESIDENT:  An individual who resides in a Home.

1.22  STORM WATER DRAINAGE SYSTEM: Those improvements on the Premises 
which provide for the transport of storm water from the Lots to the Community Area and to 
storm sewers, including, without limitation, and the ditches, swales, manholes, piping, and 
control valves which make up the system.  Portions of the Storm Water Drainage System are 
located on portions of Lots which are not part of the Community Area hereunder. 

1.23  TURNOVER DATE:  The date on which the right of the Declarant to manage 
the affairs of the Association is terminated under Section 9.05. 

1.24  VOTING MEMBER:  The individual who shall be entitled to vote in person or 
by proxy at meetings of the Owners, as more fully set forth in Article Five.  

ARTICLE TWO
Scope of Declaration

2.01  PROPERTY SUBJECT TO DECLARATION:  Declarant, as the owner of fee 
simple title to the Premises, expressly intends to and by Recording this Declaration, does 
hereby subject the Premises to the provisions of this Declaration.  

2.02  CONVEYANCES SUBJECT TO DECLARATION:  All easements, restrictions, 
conditions, covenants, reservations, liens, charges, rights, benefits, and privileges which are 
granted, created, reserved or declared by this Declaration shall be deemed to be covenants 
appurtenant, running with the land and shall at all times inure to the benefit of and be binding 
on any Person having at any time any interest or estate in the Premises, and their respective 
heirs, successors, personal representatives or assigns, regardless of whether the deed or other 
instrument which creates or conveys the interest makes reference to this Declaration.

2.03  DURATION:  Except as otherwise specifically provided herein the covenants, 
conditions, restrictions, easements, reservations, liens, and charges, which are granted, 
created, reserved or declared by this Declaration shall be appurtenant to and shall run with and 
bind the land for a period of forty (40) years from the date of Recording of this Declaration 
and for successive periods of ten (10) years each unless revoked, changed or amended in 
whole or in part as provided in Section 10.02.



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 } 7

2.04  LOT CONVEYANCE:  Once a Lot has been conveyed by the Declarant to a 
bona fide purchaser for value, then any subsequent conveyance or transfer of ownership of the 
Lot shall be of the entire Lot and there shall be no conveyance or transfer of a portion of the 
Lot without the prior written consent of the Managers.  

2.05  ACCESS EASEMENT:  

(a)  Each Owner of a Lot shall have a non-exclusive perpetual easement for ingress to 
and egress from his Lot to public ways and over and across walkways located on the 
Community Area, if any, which easement shall run with the land and be appurtenant to and 
pass with title to every Lot.  

(b)  The Municipality or any other governmental authority which has jurisdiction over 
the Premises shall have a non-exclusive easement of access over driveways and walkways 
located on the Community Area, if any, for police, fire, ambulance, waste removal, or for the 
purpose of furnishing municipal or emergency services to the Premises.  

(c)  The Association, its employees, agents and contractors, shall have the right of 
ingress to egress and from the Community Area over portions of each Lot not improved with a 
Home, and the right to store equipment on the Community Area, for the purpose of furnishing 
any maintenance, repairs or replacements to portions of the Premises provided for herein.

2.06  RIGHT OF ENJOYMENT:  Each Owner shall have the non-exclusive right and 
easement to use and enjoy the Community Area and the exclusive right to use and enjoy the 
Owner’s Lot.  Such rights and easements shall run with the land, be appurtenant to and pass 
with title to every Lot, and shall be subject to and governed by the provisions of this 
Declaration, the Operating Agreement, and the reasonable rules and regulations from time to 
time adopted by the Association.  

2.07  DELEGATION OF USE:  Subject to the provisions of this Declaration, the 
Operating Agreement, and the reasonable rules and regulations from time to time adopted by 
the Association, any Owner may delegate his right to use and enjoy the Community Area to 
Residents of the Owner’s Lot.  An Owner shall delegate such rights to tenants and contract 
purchasers of the Owner’s Lot who are Residents.  

2.08  RULES AND REGULATIONS:  The use and enjoyment of the Community 
Area and the Lots shall at all times be subject to reasonable rules and regulations duly adopted 
by the Managers from time to time.  

2.09  UTILITY EASEMENTS:  The Municipality and all public and private utilities 
(including cable companies) serving the Premises are hereby granted the right to lay, 
construct, renew, operate, and maintain conduits, cables, pipes, wires, transformers, switching 
apparatus and other equipment, into and through the Community Area for the purpose of 
providing utility or other services to the Premises.  

2.10  EASEMENTS, LEASES, LICENSES AND CONCESSIONS:  The Association 
shall have the right and authority from time to time to lease or grant easements, licenses, or 
concessions with regard to any portions or all of the Community Area for such uses and 



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 } 8

purposes as the Managers deem to be in the best interests of the Owners and which are not 
prohibited hereunder, including, without limitation, the right to grant easements for utilities or 
any other purpose which the Managers deem to be in the best interests of the Owners.  Any 
and all proceeds from leases, easements, licenses or concessions with respect to the 
Community Area shall be used to pay the Community Expenses.  Each person, by acceptance 
of a deed, mortgage, trust deed, other evidence of obligation, or other instrument relating to a 
Lot, shall be deemed to grant a power coupled with an interest to the Managers, as attorney-
in-fact, to grant, dedicate, cancel, alter or otherwise change the easements provided for in this 
Section.  Any instrument executed pursuant to the power granted herein shall be executed by 
the President and attested to by the Secretary of the Association and duly Recorded.  

2.11  ASSOCIATION'S ACCESS:  The Association shall have the right and power to 
come onto any Lot for the purpose of furnishing the services required to be furnished 
hereunder, or enforcing its rights and powers hereunder.

2.12  NO DEDICATION TO PUBLIC USE:  Except for easements granted or 
dedications made as permitted in Section 2.10, nothing contained in this Declaration shall be 
construed or be deemed to constitute a dedication, express or implied, of any part of the 
Community Area to or for any public use or purpose whatsoever.

2.13  OWNERSHIP OF COMMUNITY AREA:  The Community Area shall be 
conveyed to the Association by Declarant free and clear of any mortgage or trust deed 
whatsoever on or before the Turnover Date; provided, that, if any Community Area is made 
subject to this Declaration after the Turnover Date, such Community Area shall be conveyed 
to the Association free and clear of any mortgage or trust deed whatsoever simultaneously 
with such Community Area being made subject to this Declaration. 

2.14  REAL ESTATE TAXES FOR COMMUNITY AREA:  If a tax bill is issued with 
respect to Community Area which is made subject to this Declaration in the middle of a tax 
year (regardless of when it is conveyed to the Association), then the tax bill shall be prorated 
so that the Declarant shall be responsible for the payment of that portion of the tax bill from 
January 1st of the tax year to the date that such Community Area is made subject to this 
Declaration, and the Association shall be responsible for the balance of the tax bill for such 
year, and any tax bills for subsequent years.  

2.15  LEASE OF HOME:  Any Owner shall have the right to lease all (and not less 
than all) of his Home subject to the following provisions:

(a)  No Home shall be leased for less than six (6) months or for hotel or 
transient purposes; and 

(b)  Any lease shall be in writing and shall provide that such lease shall be 
subject to the terms of this Declaration and that any failure of the lessee to comply 
with the terms of this Declaration shall be a default under the lease.  A lessee shall be 
bound by the provisions hereof regardless of whether the lease specifically refers to 
this Declaration.



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 } 9

(c)  Each Owner who leases his Home shall be required to furnish the 
Association with a copy of the lease and shall promptly notify the Association of any 
change in status of the lease.  The Association shall maintain a record of such 
information with respect to all leased Homes.

2.16  EASEMENT FOR ENCROACHMENT:  For purposes hereof, a “permitted 
encroachment” is a structure (such as a fence, retaining wall or similar improvement) which 
extends, unintentionally, by reason of the construction, settlement or shifting, from a Lot onto 
adjacent Community Area or an adjacent Lot, a distance of not more than one foot, as 
measured from any point on the common boundary along a line perpendicular to such 
boundary.  There shall be deemed to be an easement in favor of and appurtenant to any 
permitted encroachment between a Lot and any adjacent Community Area, and between 
adjacent Lots, for the continuance, maintenance, repair and replacement of the permitted 
encroachment.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall an easement exist if such 
encroachment occurred due to the intentional, willful, or negligent conduct of a Person.  In 
furtherance of the foregoing, to the extent a structure which is a permitted encroachment is 
removed and rebuilt, the easement created hereunder shall terminate and the new structure 
shall be constructed entirely on Lot of the Owner installing the new structure.  The Person 
who is responsible for the maintenance of any encroaching improvement for which an 
easement for continuance, maintenance, repair and replacement thereof is granted under this 
Section shall continue to be responsible for the maintenance of such permitted encroachment, 
and the Person who is responsible for the maintenance of the real estate upon which such 
permitted encroachment exists shall not have the duty to maintain, repair or replace any such 
permitted encroachment.

ARTICLE THREE
Maintenance

3.01  IN GENERAL:  The restrictions and limitations contained in this Article shall be 
subject to the rights of the Declarant set forth in Article Nine.  

3.02  MAINTENANCE, REPAIR AND REPLACEMENT BY ASSOCIATION:
The Association shall furnish the following maintenance, repairs and replacements, and the 
cost thereof shall be part of the Community Expenses:

(a)  Grass cutting and added planting, replanting, care and maintenance of 
trees, shrubs, flowers, grass and all other landscaping on the Premises; however, the 
watering of landscaping shall be furnished by the Owners and/or Residents pursuant to 
rules, regulations and procedures adopted from time to time by the Managers; 

(b)  Snow removal from the driveway and walkways which serve each Lot; 

(c)  Maintenance, repair and replacement of those portions of the Premises 
which are part of the Storm Sewer System, the detention/retention basins and the fence 
installed by the Declarant around the perimeter of the Development; and

(d)  Maintenance, repair and replacement of the entry monuments and internal 
park improvements located on the Premises. 



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 } 10

3.03  CERTAIN UTILITY COSTS:  Certain utility costs incurred in connection with 
the use, operation and maintenance of the Community Area may not be separately metered 
and billed to the Association.  If the cost for any such utility is metered and charged to 
individual Homes rather than being separately metered and charged to the Association, then 
the following shall apply:

(a)  If in the opinion of the Managers, each Owner is sharing in a fair and 
equitable manner the cost for such service, then no adjustment shall be made and each 
Owner shall pay his own bill; or 

(b)  If in the opinion of the Managers, an Owner is being charged 
disproportionately for costs allocable to the Community Area, then the Association 
shall pay, or reimburse such Owner, an amount equal to the portion of the costs which 
in the reasonable determination of the Managers is properly allocable to the 
Community Area and the amount thereof shall be a Community Expense.  

Any determinations or allocations made hereunder by the Managers shall be final and binding 
on all parties.

3.04  DAMAGE BY RESIDENT:  If, due to the act or omission of a Resident of a 
Home, or of a household pet or guest or other authorized occupant or invitee of the Owner, 
damage shall be caused to the Community Area and maintenance, repairs or replacements 
shall be required thereby, which would otherwise be a Community Expense, then the Owner 
of the Lot shall pay for such damage and such maintenance, repairs and replacements, as may 
be determined by the Managers, to the extent not covered by insurance carried by the 
Association.  

3.05  ALTERATIONS, ADDITIONS OR IMPROVEMENTS TO THE 
COMMUNITY AREA:   Subject to the provisions of Article Nine, no alterations, additions or 
improvements shall be made to the Community Area without the prior approval of the 
Managers and, if required under applicable Municipal ordinances, the approval of the 
Municipality. The Association may cause alterations, additions or improvements to be made 
to the Community Area and the cost thereof may be paid from a special assessment, as more 
fully described in Section 6.05.  

3.06  ALTERATIONS, ADDITIONS OR IMPROVEMENTS TO LOTS:  No 
additions, alterations or improvements shall be made to any Lot or any part of Home which is 
visible from outside the Home by an Owner (i) without the prior written consent of the 
Managers and, until the Declarant no longer owns or controls title to any portion of the 
Premises, the Declarant, or (ii) which in not in compliance with applicable ordinances of the 
Municipality.  The Managers may (but shall not be required to) condition its consent to the 
making of an addition, alteration or improvement to a Lot or Home upon the Owner’s 
agreement either to be solely responsible for the maintenance of such addition, alteration or 
improvement, subject to such reasonable standards as the Managers may from time to time 
establish.  If an addition, alteration or improvement which requires the consent of the 
Managers and/or Declarant hereunder is made to a Lot or a Home by an Owner without the 
prior written consent of the Managers and/or Declarant, as applicable, then the Managers 



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 } 11

and/or the Declarant, as applicable, may, in its or their discretion, take one of the following 
actions: 

(a)  Require the Owner to remove the addition, alteration or improvement and 
restore the Lot to its original condition, all at the Owner's expense and, if the Owner 
refuses or fails to properly perform the work, cause such work to be done and charge 
the Owner for the cost thereof; or 

(b)  Ratify the action taken by the Owner, which ratification may be 
conditioned upon such conditions as determined by the Managers in its or their sole 
discretion. 

3.07  ADDITIONAL SERVICES:  In addition to the services required to be provided 
by the Association under this Declaration, the Association may furnish services relating to the 
use and maintenance of a Lot or Lots such as, for example, maintenance or repairs to the 
Home or driveway or walkways on the Lot and may charge the cost of providing such services 
to the Owner or Owners who benefit from the service. The Managers may charge the Owner 
of each Lot which receives any such service for the reasonable cost of providing such service, 
which may be allocated in equal shares for each of the Lots which is served, or on such other 
reasonable basis as the Managers may deem appropriate.  Any amount charged to an Owner 
for services furnished pursuant to this Section shall be due and payable at such time or times 
as designated by the Managers and failure to pay any such amount shall give rise to a lien 
provided for in Section 7.01.  

ARTICLE FOUR
Insurance/Condemnation

4.01  COMMUNITY AREA INSURANCE:  

(a)  The Association shall have the authority to and shall obtain fire and all risk 
coverage insurance covering the improvements, if any, to the Community Area and other 
areas and improvements required to be maintained by the Association (based on current 
replacement cost for the full insurable replacement value) of such improvements.  

(b)  The Association shall have the authority to and shall obtain comprehensive public 
liability insurance, including liability for injuries to and death of persons, and property 
damage, in such limits as it shall deem desirable, and workers’ compensation insurance and 
other liability insurance as it may deem desirable, insuring each Owner, the Association, its 
Managers, the Declarant, the managing agent, if any, and their respective employees and 
agents, as their interests may appear, from liability resulting from an occurrence on or in 
connection with, the Community Area and other areas required to be maintained by the 
Association.  The Managers may, in its or their discretion, obtain any other insurance which it 
deems advisable including, without limitation, insurance covering the Managers from liability 
for good faith actions beyond the scope of their respective authorities and covering the 
indemnity set forth in Section 5.06.  Such insurance coverage shall include cross liability 
claims of one or more insured parties.  



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 } 12

(c)  Fidelity bonds indemnifying the Association, the Managers and the Owners for 
loss of funds resulting from fraudulent or dishonest acts of any employee of the Association or 
of any other person handling funds of the Association may be obtained by the Association in 
such amounts as the Managers may deem desirable.  

(d)  The premiums for any insurance obtained under this Section shall be Community 
Expenses.  

4.02  CONDEMNATION:  In the case of a taking or condemnation by competent 
authority of any part of the Community Area, the proceeds awarded in such condemnation 
shall be paid to the Association and such proceeds, together with any Community Area 
Capital Reserve being held for such part of the Community Area, shall, in the discretion of the 
Managers, either (i) be applied to pay the Community Expenses, (ii) be distributed to the 
Owners and their respective mortgagees, as their interests may appear, in equal shares, or (iii) 
be used to acquire additional real estate to be used and maintained for the mutual benefit of all 
Owners, as Community Area under this Declaration.  Any acquisition by the Association 
pursuant to this Section of real estate which shall become Community Area hereunder shall 
not become effective unless and until a supplement to this Declaration, which refers to this 
Section and legally describes the real estate affected, is executed by a Manager and Recorded.  

ARTICLE FIVE
The Association

5.01  IN GENERAL:  Declarant has caused the Association to be organized as a 
limited liability company under Illinois law.  The Association shall be the governing body for 
all of the Owners for the limited purposes of the administration, operation, maintenance, 
repair and replacement of the Community Area as provided herein.  

5.02  MEMBERSHIP  Each Owner shall be a member of the Association.  There shall 
be one membership per Lot.  There shall be two classes of membership.  The Declarant shall 
be the “Class B Member” with respect to Lots which it owns from time to time.  Each Owner 
other than the Declarant shall be a “Class A Member” with respect to each Lot which it owns.  
Membership shall be appurtenant to and may not be separated from ownership of a Lot.  
Ownership of a Lot shall be the sole qualification for membership.  The Association shall be 
given written notice of the change of ownership of a Lot within ten (10) days after such 
change.  

5.03  VOTING MEMBERS:  Subject to the provisions of Section 9.05, voting rights of 
the members of the Association shall be vested exclusively in the Voting Members.  One 
individual shall be designated as the "Voting Member" for each Lot.  The Voting Member or 
his proxy shall be the individual who shall be entitled to vote at meetings of the Owners.  If 
the Record ownership of a Lot shall be in more than one person, or if an Owner is a trustee, 
corporation, partnership or other legal entity, then the Voting Member for the Lot shall be 
designated by such Owner or Owners in writing to the Managers and if in the case of multiple 
individual Owners no designation is given, then the Managers at its or their election may 
recognize an individual Owner of the Lot as the Voting Member for such Lot.  



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 } 13

5.04  MANAGERS:  Prior to the Turnover Date, the Managers shall be the Declarant, 
or one or more entities or persons designated by the Declarant from time to time, who need 
not be Owners or Voting Members.  After the Turnover Date, the Managers shall consist of 
that number of individuals provided for in the Operating Agreement, each of whom shall be 
an Owner or Voting Member.  

5.05  VOTING RIGHTS:  Prior to the Turnover Date, all of the voting rights at each 
meeting of the Association shall be vested exclusively in the Class B Member, the Declarant, 
and the Owners (other than Declarant) shall have no voting rights.  From and after the 
Turnover Date, all of the voting rights at any meeting of the Association shall be vested in the 
Voting Members and each Voting Member who represents a Lot owned by a Class A Member 
shall have one vote for each Lot which the Voting Member represents and the Declarant, as 
the Class B Member, shall have ____(__) votes for each Lot which it owns.  From and after 
the Turnover Date any action may be taken by the Voting Members at any meeting at which a 
quorum is present (as provided in the Operating Agreement) upon an affirmative vote of a 
majority of the votes represented at such meeting by Voting Members and the Declarant, 
except as otherwise provided herein or in the Operating Agreement. 

5.06  MANAGERS’ LIABILITY:  The Managers of the Association shall not be 
personally liable to the Association or the Owners for any mistake of judgment or for any 
other acts or omissions of any nature whatsoever as such Managers except for any acts or 
omissions found by a court to constitute criminal conduct, gross negligence or fraud.  The 
Association shall indemnify and hold harmless the Declarant, Declarant and each of the 
Managers, and its or their, executors or administrators, against all contractual and other 
liabilities to the Association, the Owners or others arising out of contracts made by or other 
acts of the Managers on behalf of the Owners or the Association or arising out of their status 
as Managers unless any such contract or act shall have been made criminally, fraudulently or 
with gross negligence.  It is intended that the foregoing indemnification shall include 
indemnification against all costs and expenses (including, but not limited to, counsel fees, 
amounts of judgments paid and amounts paid in settlement) actually and reasonably incurred 
in connection with the defense of any claim, action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, 
criminal, administrative, or other in which any such Managers may be involved by virtue of 
such person being or having been such a Manager; provided, however, that such indemnity 
shall not be operative with respect to (i) any matter as to which such person shall have been 
finally adjudged in such action, suit or proceeding to be liable for criminal conduct, gross 
negligence or fraud in the performance of his duties as such Manager, or (ii) any matter settled 
or compromised, unless, in the opinion of independent counsel selected by or in a manner 
determined by the Managers, there is not reasonable ground for such person being adjudged 
liable for criminal conduct, gross negligence or fraud in the performance of his duties as such 
Manager.  

5.07  MANAGING AGENT:  The Declarant (or an entity controlled by the Declarant) 
may be engaged by the Association to act as the managing agent for the Association and as 
managing agent shall be paid a reasonable fee for its services as fixed by a written agreement 
between the Association and the Declarant (or an entity controlled by the Declarant).  Any 
management agreement entered into by the Association prior to the Turnover Date shall have 
a term of not more than two years and shall be terminable by the Association without payment 
of a termination fee on 90 days written notice.  



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 } 14

5.08  DISSOLUTION.  Although it is currently anticipated that the Association will 
own and maintain the Community Area, it is possible that a governmental agency may accept 
a dedication or conveyance of all of the Community Area and accept responsibility for 
maintenance of the Community Area.  If that occurs and the Association has no maintenance 
responsibilities, then at the option of the Declarant (which may be exercised at any time prior 
to the Turnover Date) or at the option of the members of the Association (which may be 
exercised by action of the members after the Turnover Date), the Association shall be 
dissolved and liquidated and thereafter the provisions of this Declaration which deal with the 
powers and duties of the Association shall be null and void and of no further force and effect.  
Any distribution of assets of the Association shall be made to the Owners of Lots in equal 
amounts for each Lot owned.

5.09  LITIGATION:  No judicial or administrative proceedings shall be commenced or 
prosecuted by the Association without first holding a special meeting of the members and 
obtaining the affirmative vote of Voting Members representing at least seventy-five percent 
(75%) of the Lots to the commencement and prosecution of the proposed action.  This Section 
shall not apply to (a) actions brought by the Association to enforce the provisions of this 
Declaration, the Operating Agreement or rules and regulations adopted by the Managers 
(including, without limitation, an action to recover Charges or to foreclose a lien for unpaid 
Charges) or (b) counterclaims brought by the Association in proceedings instituted against it.

ARTICLE SIX
Assessments

6.01  PURPOSE OF ASSESSMENTS:  The assessments levied by the  Association 
shall be limited to the purposes of maintaining the Community Area, administering the affairs 
of the Association, paying the Community Expenses and accumulating reserves for any such 
expenses.  

6.02  COMMUNITY ASSESSMENT:  Each year on or before December 1, the 
Managers shall adopt and furnish each Owner with a budget for the ensuing calendar year, 
which shall show the following with reasonable explanations and itemizations:  

(a)  The estimated Community Expenses;

(b)  The estimated amount, if any, to maintain adequate reserves for 
Community Expenses including, without limitation, amounts to maintain the Capital 
Reserve;

(c)  The estimated net available cash receipts from the operation and use of the 
Community Area, plus amounts received pursuant to the Easement Agreement (if any), 
plus estimated excess funds, if any, from the current year's assessments;

(d)  The amount of the "Community Assessment" payable by the Owners, 
which is hereby defined as the amount determined in (a) above, plus the amount 
determined in (b) above, minus the amount determined in (c) above;



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 } 15

(e)  That portion of the Community Assessment which shall be payable with 
respect to the ensuing calendar year by the Owner of each Lot which is subject to 
assessment hereunder, which shall be equal to the Community Assessment, divided by 
the number of Lots, so that each Owner shall pay equal Community Assessments for 
each Lot owned.  The Community Assessment shall be paid in periodic installments as 
determined by the Managers from time to time, but no less frequently than once each 
calendar year.  

Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding the provisions of this paragraph shall 
apply with respect to the period prior to the Turnover Date.  Any budget prepared by the 
Managers prior to the Turnover Date shall be based on the assumptions that (i) the 
Development has been fully constructed as shown on Declarant's then current plan for the 
Development ("Declarant’s Development Plan") and (ii) all proposed Lots have been sold and 
all proposed Homes are occupied.  Prior to the Turnover Date, each Owner of a Lot (other 
than the Declarant) will pay, with respect to each Lot owned, a monthly Community 
Assessment equal to what such Owner would be paying with respect to the Owner's Lot if the 
Development were fully constructed pursuant to the Declarant’s Development Plan and all 
proposed Homes have been built and are occupied.  Declarant shall not be obligated to pay 
any Community Assessments to the Association prior to the Turnover Date.  However, if with 
respect to the period commencing on the date of the Recording of this Declaration and ending 
on the Turnover Date, the amount of Community Assessments and working capital 
contributions under Section 6.07 payable (as opposed to paid) by Owners (other than 
Declarant) less the portions thereof which are to be added to Reserves is less than the 
Community Expenses actually incurred with respect to such period, then the Declarant shall 
pay the difference to the Association.  From time to time prior to the Turnover Date, the 
Declarant may (but shall not be obligated) advance to the Association funds to be used by the 
Association to pay its expenses (“Advanced Funds”).  A final accounting and settlement of the 
amount, if any, owed by Declarant to the Association shall be made as soon as practicable 
after the Turnover Date.  If, and to the extent that, the final accounting determines that the 
Advanced Funds, if any, are less than the amount owed by the Declarant to the Association 
pursuant to this Section, the Declarant shall pay the difference to the Association.  If, and to 
the extent that, the final accounting determines that the Advanced Funds, if any, exceed the 
amount owed by the Declarant to the Association pursuant to this Section, then the 
Association shall pay such excess to the Declarant.

6.03  PAYMENT OF COMMUNITY ASSESSMENT:  On or before the 1st day of 
January of the ensuing calendar year, and on the first day of each month thereafter until the 
effective date of the next annual or revised Community Assessment, each Owner of a Lot 
which is subject to assessment shall pay to the Association, or as the Managers may direct, 
that portion of the Community Assessment which is payable by each Owner of a Lot under 
Section 6.02(e).  For purposes hereof, a Lot shall only be subject to assessment hereunder 
from and after such time as an occupancy certificate has been issued with respect to the Home 
constructed thereon.

6.04  REVISED ASSESSMENT:  If the Community Assessment proves inadequate 
for any reason (including nonpayment of any Owner's assessment) or proves to exceed funds 
reasonably needed, then the Managers may increase or decrease the assessment payable under 
Section 6.02(e) by giving written notice thereof (together with a revised budget and 



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 } 16

explanation for the adjustment) to each Owner not less than ten (10) days prior to the effective 
date of the revised assessment.

6.05  SPECIAL ASSESSMENT:  After the Turnover Date, the Managers may levy a 
special assessment as provided in this Section (i) to pay (or build up reserves to pay) expenses 
other than Community Expenses incurred (or to be incurred) by the Association from time to 
time for a specific purpose including, without limitation, to make alterations, additions or 
improvements to the Community Area, or any other property owned or maintained by the 
Association; (ii) to cover an unanticipated deficit under the prior year's budget; or (iii) to 
satisfy the Association’s obligations under the Easement Agreement.   Any special assessment 
shall be levied against all Lots using the procedure provided for in Section 6.02.  No special 
assessment shall be adopted without the affirmative vote of Voting Members representing at 
least two-thirds (2/3) of the votes cast on the question.  The Managers shall serve notice of a 
special assessment on all Owners by a statement in writing giving the specific purpose and 
reasons therefor in reasonable detail, and the special assessment shall be payable in such 
manner and on such terms as shall be fixed by the Manager.  Any assessments collected 
pursuant to this Section (other than those to cover an unanticipated deficit under the prior 
year's budget) shall be segregated in a special account and used only for the specific purpose 
set forth in the notice of assessment.

 
6.06  CAPITAL RESERVE:  The Association shall segregate and maintain special 

reserve accounts to be used solely for making capital expenditures in connection with  the 
Community Area and satisfying the Association’s obligations under the Easement Agreement 
(the "Capital Reserve").  The Managers shall determine the appropriate level of the Capital 
Reserve based on (i) a periodic review of the useful life of improvements to the Community 
Area and the Storm Water Drainage System which are required to be maintained by the 
Association hereunder; and (ii) the purchase of other property to be used by the Association in 
connection with its duties hereunder. The Capital Reserve may be built up by special 
assessments or out of the Community Assessment as provided in the budget.  Special accounts 
set up for the Capital Reserve shall be held by the Association, as agent and trustee for the 
Owners with respect to which such portions of the Capital Reserve are held, and such 
accounts shall be deemed to have been funded by capital contributions to the Association by 
the Owners.  The budgets which will be adopted from time to time by the Managers prior to 
the Turnover Date shall include reserve buildups which the Managers deem to be appropriate 
based on information available to the Managers.  Managers elected by the Owners after the 
Turnover Date may use different approaches for the buildup of reserves from those used by 
Declarant, as the Managers prior to the Turnover Date.  If the Managers chooses not to 
provide for the buildup of reserves for a particular anticipated expenditure or if the buildup of 
reserves that the Managers provide for in its budgets does not result in sufficient funds to pay 
for the expenditure when the expenditure must be made, then (i) neither the Managers nor any 
of its past or present members shall be liable to the Association or the Owners for failing to 
provide for sufficient reserves and (ii) the Managers shall have the right and power to either 
levy a special assessment to raise the funds to pay the expenditure or to borrow funds to pay 
the expenditure and repay the borrowed funds out of future Community Assessments or 
special assessments.

6.07  INITIAL CAPITAL CONTRIBUTION:  Upon the closing of the first sale of a 
Lot by the Declarant to a purchaser for value, the purchasing Owner shall (i) make a capital 



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 } 17

contribution to the Association in an amount equal to three (3) months of the then current 
Community Assessment, which amount shall be held and used by the Association for its 
working capital needs, and (ii) pay to the Association one hundred dollars ($100.00), which 
amount shall be added to the Capital Reserve to be used for capital expenditures made in 
furtherance of the purposes described in Section 6.06.

6.08  PAYMENT OF ASSESSMENTS:  Assessments levied by the Association shall 
be collected from each Owner by the Association and shall be a lien on the Owner's Lot and 
also shall be a personal obligation of the Owner in favor of the Association, all as more fully 
set forth in Article Seven.

ARTICLE SEVEN
Collection of Charges and

Remedies for Breach or Violation

7.01  CREATION OF LIEN AND PERSONAL OBLIGATION:  The Declarant 
hereby covenants, and each Owner of a Lot by acceptance of a deed therefor (whether or not it 
shall be so expressed in any such deed or other conveyance) shall be and is deemed to 
covenant and hereby agrees to pay to the Association all Charges made with respect to the 
Owner or the Owner's Lot.  Each Charge, together with interest thereon and reasonable costs 
of collection, if any, as hereinafter provided, shall be a continuing lien upon the Lot against 
which such Charge is made and also shall be the personal obligation of the Owner of the Lot 
at the time when the Charge becomes due.  The lien or personal obligation created under this 
Section shall be in favor of and shall be enforceable by the Association.  

7.02  COLLECTION OF CHARGES:  The Association shall collect from each Owner 
all Charges payable by such Owner under this Declaration.  

7.03  NON-PAYMENT OF CHARGES:  Any Charge which is not paid to the 
Association when due shall be deemed delinquent.  Any Charge which is delinquent for thirty 
(30) days or more shall bear interest at the rate of eighteen percent (18%) per annum or the 
maximum rate permitted by law, whichever is less, from the due date to the date when paid.  
The Association may (i) bring an action against the Owner personally obligated to pay the 
Charge to recover the Charge (together with interest, costs and reasonable attorney's fees for 
any such action, which shall be added to the amount of the Charge and included in any 
judgment rendered in such action), and (ii) enforce and foreclose any lien which it has or 
which may exist for its benefit.  In addition, the Managers may add a reasonable late fee to 
any installment of an assessment which is not paid within thirty (30) days of its due date.  No 
Owner may waive or otherwise escape personal liability for the Charges hereunder by nonuse 
of the Community Area or by abandonment or transfer of his Lot.

7.04  LIEN FOR CHARGES SUBORDINATED TO MORTGAGES:  The lien for 
Charges, provided for in Section 7.01, shall be subordinate to the First Mortgagee's mortgage 
on the Lot which was Recorded prior to the date that any such Charge became due.  Except as 
hereinafter provided, the lien for Charges, provided for in Section 7.01, shall not be affected 
by any sale or transfer of a Lot.  Where title to a Lot is transferred pursuant to a decree of 
foreclosure of the First Mortgagee's mortgage or by deed or assignment in lieu of foreclosure 
of the First Mortgagee's mortgage, such transfer of title shall extinguish the lien for unpaid 



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 } 18

Charges which became due prior to the date of the transfer of title.  However, the transferee of 
the Lot shall be personally liable for his share of the Charges with respect to which a lien 
against his Lot has been extinguished pursuant to the preceding sentence where such Charges 
are reallocated among all the Owners pursuant to a subsequently adopted annual or revised 
Community Assessment or special assessment, and non-payment thereof shall result in a lien 
against the transferee's Lot, as provided in this Article.  

7.05  SELF-HELP BY MANAGERS:  In the event of a violation or breach by an 
Owner of the provisions, covenants or restrictions of the Declaration, the Operating 
Agreement, or rules or regulations of the Managers, where such violation or breach may be 
cured or abated by affirmative action, then the Managers, upon not less than ten (10) days' 
prior written notice to the Owner, shall have the right to enter upon that part of the Premises 
where the violation or breach exists to remove or rectify the violation or breach; provided, 
that, if the violation or breach exists within a Home,  judicial proceedings must be instituted 
before any items of construction can be altered or demolished.  

7.06  OTHER REMEDIES OF THE MANAGERS:  In addition to or in conjunction 
with the remedies set forth above, to enforce any of the provisions contained in this 
Declaration or any rules and regulations adopted hereunder the Managers may levy a fine or 
the Managers may bring an action at law or in equity by the Association against any person or 
persons violating or attempting to violate any such provision, either to restrain such violation, 
require performance thereof, to recover sums due or payable or to recover damages or fines, 
and against the land to enforce any lien created hereunder; and failure by the Association or 
any Owner to enforce any provision shall in no event be deemed a waiver of the right to do so 
thereafter.  

7.07  COSTS AND EXPENSES:  All costs and expenses incurred by the Managers in 
connection with any action, proceedings or self-help in connection with exercise of its or their 
rights and remedies under this Article, including, without limitation, court costs, attorneys' 
fees and all other fees and expenses, and all damages, liquidated or otherwise, together with 
interest thereon at the rate of eighteen percent (18%) per annum or the maximum rate 
permitted by law, whichever is less, until paid, shall be charged to and assessed against the 
defaulting Owner, and the Association shall have a lien for all the same, upon his Lot as 
provided in Section 7.01.  

7.08  ENFORCEMENT BY OWNERS:  Enforcement of the provisions contained in 
this Declaration and the rules and regulations adopted hereunder may be by any proceeding at 
law or in equity by any aggrieved Owner against any person or persons violating or attempting 
to violate any such provisions, either to restrain such violation or to recover damages, and 
against a Lot to enforce any lien created hereunder.  

7.09 ENFORCEMENT BY MUNICIPALITY:  The Municipality is hereby granted the 
right, but shall not be obligated, to enforce covenants and obligations of the Association or the 
Owners hereunder.  If the Association or one or more Owners fail to comply with any 
covenants and obligations hereunder, the Municipality shall have the right (but shall not be 
obligated) to give notice to the Association of its failure to perform its obligations or of the 
failure of the offending Owner or Owners to perform said Owner’s or Owners’ obligations.  If 
such notice is given and the Association does not perform its obligations (or cause the 
offending Owner or Owners to perform his, her, its, or their obligations) to the satisfaction of 



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 } 19

the Municipality within thirty (30) days after the giving of such notice, then the Municipality 
may (but shall not be obligated to) enter upon the Premises and perform any and all work 
which it deems necessary and appropriate, either directly or through contractors engaged by 
the Municipality.  The Association shall, upon demand, reimburse the Municipality for the 
reasonable cost of such work, plus interest at the rate of eight percent (8%) per annum from 
the date incurred and paid by the Municipality through the date the Municipality is reimbursed 
for such cost, and if payment is not made within thirty (30) days after demand, then the 
amount due, plus reasonable costs of collection, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, shall 
become a lien on the property of the offending Owner or Owners or, in the case of the 
Association, the property of the Association and/or the Lots, effective as of the date on which 
such work was completed; provided, however, that such lien on a Lot shall be subordinate to 
the lien of any first mortgage on a Lot Recorded prior to the date on which any such cost 
becomes a lien against the Lot as provided above. 

ARTICLE EIGHT
Use Restrictions

8.01  INDUSTRY/SIGNS:  No industry, business, trade, occupation or profession of 
any kind shall be conducted, maintained or permitted on any Lot or any part of the 
Community Area, nor shall any "For Sale" or "For Rent" signs or any other advertising be 
maintained or permitted on any Lot or any part of the Community Area, except as permitted 
by the Managers or as permitted under Article Nine.  

8.02  UNSIGHTLY USES:  No clothes, sheets, blankets, laundry of any kind or other 
articles shall be hung out on any portion of a Lot or the Community Area.  The Premises shall 
be kept free and clear of all rubbish, debris and other unsightly materials and no waste shall be 
committed thereon.  All rubbish and refuse shall be deposited in such areas and in such 
receptacles as shall be designated from time to time by the Managers or the Municipality.  
Except on the designated trash day, any trash and recycling receptacles must be stored inside 
the garage at all times.

8.03  SATELLITE DISHES/ANTENNAE:  Subject to applicable federal, state or local 
laws, ordinances or regulations, or policies adopted by the Managers from time to time, the 
operation of “ham” or other amateur radio stations or the erection of any communication 
antenna, receiving dish or similar devices (other than a simple mast antenna or a satellite dish 
which is not visible from the front of the Home) shall not be allowed on the Premises.

8.04  RESIDENTIAL USE ONLY:  

(a)  Except as provided in Article Nine or in subsections (b) and (c) of this Section, 
each Home shall be used only as a residence and no industrial business, trade, occupation or 
profession of any kind shall be conducted, maintained or permitted on any part of the 
Premises.

(b)  No Resident shall be precluded with respect to his Home, from (i) maintaining a 
personal professional library, (ii) keeping his personal business records or accounts therein, or 
(iii) handling his personal business or professional calls or correspondence therefrom.  



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 } 20

(c)  To the extent permitted under applicable laws and ordinances, a Resident may 
conduct an in-home business in a Home.

8.05  PARKING:  No boats, trailers, trucks (which have “D” or equivalent plates, 
more than two (2) axles, more than four (4) tires and/or a gross weight when fully loaded in 
excess of 8,000 pounds), recreational vehicles or similar vehicles shall be stored or parked 
overnight on any portion of the Premises (other than inside a garage with the garage door 
closed) except as permitted by the Managers, subject to compliance with applicable 
ordinances of the Municipality.  Except for emergencies, no repair or body work to a vehicle 
shall be performed except within the confines of a garage.

8.06  OBSTRUCTIONS:  Except as permitted under Section 9.03 there shall be no 
obstruction of the Community Area or the Storm Water Drainage System, and nothing shall be 
stored in or on the Community Area or the Storm Water Drainage System without the prior 
written consent of the Managers.  

8.07  PETS:  No animal of any kind shall be raised, bred or kept in the Community 
Area.  The Managers may from time to time adopt rules and regulations governing the (a) 
keeping of pets in the Home, which may include prohibiting certain species of pets from being 
kept in the Home and (b) use of the Community Area by pets, including, without limitation, 
rules and regulations which require an Owner to clean up after his pet.  Any pet causing or 
creating a nuisance or unreasonable disturbance shall be permanently removed from the 
Premises upon three (3) days written notice from the Managers to the Owner of the Home 
containing such pet and the decision of the Managers shall be final.  

8.08  NO NUISANCE:  No noxious or offensive activity shall be carried on in the 
Premises nor shall anything be done therein, either willfully or negligently, which may be or 
become an annoyance or nuisance to the Residents.

8.09  HAZARDOUS ACTIONS OR MATERIALS:  Nothing shall be done or kept on 
any Lot or in or on any portion of the Premises that is unlawful or hazardous, or that might 
reasonably be expected to increase the cost of casualty or public liability insurance carried by 
the Association.

8.10  WATERING:  The Managers may adopt rules and regulations governing the 
watering of grass, shrubs, trees and other foliage on the Premises.  Without limiting the 
foregoing, the Managers may require the Owner of a particular Lot to be responsible for 
watering specific portions of the Community Area as designated from time to time by the 
Managers.

8.11  RULES AND REGULATIONS:  The use, occupancy and enjoyment of the 
Community Area and the Lots shall at all times be subject to reasonable rules and regulations 
adopted from time to time by the Managers.

8.12  PROHIBITED ALTERATIONS AND PLAY EQUIPMENT:  

(a)  No outbuilding (including, sheds, animal houses, greenhouses and other similar 
temporary or permanent structure) shall be constructed or permitted on any Lot.  



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 } 21

(b)  An above ground or inground swimming pool shall be constructed or permitted on 
any Lot.  

(c)  No trampoline, playset, basketball hoop or other similar equipment shall be 
permitted on any Lot.  

8.13  FENCING:  Subject to the provisions of Sections 3.06 and 9.08, a Lot may be 
improved with an underground fence.  Other than fencing installed by the Declarant, if any, 
there shall be no above ground fencing constructed or permitted on any Lot.

ARTICLE NINE
Declarant's Reserved Rights and

Special Provisions Covering Development Period

9.01  IN GENERAL:  In addition to any rights or powers reserved to the Declarant 
under the provisions of this Declaration or the Operating Agreement, the Declarant shall have 
the rights and powers set forth in this Article.  Anything in this Declaration or the Operating 
Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, the provisions set forth in this Article shall 
govern.  Except as otherwise provided in this Article, the rights of Declarant under this Article 
shall terminate at such time as the Declarant no longer holds or controls title to any portion of 
the Premises (“Declarant Rights Period”).  

9.02  PROMOTION OF PROJECT:  The Declarant shall have the right and power, 
within its sole discretion, to (i) construct such temporary or permanent improvements, or to do 
such acts or other things in, on, or to the Premises as the Declarant may, from time to time, 
determine to be necessary or advisable, (ii) construct and maintain model homes, sales or 
leasing offices, parking areas, advertising signs, lighting and banners, or other promotional 
facilities at such locations and in such forms as the Declarant may deem advisable and to use 
such model homes (including model homes which are sold and leased back to the Declarant), 
sales or leasing offices or other facilities for the purpose of selling or leasing Homes on the 
Premises or at other properties in the general location of the Premises which are being offered 
for sale by the Declarant or any of its affiliates, without the payment of any fee or charge 
whatsoever to the Association.  Declarant and its agents, prospective purchasers and tenants, 
shall have the right of ingress, egress and parking in and through, and the right to use and 
enjoy the Community Area, at any and all reasonable times without fee or charge.  

9.03  CONSTRUCTION ON PREMISES:  In connection with the construction of 
improvements to any part of the Premises, the Declarant and its agents and contractors, shall 
have the right, at the Declarant's expense, (but shall not be obligated) to make such alterations, 
additions or improvements to any part of the Premises including, without limitation, the 
construction, reconstruction or alteration of any temporary or permanent improvements to any 
structure on the Lots or the Community Area which the Declarant deems, in its sole discretion, 
to be necessary or advisable, and the landscaping, sodding or planting and replanting of any 
unimproved portions of the Premises.  In connection with the rights provided in the preceding 
sentence, the Declarant and its agents and contractors, shall have the right of ingress, egress 
and parking on the Premises and the right to store dirt, construction equipment and materials 
on the Premises without the payment of any fee or charge whatsoever.  The rights of the 



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 } 22

Declarant under this Section 9.03 shall terminate one (1) year from time as the Declarant is no 
longer vested with or in control of title to any portion of the Premises.

9.04  GRANT OF EASEMENTS AND DEDICATIONS:  Declarant shall have the 
right to dedicate portions of the Community Area to the County, the Municipality or other 
governmental authority which has jurisdiction over such portions.  Declarant shall also have 
the right to reserve or grant easements over the Community Area to any governmental 
authority, public utility or private utility for the installation and maintenance of cable TV, 
electrical and telephone conduit and lines, gas, sewer or water lines, cable television or any 
other utility services serving any Lot.

9.05  DECLARANT CONTROL OF ASSOCIATION:  Prior to the Turnover Date, the 
Managers shall be the Declarant, or one or more entities or persons designated by the 
Declarant from time to time who need not be Owners or Voting Members.  Initially the 
Declarant shall be the sole Manager.  The rights and powers of the Declarant to manage the 
affairs of the Association, or designate the Managers of the Association shall terminate on the 
first to occur of (i) such time as Declarant no longer holds or controls title to any portion of 
the Premises, (ii) the giving of written notice by Declarant to the Association of Declarant's 
election to terminate such rights, (iii) ten (10) years from the date of Recording hereof or (iv) 
as such time as may be required under applicable laws.  The date on which the Declarant's 
rights under this Section shall terminate shall be referred to as the "Turnover Date".  From and 
after the Turnover Date, the Managers shall be constituted and elected as provided in the 
Operating Agreement.  Prior to the Turnover Date, all of the voting rights at each meeting of 
the Owners shall be vested exclusively in the Declarant and the Owners shall have no voting 
rights.

9.06  OTHER RIGHTS:  The Declarant shall have the right and power to execute all 
documents and do all other acts and things affecting the Premises which, in Declarant's 
opinion, are necessary or desirable in connection with the rights of Declarant under this 
Declaration.  

9.07  ASSIGNMENT BY DECLARANT:  Any and all rights which are specified in 
this Declaration to be rights of the Declarant are mortgageable, pledgeable, assignable or 
transferable.  Any successor to, or assignee of, the rights of the Declarant hereunder (whether 
as the result of voluntary assignment, foreclosure, assignment in lieu of foreclosure, or 
otherwise) shall hold or be entitled to exercise the rights of Declarant hereunder as fully as if 
named as such party herein.  No such successor assignee of the rights of Declarant hereunder 
shall have or incur any liability for the acts of any other party which previously exercised or 
subsequently shall exercise such rights.

9.08 ARCHITECTURAL CONTROLS:  Prior to such time as the Declarant no longer 
holds or controls title to any portion of the Premises, no additions, alterations or 
improvements (including, without limitation, construction of a Home, changes in the exterior 
color of a Home or construction or installation of a shed, outbuilding, deck, patio, terrace, 
antennae, satellite dish or similar changes) shall be made to any Lot or any part of the Home 
which is visible from outside the Home without the prior written consent of the Declarant.  If 
an addition, alteration or improvement which requires Declarant approval hereunder is made 
to a Lot without the prior written consent of the Declarant, then the Declarant may seek 



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 } 23

injunctive relief to cause the Owner to cease construction of and/or remove the addition, 
alteration or improvement.  Declarant’s decision to approve or disapprove an alteration, 
addition or improvement in one instance shall not in any way create or establish a precedent 
for how the Declarant must respond to a request for an alteration, addition or improvement 
subsequently made, it being understood that circumstances, situations and standards may 
change and the Declarant reserves the right and power to grant or deny requests as Declarant 
believes are appropriate in Declarant’s sole and absolute discretion.

ARTICLE TEN
Amendment

10.01  SPECIAL AMENDMENTS:  Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, 
Declarant reserves the right and power to Record a special amendment ("Special 
Amendment") to this Declaration at any time and from time to time which amends this 
Declaration (i) to comply with requirements of Fannie Mae, the Government National 
Mortgage Association, the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, the Veteran's 
Administration, or any other governmental agency or any other public, quasi-public or private 
entity which performs (or may in the future perform) functions similar to those currently 
performed by such entities, (ii) to induce any of such agencies or entities to make, purchase, 
sell, insure, guarantee or otherwise deal with first mortgages covering Lots, (iii) to correct 
errors, omissions, ambiguities or inconsistencies in the Declaration or any Exhibit, (iv) to 
reflect a change in the Declarant’s Development Plan, or (v) to bring the Declaration into 
compliance with applicable laws, ordinances or governmental regulations. In furtherance of 
the foregoing, a power coupled with an interest is hereby reserved and granted to the 
Declarant to make or consent to a Special Amendment on behalf of each Owner.  Each deed, 
mortgage, trust deed, other evidence of obligation, or other instrument affecting a Lot and the 
acceptance thereof shall be deemed to be a grant and acknowledgment of, and a consent to the 
reservation of, the power to the Declarant to make, execute and Record Special Amendments.  
The right and power of the Declarant to Record a Special Amendment hereunder shall 
terminate five (5) years after such time as Declarant no longer holds or controls title to a 
portion of the Premises.

10.02  AMENDMENT:  Subject to Section 10.01 and Article Eleven, the provisions of 
this Declaration may be amended, abolished, modified, enlarged, or otherwise changed in 
whole or in part by the affirmative vote of Voting Members representing at least Seventy-Five 
percent of the total votes or by an instrument consented to, in writing, executed by Owners of 
at least Seventy-Five Percent (75%) of the Lots; except, that (i) the provisions of this Section 
10.02 may be amended only by an instrument executed by all of the Owners and all First 
Mortgagees, (ii) until such time as the rights and powers of the Declarant under Article Nine 
terminate, the provisions of Article Nine or any provisions of this Declaration relating to the 
rights and powers of the Declarant may only be amended with the written consent of the 
Declarant and (iii) any provisions of this Declaration relating to the rights and powers of the 
Municipality may only be amended with the written consent of the Municipality.  No 
amendment which removes Premises from the provisions of this Declaration shall be effective 
if as a result of such removal, an Owner of a Lot shall no longer have the legal access to a 
public way from his Lot.  No amendment shall become effective until properly Recorded.

ARTICLE ELEVEN



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 } 24

First Mortgagees Rights

11.01  NOTICE TO FIRST MORTGAGEES:  Upon the specific, written request of 
First Mortgagee or the insurer or guarantor of a First Mortgagee's mortgage, such party shall 
receive some or all of the following:

(a) Copies of budgets, notices of assessment, or any other notices or statements 
provided under this Declaration by the Association to the Owner of the Lot covered by the 
First Mortgagee's mortgage;

(b) Any audited or unaudited financial statements of the Association which are 
prepared for the Association and distributed to the Owners; provided, that, if an audited 
statement is not available, then upon the written request of the holder, insurer or guarantor 
of a Mortgage, the Association shall permit such party to have an audited statement for the 
preceding fiscal year of the Association prepared at such party's expense;

(c) Copies of notices of meetings of the Owners;

(d) In the case of a First Mortgagee, the right to be listed on the records of the 
Association as an “Eligible First Mortgagee” for purpose of Section 11.02 below; 

(e) Notice of any proposed action that requires the consent of a specified 
percentage of Eligible First Mortgagees; 

(f) Notice of any substantial damage to any part of the Community Area or the Lot 
subject to the First Mortgagee's mortgage;

(g) Notice of the commencement of any condemnation or eminent domain 
proceedings with respect to any part of the Community Area or the Lot subject to the First 
Mortgagee's mortgage;

(h) Notice of any default by the Owner of the Lot which is subject to the 
Mortgagee's mortgage under this Declaration, the Operating Agreement or the rules and 
regulations of the Association which is not cured within 30 days of the date of the default;

(i) The right to examine the books and records of the Association at any 
reasonable times; and

(j) A lapse, cancellation or material modification of any insurance policy or 
fidelity bond maintained by the Association.

The request of any such party shall specify which of the above it desires to receive and shall 
indicate the address to which any notices or documents shall be sent by the Association.

11.02  CONSENT OF FIRST MORTGAGEES:  

(a) In addition to any requirements or prerequisites provided for elsewhere in this 
Declaration, the consent of First Mortgagees holding, in the aggregate, the first mortgages 
on at least two-thirds (2/3) of the Lots (by number) which are subject to first mortgages 



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 } 25

held by First Mortgagees which specifically request to be treated as “Eligible First 
Mortgagees” under Section 11.01(d) above will be required for the Association to do or 
permit to be done any of the following:

(i) Adoption of an amendment to this Declaration which (i) changes 
Article  Six or otherwise changes the method of determining the Community 
Assessments or other Charges which may be levied against an Owner; (ii) changes 
Section 7.04 or Article  Ten, (iii) changes this Article  Eleven, or any other provision 
of this Declaration or by Operating Agreement which specifically grants rights to First 
Mortgagees, (iv) materially changes insurance and fidelity bond requirements, (v) 
changes voting rights, or (vi) imposes a right of first refusal or similar restriction on 
the right of an Owner to sell, transfer or otherwise convey his Lot;

(ii) The withdrawal of the Premises from the provisions of this Declaration;

(b) Whenever required, the consent of an Eligible First Mortgagee shall be deemed 
granted unless the party seeking the consent is advised to the contrary, in writing, by the 
Eligible First Mortgagee within sixty (60) days after making the request for consent.

11.03  INSURANCE PROCEEDS/CONDEMNATION AWARDS:  In the event of (i) 
any distribution of any insurance proceeds hereunder as a result of damage to, or destruction 
of, any part of the Community Area or (ii) any distribution of the proceeds of any award or 
settlement as a result of condemnation or eminent domain proceedings with respect to any part 
of the Community Area, any such distribution shall be made to the Owners and their 
respective First Mortgagees, as their interests may appear, and no Owner or other party shall 
be entitled to priority over the First Mortgagee of a Lot with respect to any such distribution to 
or with respect to such Lot; provided, that, nothing in this Section shall be construed to deny 
to the Association the right (i) to apply insurance proceeds to repair or replace damaged 
Community Area or (ii) to apply proceeds of any award or settlement as a result of eminent 
domain proceedings as provided in Article Four.

ARTICLE TWELVE
Miscellaneous

12.01  NOTICES  Any notice required to be sent to any Owner under the provisions of 
this Declaration or the Operating Agreement shall be deemed to have been properly sent if (i) 
mailed, postage prepared, to his or its last known address as it appears on the records of the 
Association at the time of such mailing, (ii) transmitted by facsimile or e-mail to his or its 
facsimile number or e-mail address as either appears on the records of the Association at the 
time of such transmittal, or (iii) when personally delivered to his or its Lot.  The date of 
mailing, or the date of transmission if the notice is sent by facsimile or e-mail, shall be 
deemed the date of service.

12.02  CAPTIONS:  The Article and Section headings are intended for convenience 
only and shall not be construed with any substantive effect in this Declaration.  In the event of 
any conflict between statements made in recitals to this Declaration and the provisions 
contained in the body of this Declaration, the provisions in the body of this Declaration shall 
govern.  



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 } 26

12.03  SEVERABILITY:  Invalidation of all or any portion of any of the easements, 
restrictions, covenants, conditions, or reservations, by legislation, judgment or court order 
shall in no way affect any other provisions of this Declaration which shall, and all other 
provisions, remain in full force and effect.  

12.04  PERPETUITIES AND OTHER INVALIDITY:  If any of the options, 
privileges, covenants or rights created by this Declaration would otherwise be unlawful or 
void for violation of (a) the rule against perpetuities or some analogous statutory provision, (b) 
the rule restricting restraints on alienation, or (c) any other statutory or common law rules 
imposing time limits, then such provisions shall continue only until twenty-one (21) years 
after the death of the survivor of the now living lawful descendants of the  President of the 
United States at the time this Declaration is Recorded.  

12.05  TITLE HOLDING LAND TRUST:  In the event title to any Lot is held by a 
title holding trust, under the terms of which all powers of management, operation and control 
of the Lot remain vested in the trust beneficiary or beneficiaries, then the beneficiaries 
thereunder from time to time shall be responsible for payment of all Charges and for the 
performance of all agreements, covenants and undertakings chargeable or created under this 
Declaration against such Lot.  No claim shall be made against any such title holding trustee 
personally for payment of any lien or obligation hereunder created and the trustee shall not be 
obligated to sequester funds or trust property to apply in whole or in part against such lien or 
obligation.  The amount of such lien or obligation shall continue to be a charge or lien upon 
the Lot and the beneficiaries of such trust notwithstanding any transfers of the beneficial 
interest of any such trust or any transfers of title to such Lot.

12.06  WAIVER OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF HABITABILITY AND OTHER 
WARRANTIES:  Illinois courts have held that every contract for the construction of a new 
home in Illinois carries with it a warranty that when completed, the home will be free of 
defects and will be fit for its intended use as a home.  The courts have also held that this 
"Implied Warranty of Habitability" does not have to be in writing to be a part of the contract 
and that it covers not only structural and mechanical defects such as may be found in the 
foundation, roof, masonry, heating, electrical and plumbing, but it also covers any defect in 
workmanship which may not easily be seen by the buyer.  However, the courts have also held 
that a seller-builder and buyer may agree in writing that the Implied Warranty of Habitability 
is not included as a part of their particular contract.  Each buyer of a Home from Declarant 
agreed in the purchase contract that the Declarant has excluded and disclaimed the Implied 
Warranty of Habitability and all other implied warranties, whether created judicially, 
statutorily or by common law, including the implied warranty of fitness for a particular 
purpose.  Such exclusion and disclaimer shall apply to and bind any subsequent Owner of a 
Home and, accordingly, no Owner of a Home shall have the right to assert a claim against the 
Declarant for a breach of the Implied Warranty of Habitability or any other implied warranty.

[Signature page follows]



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 } 27

Dated:  _________________, 2020

DECLARANT:

________________ LLC, an Illinois limited 
liability company

        By: _____________, an Illinois limited liability 
company, Manager

               By:________________________, Manager

                       By:  __________________________ 
                               _________, Authorized Signatory

STATE OF ILLINOIS )
  ) SS

COUNTY OF ______  )

I, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for said County and State, do hereby certify 
that  as an authorized signatory for, which is the Manager of 
_____________ LLC, an Illinois limited liability company (the "Company"), appeared before 
me this day in person and acknowledged that he/she signed, sealed and delivered the 
foregoing instrument as his/her free and voluntary act, and as the free and voluntary act of the 
Company for the uses and purposes set forth in the instrument.  

GIVEN under my hand and Notarial Seal this ____ day of _____________, 20___.

   Notary Public



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 } 28

Municipality Consent
The Village of Glencoe has reviewed and approved this Declaration.

VILLAGE OF GLENCOE, an Illinois municipal corporation 

By:  
Name:  
Its:  Village President

ATTEST

By:  
Name:  
Its:  Village Clerk

Date:  



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 }

EXHIBIT A TO
DECLARATION FOR 1801 GREEN BAY ROAD SUBDIVISION 

Legal Description of Premises

[To be confirmed upon recording of the Plat of Subdivision]

I. Lots:

Lots 1 through __, both inclusive, in ________________ Subdivision, being a 
subdivision in__________________, Range 12 East of the Third Principal Meridian, in 
Cook County, Illinois, pursuant to the plat thereof recorded in Cook County, Illinois on 
___________, as Document ___________ (“_____________ Subdivision”).

II. Outlots:

Outlots __,__ and ___ in the ___________ Subdivision.

PINs:  __________, ____________ and __________



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 }

EXHIBIT B TO
DECLARATION FOR 1801 GREEN BAY ROAD SUBDIVISION

Plat of Subdivision

[To be attached]



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 }

EXHIBIT C TO
DECLARATION FOR 1801 GREEN BAY ROAD SUBDIVISION 

Operating Agreement

OPERATING AGREEMENT
OF

1801 GREEN BAY ROAD SUBDIVISION HOME OWNERS ASSOCIATION, LLC

This Operating Agreement is entered into as of ____________________, 2019, in 
Glencoe, Illinois, between 1801 Green Bay Road Subdivision Homeowners Association, LLC, 
an Illinois limited liability company (the “Association”), and __________, LLC, an Illinois 
limited liability company, its sole Member (sometimes referred to herein as the “Declarant”).

A. Articles of Organization for the Association were filed with the Secretary of State 
of Illinois on __________________, 2019; and

B. Declarant desires to set forth the terms and conditions governing the management, 
operation and affairs of the Association.

THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein, and for other 
good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties 
agree as follows:

ARTICLE I
NAME OF ASSOCIATION

The full legal name of the Association is 1801 Green Bay Road Subdivision 
Homeowners Association, LLC.

ARTICLE II
PURPOSE AND POWERS

2.01 PURPOSES:  The purposes of the Association are to act on behalf of its Members 
collectively, as their governing body, with respect to the preservation, care, maintenance, 
replacement, improvement, enhancement, operation and administration of both real and personal 
property, for the promotion of the health, safety and welfare and the common use and enjoyment 
thereof by Members of the Association.  This Operating Agreement is attached as an Exhibit to 
Declaration for 1801 Green Bay Road Subdivision (“Declaration”) recorded with the Office of 
the Recorder of Deeds for Cook County, Illinois, as amended or supplemented from time to time.  
All terms used herein (if not otherwise defined herein) shall have the meanings set forth in the 
Declaration.

2.02 POWERS:  The Association shall have and exercise all powers as are now or may 
hereafter be granted by the Illinois Limited Liability Company Act (the “Act”), the Declaration 



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 }

and this Operating Agreement.
2.03 TAX STATUS.  It is intended that the Association shall be treated as an 

association taxable as a corporation and, to the extent determined from time to time by the Board 
(as hereafter defined), shall elect to be treated as a “homeowners association” under Section 528 
of the Internal Revenue Code, or any successor provision thereto.

ARTICLE III
OFFICES

3.01 REGISTERED OFFICE:  The Association shall have and continuously maintain 
in the State of Illinois a registered office and a registered agent whose office is identical with 
such registered office, and may have other offices within or without the State of Illinois as the 
Board may from time to time determine.

3.02 PRINCIPAL OFFICE:  The Association’s principal office shall be maintained on 
the Premises or at the office of the managing agent employed by the Association, if any.

ARTICLE IV
MEETINGS AND ACTIONS OF MEMBERS

4.01 MEMBERSHIP.  The Owner from time to time of each Lot shall automatically be 
a “Member” of the Association.    There shall be one membership per Lot. There shall be two (2) 
classes of membership.  The Declarant shall be the “Class B Member” with respect to Lots 
which it owns from time to time.  Each owner other than the Declarant shall be a “Class A 
Member” with respect to each Lot the Owner Owns.  Membership shall be appurtenant to and 
may not be separated from ownership of a Lot.  

4.02 VOTING RIGHTS:  Any or all Members may be present at any meeting of the 
Members, but the voting rights shall be vested exclusively in the representative designated by the 
Owner of each Lot, in writing or by electronic notice to the Association, and such representative 
shall be deemed a “Voting Member”, as defined in the Declaration; provided, that, prior to the 
First Meeting (as defined in Section 4.04 below), the voting rights shall be vested exclusively in 
the Class B Member (the Declarant)  and the Owners other than Declarant shall have no voting 
rights.  From and after the First Meeting, all of the voting rights at any meeting of the 
Association shall be vested in the Voting Members and each Voting Member who represents a 
Lot owned by a Class A Member shall have one vote for each Lot which the Voting Member 
represents, and the Declarant, as the Class B Member, shall have ___(__) votes for each Lot 
which it owns.  The Voting Members may vote in person or by proxy.  All proxies shall be in 
writing, revocable, valid only for eleven (11) months from the date of execution and filed with 
the Secretary.

4.03 PLACE OF MEETING; QUORUM:  Meetings of the Members shall be held at 
the principal office of the Association or at such other place in Cook County, Illinois, as may be 
designated in any notice of a meeting.  All meetings shall be conducted in accordance with the 
rules and provisions set forth in Roberts Rules of Order as from time to time published. Voting 
Members representing at least twenty percent (20%) of the total votes shall constitute a quorum; 



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 }

provided, however, that in the event quorum in not met for a particular meeting, the number of 
Voting Members required for quorum shall be reduced by fifty percent (50%) and shall continue 
to be reduced by fifty percent (50%) until such time as quorum is met and a meeting can be held.  
Unless otherwise expressly provided herein or in the Declaration, any action may be taken at any 
meeting of the Members at which a quorum is present upon the affirmative vote of a majority of 
the Voting Members present at such meeting, including any matter which, under the Act, would 
otherwise require the unanimous consent of the Members.

4.04 ANNUAL MEETINGS:  The first meeting of the Members (“First Meeting”) 
shall be held upon not less than twenty-one (21) days’ written notice given by the Declarant to 
the Members.  If not called earlier by the Declarant, the First Meeting shall be held no later than 
thirty (30) days after the Turnover Date.  Thereafter, there shall be an annual meeting of the 
Members (“Annual Meeting”) on the anniversary of the First Meeting, or at such other 
reasonable time or date (not more than thirty (30) days before or after such date) upon not less 
than twenty-one (21) days written notice given by the Board to the Members.

4.05 SPECIAL MEETINGS:  A special meeting of the Members may be called at any 
time for the purpose of considering matters which, by the terms of the Declaration, require the 
approval of all or some of the Voting Members or for any other reasonable purpose.  A special 
meeting shall be called by written notice to the Members by Declarant (prior to the First 
Meeting), a majority of the Board (after the First Meeting), or by twenty percent (20%) of the 
Voting Members (after the First Meeting), and delivered not less than twenty-one (21) days prior 
to the date fixed for said meeting.  The notices shall specify the date, time, and place of the 
meeting and the matters to be considered.

4.06 NOTICE OF MEETINGS:  Notices of meetings required to be given herein may 
be delivered either personally, by U.S. Mail or by E-mail to the Members, addressed to such 
Member at the address given by such Member to the Board for the purpose of service of such 
notice or to the Lot of the Member, if no address has been given to the Board.  A notice of 
meeting shall include an agenda of business and matters to be acted upon or considered at the 
meeting.

4.07 NO DUTY OWED BY MEMBERS:  Except as otherwise provided herein or in 
the Declaration, a Member who is not also a Manager (as hereafter defined) owes no duty to the 
Association or to the other Members solely by reason of being a Member.

4.08 NO SERVICES DUE FROM MEMBERS:  No Member shall be required to 
perform any services for the Association solely by reason of being a Member.  No Member shall 
be entitled to any compensation for any services performed by such Member for the Association 
unless otherwise determined by the Board.

4.09 INDEMNIFICATION:  The Association shall indemnify each Member for all 
authorized acts performed by such Member in respect of the Association, to the full extent 
permitted by the Act, but in no event for a Member’s material breach of this Operating 
Agreement, criminal conduct, gross negligence or any fraudulent act committed by the Member.



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 }

ARTICLE V
BOARD OF MANAGERS

5.01 IN GENERAL:  After the First Meeting, the affairs of the Association shall 
be vested in the board of managers (the “Board”), which shall consist of three (3) persons (each a 
“Manager” and, collectively, the “Managers”), or such other number of persons as shall be fixed 
from time to time by the affirmative vote of not less than fifty percent (50%) of the Voting 
Members.  

5.02 DECLARANT AS MANAGER:  Anything herein to the contrary 
notwithstanding, the Declarant shall be the sole Manager and sole member of the Board until the 
First Meeting.

5.03 DELIVERY OF DOCUMENTS:  Within sixty (60) days of the First Meeting, the 
Declarant shall deliver to the Board:

(a) Original copies of the Declaration, this Operating Agreement and the 
Association’s Articles of Organization and any other documents filed with the Secretary 
of State of the State of Illinois.

 
(b) An accounting of all receipts and expenditures made or received on behalf 

of the Association by the Declarant.

(c) All Association funds and bank accounts.

(d) A schedule of all personal property, equipment and fixtures belonging to 
the Association, including documents transferring the property to the Association.

5.04 ELECTION:  At the First Meeting, the Voting Members shall elect a full Board to 
replace the Declarant as the sole Manager.  The two (2) candidates receiving the greatest number 
of votes shall each serve a two-year term and the candidate receiving the next greatest number of 
votes shall serve a one-year term.  Thereafter, each Manager shall serve a two-year term.  Each 
Manager shall hold office until his term expires or until his successor has been elected and 
qualified.  Managers may succeed themselves in office.  In all elections for Managers, each 
Class A Member shall be entitled to the number of votes equal to the number of Managers to be 
elected, and the Class B Member shall be entitled to the number of votes equal to the number of 
Managers to be elected times ___(__). Cumulative voting shall not be permitted for Class A 
Members, but cumulative voting shall be permitted for the Class B Member.

5.05 BOARD MEETINGS:  After the First Meeting, regular meetings of the Board 
shall be held at such time and place as shall be determined at the Annual Meeting or, from time 
to time, by a majority of the Board, provided that (i) the Board shall hold a meeting within thirty 
(30) days of the Annual Meeting, and (ii) not less than three (3) Board meetings (in addition to 
the Annual Meeting) shall be held during each fiscal year.  Notice of regular meetings of the 
Board shall be given to each Manager, personally or by mail, at least two (2) days prior to the 



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 }

day named for any such meeting and such notice shall state the time and place of such regular 
meeting and such notice shall be posted conspicuously on the Premises so as to inform the 
Members of such meetings.

5.06 SPECIAL MEETINGS:  After the First Meeting, a special meeting of the Board 
may be called by the President or at least one-third (l/3) of the Managers then serving.

5.07 WAIVER OF NOTICE:  Before or at any meeting of the Board, any Manager 
may, in writing, waive notice of such meeting and such waiver shall be deemed equivalent to the 
giving of such notice.  Attendance by a Manager at any meeting of the Board shall be a waiver of 
notice by him of the time and place thereof.  If all the Managers are present at any meeting of the 
Board, no notice shall be required and any business may be transacted at such meeting.

5.08 QUORUM:  A majority of the Managers serving from time to time shall 
constitute a quorum for the election of officers and for the transaction of business at any meeting 
of the Board, provided, that if less than a majority of the Managers are present at said meeting, a 
majority of the Managers present may adjourn the meeting from time to time without further 
notice.  Except as otherwise expressly provided herein or in the Declaration, any action may be 
taken upon the affirmative vote of a majority of the Managers present at a meeting at which a 
quorum is present (“Board Action”).

5.09 POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE BOARD:  The Board shall have all of the 
powers and duties granted to it or imposed upon it by the Declaration, this Operating Agreement, 
and the Act, including, without limitation, the following powers and duties:

(a) To engage the services of a managing agent upon such terms and with 
such authority as the Board may approve;

(b) To provide for the designation, hiring and removal of such employees and 
such other personnel, including attorneys and accountants, as the Board may, in 
its discretion, deem necessary or proper;

(c) To provide for any maintenance, repair, alteration, addition, improvement 
or replacement to be provided by the Board pursuant to the Declaration. 

(d) To procure insurance as provided for under the Declaration;

(e) To estimate and provide each Member with an annual budget showing the 
Community Expenses;

(f) To set, give notice of, and collect from the Members, Community 
Assessments and other assessments, as provided in the Declaration;

(g) To pay the Community Expenses;

(h) Subject to the provisions of the Declaration, to own, convey, encumber or 



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 }

otherwise deal with any real property conveyed to or purchased by the Association;

(i) To adopt and, from time to time, to amend such reasonable rules and 
regulations as the Board may deem advisable for the use, enjoyment, administration, 
management, maintenance, conservation and beautification of the Premises, and for the 
health, comfort, safety and general welfare of the Members and Residents.  Written 
notice of any such rules and regulations or amendments thereto shall be given to all 
Residents affected thereby;

(j) To delegate the exercise of its power to committees appointed pursuant to 
Article Seven of this Operating Agreement; 

(k) To borrow money and pledge the assets of the Association, including the 
right to receive future assessments, as collateral for repayment thereof; and

(l) To convey all or substantially all of the Association’s assets to, merge 
with, or convert to, another entity, including a not-for-profit corporation, to the extent 
permitted by law. 

5.10 COMPENSATION/REIMBURSEMENT FOR EXPENSES:  Managers shall 
receive no compensation, except as expressly provided in a resolution duly adopted by not less 
than 75% of the Voting Members.  Upon the presentation of receipts or other appropriate 
documentation, a Manager shall be reimbursed by the Association for reasonable out-of-pocket 
expenses incurred in the course of the performance of his or her duties as a Manager.

5.11 REMOVAL OR RESIGNATION OF A MANAGER:  Prior to the First Meeting, 
the Declarant may not be removed as Manager without the Declarant’s written consent.  After 
the First Meeting, any Manager may be removed from office, with or without cause, by the 
affirmative vote of at least two-thirds (2/3) of the Managers then serving at any Annual Meeting 
or at a special meeting called for such purpose.  Any Manager may resign at any time by 
submitting his written resignation to the Board.  If after the First Meeting, a Manager ceases to 
be a Member or Voting Member, he or she shall be deemed to have resigned as of the date of 
such cessation.  A successor to fill the unexpired term of a Manager who resigns may be 
appointed by a majority of the remaining Managers at any regular meeting or a special meeting 
called for such purpose and any successor so appointed shall serve the balance of his or her 
predecessor’s term.

5.12 NO EXCLUSIVE DUTY:  Except as otherwise provided in this Operating 
Agreement, the Managers shall not be required to manage the Association as their sole and 
exclusive function and the Managers may have other business interests and engage in other 
activities in addition to those relating to the Association.  Neither the Association nor any 
Member shall have any right to share or participate in such other investments or activities of the 
Managers or to the income or proceeds derived therefrom.

5.13 LIMITATION OF LIABILITY:  The Managers shall perform the duties of the 
Manager in good faith, in a manner which the Managers believe to be in the best interests of the 



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 }

Association, and with such care as an ordinarily prudent individual in a like position would use 
under similar circumstances.  See Section 5.06 of the Declaration for provisions concerning 
limitations on the liability of Managers and other indemnification provisions.

5.14 INDEMNIFICATION:  The Association shall indemnify each Manager for all 
acts performed by the Manager in respect of the Association, to the full extent permitted by the 
Act, but in no event for fraud, deceit, theft, misappropriation, embezzlement, willful misconduct 
or gross negligence relating to the Association.

ARTICLE VI
OFFICERS

6.01 OFFICERS:  The officers of the Association shall be a President, one or more 
Vice Presidents, a Secretary, Treasurer, and such assistants to such officers as the Board may 
deem appropriate  and shall hold office at the discretion of the Board.  After the First Meeting, 
officers shall be Managers and shall be elected annually at the first Board meeting following the 
Annual Meeting.

6.02 VACANCY OF OFFICE:  Any officer may be removed at any meeting of the 
Board by the affirmative vote of the majority of the Managers in office, either with or without 
cause.  Any officer may resign at any time by submitting his or her written resignation to the 
Board.  If after the First Meeting, an officer ceases to be a Member or Voting Member, he or she 
shall be deemed to have resigned as of the date of such cessation.  A successor to fill the 
unexpired term of an officer who resigns or is removed may be appointed by the Board at any 
regular meeting or a special meeting called for such purpose and any successor so appointed 
shall serve the balance of his or her predecessor’s term.  

6.03 POWERS OF OFFICERS:  The respective officers of the Association shall have 
such powers and duties as are from time to time prescribed by the Board and as are usually 
vested in such officers, including but not limited to, the following:

(a) The President shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the Association and 
shall preside at all meetings of the Members and at all meetings of the Board and shall 
execute amendments to the Declaration and this Operating Agreement as provided in the 
Declaration and this Operating Agreement.

(b) The Vice President shall, in the absence or the disability of the President, 
perform the duties and exercise the powers of such office;

(c) The Secretary shall keep minutes of all meetings of the Members and of 
the Board and shall have charge of such other books, papers and documents as the Board 
may prescribe;

(d) The Treasurer shall be responsible for Association funds and securities 
and for keeping full and accurate accounts of all receipts and disbursements in the 
Association books of accounts kept for such purpose.



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 }

6.04 OFFICERS’ COMPENSATION:  The officers shall receive no compensation for 
their services, except as expressly provided by a resolution duly adopted by not less than 75% of 
the Voting Members.

ARTICLE VII
COMMITTEES DESIGNATED BY BOARD

7.01 BOARD COMMITTEES:  The Board may, by Board Action, designate one or 
more committees, each of which shall consist of two or more Managers, which committees, to 
the extent consistent with law and as provided in said resolution, shall have and exercise the 
authority of the Board in the management of the Association; but the designation of such 
committees and delegation thereto of authority shall not operate to relieve the Board, or any 
individual Manager, of any responsibility imposed by law upon the Board or any individual 
Manager.

7.02 SPECIAL AND STANDING COMMITTEES:  Other committees not having and 
exercising the authority of the Board in the management of the Association may be designated 
by a resolution adopted by Board Action.  Except as otherwise provided in such resolution, 
members of each such special committee shall be Members or Voting Members and the 
President shall appoint the members of such special committee, as well as a Manager to act as 
the liaison between the special committee and the Board.  Any member of such special 
committee may be removed by the President whenever in his or her judgment the best interests 
of the Association shall be served by such removal.  The powers and the duties of any standing 
committee shall be as set from time to time by resolution of the Board.  The President shall 
designate a Manager (who shall act as the liaison between the standing committee and the Board) 
to serve as the chairman of each standing committee, and the other members of the standing 
committee (who need not be Managers) shall be appointed and removed from time to time by 
such chairman.

7.03 TERM:  Each member of a committee shall continue as such until the next 
Annual Meeting of the Board and until his or her successor is appointed, unless the committee 
shall be sooner terminated, or unless such member shall be removed from such committee, or 
unless such member shall cease to qualify as a member thereof.

7.04 CHAIRPERSON:  Except as otherwise provided in Section 7.02, one member of 
each committee shall be appointed chairperson.

7.05 VACANCIES:  Vacancies in the membership of any committee may be filled by 
appointments made in the same manner as provided in the case of the original appointments to 
such committee.

7.06 QUORUM:  Unless otherwise provided in the resolution of the Board designating 
a committee, a majority of the whole committee shall constitute a quorum and the act of a 
majority of the members present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the 
committee.



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 }

7.07 RULES:  Each committee may adopt rules for its own governance not 
inconsistent with the Declaration, this Operating Agreement or with rules adopted by the Board.

ARTICLE VIII
CONTRACTS, CHECKS, DEPOSITS AND FUNDS

8.01 CONTRACTS:  The Board may authorize any officer of officers, agent or agents 
of the Association, in addition to the officers so authorized by this Operating Agreement, to enter 
into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the 
Association and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances. In the absence 
of any such authorization by the Board, any such contract or instrument shall be executed by the 
President or a Vice President and attested to by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the 
Association.

8.02 PAYMENTS:  All checks, drafts, vouchers or other orders for the payment of 
money, notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the Association shall be 
signed by such officer or officers, agent or agents of the Association, and in such manner as shall 
from time to time be determined by resolution of the Board.  In the absence of such 
determination by the Board, such instruments shall be signed by the Treasurer or an Assistant 
Treasurer and countersigned by the President or a Vice President of the Association.

8.03 BANK ACCOUNTS:  All funds of the Association not otherwise employed shall 
be deposited from time to time to the credit of the Association in such banks, trust companies or 
other depositories as the Board shall elect.

8.04 SPECIAL RECEIPTS:  The Board may accept on behalf of the Association any 
contribution, gift, bequest, or devise for the general purposes or for any special purpose of the 
Association.

ARTICLE IX
FISCAL MANAGEMENT

9.01 FISCAL YEAR:  The fiscal year of the Association shall be established by the 
Association and may be changed from time to time by a resolution adopted by two-thirds (2/3) of 
the Board.

9.02 ANNUAL STATEMENT:  Within a reasonable time after the close of each fiscal 
year, the Board shall furnish each Member with a statement of the income and disbursements of 
the Association for such fiscal year.

9.03 SPECIAL STATEMENT:  Within ten (10) days after receipt of a written request 
from a Member, the Board shall provide the Member with a statement containing the following 
information:

(a) The status of the Member’s account and the amount of any unpaid 
assessments or other charges due and owing from the Member; and



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 }

(b) The status and amount of any and all Capital Reserves.

9.04 ASSESSMENT PROCEDURE: Community Assessments and special 
assessments shall be made and collected as provided in the Declaration.

ARTICLE X
TRANSFER OF MEMBERSHIP

10.01 MEMBERSHIP:  The Owner of each Lot shall automatically be a Member of the 
Association.  There shall be one membership per Lot.  Membership shall be appurtenant to and 
may not be separated from ownership of a Lot.  Ownership of a Lot shall be the sole 
qualification for membership.  The Association shall be given written notice of a proposed 
change of ownership of a Lot within ten (10) days prior to such change.  Any attempt to transfer 
membership in the Association separate from ownership of a Lot shall be invalid, null and void, 
and of no force and effect.

10.02 NO VOLUNTARY DISSOCIATION:  Except as otherwise provided by 
Section 10.01 above, a Member shall not be permitted to voluntarily dissociate from the 
Association.

ARTICLE XI
BOOKS AND RECORDS

The Association shall keep correct and complete books and records of account and shall 
also keep minutes of the proceedings of its Members, the Board, and committees having any of 
the authority of the Board, and shall keep at the registered or principal office of the Association a 
record including the following: (i) the names and last known address of the Members, setting 
forth the date on which each became a Member; (ii) a copy of the Articles of Organization of the 
Association, as amended or restated, together with executed copies of any powers of attorney 
pursuant to which any articles, applications, or certificates have been executed; (iii) copies of the 
Association’s financial statements and federal, state, and local income tax returns and reports for 
the three (3) most recent years, where applicable; and (4) copies of the Operating Agreement and 
any amendments thereto.  All books and records of the Association may be inspected and copied 
by any Member, or his or her mortgagee, agent or attorney, at any reasonable time.  The Member 
shall reimburse the Association for all costs and expenses incurred by the Association in 
connection with that Member’s inspection and copying of such records.

ARTICLE XII
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

12.01 GOVERNING LAW.  This Operating Agreement shall be interpreted in 
accordance with the internal laws of the State of Illinois, without regard to its rules governing 
conflict of laws.

12.02 VALIDITY.  The provisions of this Operating Agreement are intended to be 
interpreted and construed in a manner which renders them valid and enforceable.  In the event 



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 }

that any provision of this Operating Agreement is found to be invalid or unenforceable, such 
provision shall be deemed excised from this Operating Agreement without affecting the validity 
or enforceability of any of the remaining provisions hereof.

12.03 JURISDICTION AND VENUE.  All disputes arising under or in connection 
with this Operating Agreement shall be resolved and disposed of by the federal and state courts 
located in the County where the Declaration is recorded, and the Association, Managers, and 
Members irrevocably consent to the exclusive personal jurisdiction of such courts and venue 
therein.  

ARTICLE XIII
AMENDMENTS

This Operating Agreement may be amended or modified at any time, or from time to 
time, by the affirmative vote of two-thirds of the Managers then serving provided, that (i) no 
provision of this Operating Agreement may be amended or modified so as to conflict with the 
provisions of the Declaration or the Act, and (ii) no provision contained in this Operating 
Agreement which affects the rights of the Class B Member may be amended or modified without 
the written consent of the Class B Member.

[Signature page follows]



{35457: 002: 02651725.DOC :3 }

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Operating Agreement as of the 
first date set forth above.

ASSOCIATION:

1801 Green Bay Road Subdivision Homeowners 
Association, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company

By: _______________ LLC, an Illinois limited liability 
company, Manager

By: _______________, an Illinois limited liability 
company, Manager

      By:  __________________________ 
             ____________, Authorized Signatory

MEMBER/DECLARANT:

_____________LLC, an Illinois limited liability 
company

By:,_______________, an Illinois limited liability 
company, Manager

By:  _____________________________ 
   _____________, Authorized Signatory



 

1801 GREEN BAY ROAD, GLENCOE, ILLINOIS 
APPLICATION FOR PRELIMINARY PLAT OF SUBDIVISION APPROVAL 

 
 

DEVELOPER RESPONSES TO SUBDIVISION STANDARDS OF REVIEW 
 
The Developer respectfully provides the following responses to the question of whether its proposed 

preliminary plat of subdivision satisfies the standards of review set forth in Section 31-1.6 of the Glencoe 
Subdivision Code: 

 
1. The subdivision is consistent with the zoning code. 

The property located at 1801 Green Bay Road is zoned in the R-B Single Family Residence 
District under the Village’s Zoning Code.  The property is being subdivided into 
29 residential lots that conform to the regulations of that district.  No rezoning, special use 
approvals or variations from the Zoning Code are required or being requested by the 
Developer.   

2. The subdivision will not create a nonconforming building, nonconforming use, or nonconforming lot, nor 
will the subdivision create, increase, or extend any existing nonconformity. 

The proposed subdivision will not create any nonconforming building or establish any 
nonconforming use or lot.  In addition, the subdivision will not increase or extend any 
nonconformities which may presently exist on the property.   

3. The subdivision will accommodate development on a lot that will comply with required setbacks and will 
not result in the substantial loss of existing trees or significant alteration of the existing topography on 
the lot. 

The homes the Developer intends to construct on the subdivision lots will conform to all 
bulk regulations of the R-B Single Family Residence District.  No front, rear or sideyard 
setback variations are being requested by the Developer.   

In accordance with Glencoe ordinance requirements, the Developer conducted an inventory 
of all trees on the property having a 6-inch or greater diameter at breast height as measured 
54" above the ground (DBH) and then located those trees on a tree survey.   

The subdivision planning process looked very closely at the large diameter "Heritage Trees” 
in excellent condition and avoided them as much as possible.  There are 271 Heritage Trees 
on the property that are not dead, diseased or hazardous.  The Developer anticipates losing 
only 37 of those trees when it proceeds to construct the subdivision’s street and utilities.  
Which Heritage Trees can be preserved at the time of home construction will be determined 
when an application for building permit is submitted to the Village, as the Village’s Trees and 
Shrubs Ordinance requires the submission of a “priority tree plan” at that time.  

The Developer will be implementing a tree preservation plan and a tree protection plan to 
preserve and protect as many of the Priority II Trees and Priority III Trees, as those terms are 
defined in the Village’s Trees and Shrubs Ordinance, as possible.  The Developer will fully 
conform to the replacement requirements of the Trees and Shrubs Ordinance to the extent 
such trees are lost or removed.  
 
The Developer will be minimally modifying the existing topography of the property to 
accommodate the construction of the subdivision’s street and utilities, but when it does so it 
will give specific attention to the preservation of existing trees on the property and to the 
reduction of flooding.   

4. The subdivision will not substantially modify or threaten the integrity of natural resources, including 
without limitation existing steep slopes, floodplains, wetlands, mature trees, or the use of public open 
spaces. 

The proposed subdivision will not substantially modify or threaten the integrity of natural 
resources, including without limitation existing steep slopes, floodplains, or wetlands.  With 
respect to mature trees, please see the Developer’s response to Standard #3 above.  With 



2 

respect to steep slopes and public open spaces, there are none on the property.  To the best 
of the Developer’s knowledge, there are also no wetlands on the property.   

5. The proposed development of the subdivision will not result in an increase in the storm water release 
rate from the subdivision.  

The subdivision’s stormwater management system will be designed in conformance with 
applicable Village and County stormwater regulations.  The subdivision will not only NOT 
result in an increase in the storm water release rate.  Implementation of the Developer’s 
stormwater management plan will result in a REDUCED rate of stormwater runoff.  
See Preliminary Stormwater Management Report prepared by the Developer’s civil engineer.   

6. The subdivision will be served by adequate sewer or water service, electrical service, natural gas, and 
other public or private utilities within the Village. 

There are adequate public utilities in the right of way of Green Bay Road to serve the 
proposed subdivision.   

7. The subdivision will dedicate easements or rights-of-way necessary to provide for current and future 
extension of public utilities and services. 

Rights-of-way and easements will be provided to the extent required by the Village Engineer. 

8. The existing public street system, and any proposed extension of that system, is sufficient to meet the 
projected traffic demand that will be created by the subdivision. 

As confirmed by the Traffic Impact Study prepared by KLOA, Inc., the existing public street 
system, and any proposed extension of that system, is sufficient to meet the projected traffic 
demand that will be created by the subdivision. 

The design of the proposed street improvements meets minimum village standards and does 
not exceed village standards in a manner that threatens the health, safety, or welfare, such 
as by inducing excessive speed of travel or modifying traffic patterns in a manner 
inconsistent with street design capabilities.  In fact, the lane restriping, street signage 
modifications and reductions in speed along Green Bay Road the Developer is proposing 
will enhance vehicular, pedestrian and bicycle safety along this important Village arterial.   

9. The subdivision will extend, or does not inhibit the extension of, the existing Village street system and 
recognizes the interconnection of adjacent neighborhoods.  

The subdivision extends the Village street system, specifically by aligning Westley Road 
with the proposed entry into the subdivision.  The Developer is not seeking to interconnect 
the subdivision to the Northwood Drive subdivision so that more of the existing trees on the 
property can be preserved and less impervious surface will be constructed on the property.   

10. The subdivision will provide appropriate access and turning movements for vehicles, and the proposed 
access is not so large so as to be inconsistent with the character of the neighborhood surrounding the 
subdivision.  

As noted in the Developer’s Traffic Impact Study, safe and efficient ingress and egress into 
and out of the proposed subdivision has been designed and will be provided.  The proposed 
access is completely consistent with the character of surrounding neighborhoods. 

11. The development of the subdivision can be accomplished in a manner that does not unduly disrupt or 
damage public services or facilities.  

No undue disruption of public services due to the development of this property will occur.  



 

1 
{35457: 001: 02648467.DOCX :8 } 

MPSLAW 
      MELTZER, PURTILL & STELLE LLC 
 

  

 

To: Philip A. Kiraly, Village Manager, Village of Glencoe 
 
From: Harold W. Francke, Meltzer, Purtill & Stelle LLC 
 
cc: Larry DiVito, Glencoe Developers, LLC 
 John Myefski, Myefski Architects, Inc. 
 Kevin Lewis, IG Consulting, Inc. 
 Bernie Jacobs, Jacobs/Ryan Associates  
 
Date: August 16, 2019 
 

RE: Application for Approval of Preliminary Plat of Subdivision for Property Situated at 1801 Green Bay 
Road / Responses to Village Questions and Requests       

On behalf of Glencoe Developers, LLC, we are pleased to be submitting to you the following responses 
to the questions and requests the Village has previously provided us in furtherance of the consideration of our 
client’s application for approval of a preliminary plat of subdivision for the captioned property.   

A. Traffic and Road Alignment 
 

1. Will drivers headed northbound on Green Bay and turning into the subdivision be rear-ended by drivers 
not expecting them to slow down — as many residents said that they already have that problem with 
turning into Northwood? 
 

The following improvements will be constructed in connection with the construction of 
the proposed development and the access road on Green Bay Road opposite Westley 
Road:  
 

 The Westley Road approach will be restriped to (1) provide a shared 
through/left-turn lane and (2) realign the eastbound lanes so that the shared 
through/left-turn lane better aligns with the proposed access road and to align 
the lanes perpendicular to Green Bay Road. 
 

 Green Bay Road will be restriped north of Westley Road and Northwood Drive in 
order to provide one lane in each direction and separate left-turn lanes serving 
both Northwood Drive and the proposed access road into the development.  

 

 The maximum speed limit along Green Bay Road between Lake Cook Road and 
Westley Road will be reduced from 40 mph to 35 mph.  As proposed, the four lane 
section of Green Bay Road will have a posted speed limit of 35 mph and the three 
lane section of Green Bay Road will have a posted speed limit of 30 mph.  

 

 A radar speed feedback sign and an intersection warning sign will be located 
along southbound Green Bay Road north of the intersection. 

 
Exhibits showing the proposed modifications to Green Bay Road and Westley Road have 
been provided under separate cover.   

 
With the reduction of the posted speed limit, the location of the access road will meet the 
minimum stopping sight distance.  It is also important to note that between 2013 and 
2017, there were no reported crashes at the intersection of Green Bay Road and 
Northwood Drive and only three reported crashes over the past five years at the 
intersection of Green Bay Road and Westley Road.  



MPSLAW 
 

2 
{35457: 001: 02648467.DOCX :8 } 

2. Did the KOLA traffic analysis study this issue?  For safety of traffic movements, did KLOA’s study 
choose appropriated times to sample traffic would there be an issue on a Ravinia night or beginning or 
end of summer camp day at Takiff Center? 
 

Per the general industry methodology and the methodology employed by most 
governmental transportation agencies, the traffic study examined the morning and 
evening commuter peak periods of traffic as this generally represents the highest 
volume of traffic on the area roadways.  Concerts at Ravinia and the beginning and end 
of the summer camp day at Takiff (“Sun Fun”) typically occur outside of the morning and 
evening commuter peak periods when traffic volumes are lower and more capacity is 
available along the roadway system.  The development, given the low volume of traffic it 
will generate, will have a minimal impact on the operation of the roadway system during 
the critical morning and evening peak periods, during concerts at Ravinia and at the 
beginning and end of the Sun Fun day at Takiff.   
 
In addition, the traffic improvements described in our response to Question #1 will result 
in reduced traffic speeds along Green Bay Road at all times of the day and during special 
events which will make travel by the motoring public safer.   

 
3. What is impact of new intersection improvements on bicycles and pedestrian movement through new 

intersection with Westley Road? 
 

The addition of the access road will provide an additional curb cut along the east side of 
Green Bay Road that pedestrians and bicyclists will have to cross.  However, the 
development is projected to generate a low volume of additional traffic, the access road 
will only have one inbound lane and one outbound lane, and the access road will be 
under stop sign control at its intersection with Green Bay Road.   
 
The proposed realignment of the Westley Road approach will improve pedestrian and 
bicycle movements along the west side of Green Bay Road in two important respects.  
First, the intersection will be aligned and made perpendicular to Green Bay Road, which 
will improve the motorists’ sight lines.  Second, the length of the pedestrian/bicycle 
crossing (crosswalk) will be reduced.   
 
Finally, we note that the other improvements described in our response to Question #1 
will make travel along Green Bay Road safer for both bicyclists and pedestrians.   

 
4. Signalization of the Westley/Green Bay intersection needs to be considered and pros and cons should 

be included in a traffic study. 
 

A Traffic Signal Warrant Study was performed at the intersection of Green Bay Road with 
Westley Road.  The results of the study confirmed that the existing and projected 
intersection conditions do not satisfy any of the nine traffic signal warrants provided in 
the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices.  Therefore, a traffic signal is not 
warranted at this intersection.  

 
5. What would the traffic impact be on Green Bay Road if the new road connected to Northwood Drive be 

two ways in and out?  
 

The impact of the development on Green Bay Road would generally be the same as all 
development traffic would still be entering and exiting onto Green Bay Road.  However, 
traffic volumes at the intersection of Green Bay Road and Westley Road would be 
reduced and traffic volumes at the intersection of Green Bay Road and Northwood Drive 
would increase as some of the development traffic would now be directed to and using 
this intersection.  

 



MPSLAW 
 

3 
{35457: 001: 02648467.DOCX :8 } 

B. Tree Preservation 
 

6. Is there any impact to heritage trees if the proposed alternative intersection at Westley Road is 
pursued? 

 
Respectfully, the Developer does not understand the question.   

7. What is Developer’s explanation for how the development minimizes impact on natural features and 
preservation of trees? 

 
The Developer intends to minimize disruption to the existing topography of the land by 
maintaining the existing grades, where and when possible, and by carefully planning and 
coordinating the installation of utilities on the property.  In addition, the Developer will 
strive to protect and preserve many of the priority trees on the property by being 
sensitive to the placement of homes on individual lots.   
 
Although neither the Subdivision Code nor the Village’s Trees and Shrubs Ordinance 
expressly requires the provision of either a tree preservation plan or a tree protection 
plan as a condition precedent to the consideration and approval of a preliminary plat of 
subdivision, the Developer has submitted to the Village under separate cover a proposed 
tree preservation plan and a proposed tree protection plan which establishes a 
framework for minimizing priority tree loss and protecting priority trees that are intended 
to be saved.  The Developer understands that Village arborist approval of these plans will 
be a condition precedent to final plat of subdivision approval.   

 
8. Assuming the houses of the size likely to be built are built, what is the likely range of loss of mature 

heritage trees from individual lots? Any such trees in the middle of a building envelope can be assumed 
to be lost. Any trees where more than 15-20% of the roots in the drip line will be cut or damaged by 
construction should be assumed lost.  

 
The Developer respectfully disagrees.  Priority trees in the side yards can routinely be 
saved where 30-40% of the roots are impacted.  This is addressed in the tree 
preservation and tree protection plans described above.  Those plans require root 
pruning, canopy trimming, and the installation of protective measures to protect tree 
roots during construction.   
 
As noted below, a “priority tree plan” that identifies the potential loss of priority trees 
due to the construction of home foundations and the priority trees that can be saved on 
the subdivision lot being improved will be submitted by the Developer with each building 
permit application.  

 
9. The tree preservation plan is misleading because it only addresses the tree loss for street and utility 

construction and not for the project as a whole.  We need to see the total potential tree loss after 
construction of the housing based on the zoning setback outline for each lot. 

 
Before the first Plan Commission meeting the Developer submitted a tree survey, as 
required by the Village’s Subdivision Ordinance, to identify (1) trees that are likely to be 
removed due to their condition, and (2) trees that will be removed in order to construct 
the subdivision street and needed utilities.  Needless to say, this tree survey was 
submitted to assist the Plan Commissioners in their review of the Developer’s 
preliminary plat of subdivision application, not to mislead it.  At the Village’s request, the 
tree survey has now been updated to indicate the location of all trees on the property 
having a caliper of six inches or larger when measured 54 inches above the ground, as 
required by the Subdivision Ordinance.   
 
The Trees and Shrubs Ordinance contemplates the submission of a “priority tree plan” 
to the Village arborist when a person applies for a permit to undertake activity which will 
impact any tree.  A “priority tree plan” must identify all “priority trees”, which insofar as 



MPSLAW 
 

4 
{35457: 001: 02648467.DOCX :8 } 

the proposed subdivision is concerned, means all trees on site having a diameter of 
eight inches or more 54 inches above the ground.   
 
The Developer, with the tree survey it previously submitted, already submitted a “priority 
tree plan” that identifies the priority trees that will be lost due to the construction of the 
subdivision street and needed subdivision utilities.  A “priority tree plan” for the 
individual lots in the subdivision will be submitted concurrently with the submission of a 
building permit application for each home that is to be constructed in the subdivision.  
Trees that will be lost due to construction will either be replaced or accounted for by 
payment of a tree replacement fee, as required by the Trees and Shrubs Ordinance, in 
the same manner that trees are removed on every other lot in Glencoe.  

 
10. How will this development compensate for the loss of heritage trees due to new streets and utilities? 

 
As noted above, the Developer will use good faith efforts to minimize the loss of priority 
trees.  Trees that are lost, however, due to the construction of the subdivision street or 
needed utilities will either be replaced or accounted for by payment of a tree replacement 
fee, as required by the Trees and Shrub Ordinance.   

 
C. Site Landscaping 

 
11. Can we have a landscape recommendation as to the value of allowing buckthorn to remain as a screen 

— where would this be particularly valuable? Where would this not be practical because of proposed 
detention? What screening/fencing is recommended for detention as a visual and safety factor for the 
adjoining properties? Should this decision be a one-on-one decision? Can it even be made this way or 
should it be made for the given perimeter as a whole? 
 

Buckthorn is a highly invasive, non-indigenous species of tree, a fact recognized by the 
Trees and Shrubs Ordinance which permits its removal.  It is up to the Plan Commission 
and Village Board to decide whether, notwithstanding the foregoing, the extensive 
amount of Buckthorn on the property should be allowed to remain to provide screening 
for the existing neighbors.  The Developer respectfully suggests that the Buckthorn be 
removed and that such removal be promptly initiated since total removal can take a few 
years to be successful.  The Developer also believes that the screening of detention 
facilities from adjacent properties can be accomplished by utilizing fencing and, where 
possible and practical, native and natural plant materials.   

 
12. How will detention areas and perimeter screening be accessed for maintenance by the HOA? Will 

screening plants be irrigated, watered and maintained? 
 

Detention areas will be accessed via easements that are granted over the side yards of 
lots pursuant to instruments which are reviewed and approved by Village staff and 
Village attorney.   
 
The Homeowners Association established for the subdivision will be responsible for 
maintaining the detention facilities constructed on the property and the common area 
landscaping installed on the property.  Those responsibilities will be established in a 
recorded Declaration which will also be subject to the review and approval of the Village 
staff and Village attorney.  A draft Declaration has been submitted to the Village under 
separate cover.  

 
13. A landscape plan should include a maintenance plan. Is one provided? Is there a conceptual landscape 

plan? 
 

Although the Subdivision Ordinance does not expressly require the submission of a 
landscape plan in order to obtain preliminary plat approval, the Developer has submitted 
a set of preliminary landscape plans to the Village under separate cover.  Maintenance of 



MPSLAW 
 

5 
{35457: 001: 02648467.DOCX :8 } 

the landscaping depicted on such plans will be required and undertaken by the 
Homeowners Association pursuant to the Declaration described above.   

 
14. What is the concept for street tree planting?   

 
Street trees will be planted with “non-regular” spacing to reflect the unique nature of the 
property and the subdivision.  A street tree planting plan has been included in the set of 
preliminary landscape plans described above.   

 
15. What justifies keeping the existing, aging, chainlink fence on the north and east property lines? 

 
The Developer does not intend to remove and replace this fence because it will result in the 
disturbance and potential loss of additional trees and adversely affect views of the forest 
preserve.   
 

D. Stormwater 
 

16. Should we have a hydrological study before we recommend a plat (and underlying site plan)? Do we 
know enough about the likely sufficiency of the storm water system ads proposed that any needed 
modifications would have no effect on the proposed plat? Are we premature in considering the plat? 

 
The Developer has submitted a preliminary hydrologic study to the Village which 
quantifies the existing and projected stormwater runoff.  The study confirms that the 
proposed peak stormwater release rate will be lower than the existing peak stormwater 
release rate.  The specifics of that reduction are set forth in the study and in our 
response below to Question #37.   
 
The time to consider an appropriate stormwater management design is at the time of 
consideration of a preliminary plat of subdivision. See Section 31-1.16(h) of the 
Subdivision Ordinance.   
 
The Developer understands that a final plat of subdivision for the property will not be 
approved until final engineering plans are approved by the Village as required by 
Section 31-1.22(f)(1) of the Glencoe Subdivision Ordinance, and that those plans will 
require compliance with the Village’s stormwater management ordinance and the 
applicable Watershed Development Ordinance of the Metropolitan Water Reclamation 
District of Greater Chicago (“MWRD”).   
 

17. Explain how the storm water system will be designed to remove water to the detention areas? If a 
subdivision outlet for the detention and direction of drainage is not known, is it unreasonable too ask for 
approval of a plat that supposes a system as shown? 
 

Water will flow overland either directly into the subdivision’s detention facilities or 
indirectly into such facilities via the storm sewer system the Developer constructs in the 
proposed subdivision street.   
 
The Developer understands that any approval of its proposed preliminary plat of 
subdivision will be conditioned on the approval of the final engineering plans described 
above and on confirmation of the Developer’s ability to construct the stormwater 
management system depicted on such plans.   
 

18. Explain how the corner detention areas would function? How long should an owner expect water to be 
present? What is the native landscaping proposed for the area that would be free of cattails and well 
maintained? Would detention basins in these areas add to the mosquito issues for adjoining properties? 
Same issue with how the HOA would access for maintenance of detention areas as for landscaping. 
 

The plan is to treat the detention facilities as rain gardens by using native plantings that 
thrive in wet conditions.  Water will accumulate in the detention facilities during heavy 



MPSLAW 
 

6 
{35457: 001: 02648467.DOCX :8 } 

rain events and drain over time until the bottoms of the facilities are dry.  The duration 
and intensity of storm events will determine how long detained stormwater will remain in 
the detention facilities.   
 
Many of the surrounding neighbors have stated that they currently experience significant 
amounts of standing water in their yards after rain events, both major and minor.  The 
construction of the stormwater management improvements being proposed will actually 
improve existing conditions by significantly reducing the amount of stormwater runoff 
onto neighboring properties.  This, in turn, will help reduce the number of mosquito 
habitats in the area.    
 
The Homeowners Association will access the detention facilities to undertake the 
maintenance of them via the easements described above.   

 
19. Does storm water currently flow from Turnbull Woods back toward Terrace Court area residents? 

 
Yes, there is a corner of Turnbull Woods that currently flows back to Terrace Court.  A 
plan depicting this has been included with the Developer’s most recent submission to 
the Village, was presented at the recent neighborhood meeting the Developer hosted and 
will be presented at the next Plan Commission meeting.  
 
In the end, the construction of the stormwater management improvements being 
proposed will reduce the overland flow towards Terrace Court, which will benefit existing 
residents in the neighborhood.   

 
20. Can the storm water plan commit to restrict such water from flowing back to Turnbull Woods area and 

commit to prevent all water from overland flow onto Carol Lane? 
 

The Developer’s civil engineer is analyzing whether this can feasibly be done.  Since the 
last Plan Commission meeting he has met with representatives of the MWRD and spoken 
to the Village Engineer and the Village’s third party engineering consultant about ways in 
which this concern might be addressed and he will continue to work with those 
individuals on a potential solution after the grant of preliminary subdivision approval.   
 

21. Was Developer proposing that storm water from the subdivision connect into Carol Lane sewer? For 
what purpose? 
 

Yes, a connection into the Terrace Basin sewer is being proposed.  This is consistent 
with its natural overland flow to the existing storm sewer system.  Managing this flow will 
be an improvement to the existing conditions and provide a significant benefit to existing 
residents.  The flow of storm water from the subject property into the Carol Lane storm 
sewer was contemplated by the storm drainage improvement study the Village 
completed in 2014.   

 
22. Will Developer commit to exceed current detention standards by what is widely regarded as new best 

practice and assume significantly higher rainfall events? 
 

The Developer will meet or exceed current detention standards by implementing one or 
more innovative stormwater management techniques.  These include the use of storm 
chambers or pipes within open graded stone, permeable pavers over stone, concrete 
stormwater vaults, oversized pipes and energy passive groundwater recharge products.  

 
23. Cook County and/or the Metropolitan Water Reclamation District needs to be consulted regarding 

stormwater into the Forest Preserve and the overall effect of the development on surrounding public 
space.  A plan on how to engage them at this point in the process would help. 
 

The Developer understands that Village representatives have had preliminary 
discussions with representatives of the Cook County Forest Preserve District.  The 



MPSLAW 
 

7 
{35457: 001: 02648467.DOCX :8 } 

Developer has also engaged with such representatives and with representatives of the 
MWRD.  The Developer will be having additional discussions with both governmental 
agencies prior to the preparation and submittal to the Village of final engineering plans.   

 
24. An overview of the stormwater requirements by the village and MWRD would help us to understand 

what compliance would look like for the developer.  In both the developers answer and the village staff, 
it states they will meet the requirement, but it is not defined.  A quick overview would be helpful. 
 

This overview has now been provided in the Preliminary Stormwater Management Report 
the Developer’s engineer has prepared which has been submitted to the Village under 
separate cover and it was provided at the recently Developer-hosted neighborhood 
meeting.  It will be provided again at the upcoming of the Plan Commission.  The 
Developer believes the Village Engineer will also be providing information of relevance to 
the more critical elements of the Developer’s stormwater management plan.   
 

25. A more complete plan on Stormwater needs to be contemplated and communicated to the commission 
at this stage.  
 

Additional details and information have been included with the Developer’s most recent 
submission to the Village, most notably, by way of the Stormwater Management Report 
the Developer has submitted to the Village under separate cover.    

 
26. What would the developer think of a 10 ft. conservation easement on each lot to provide a natural buffer 

on the rear of lots abutting existing residential development?  
 

The Developer intends to provide buffers of landscaping and fencing in the rear yards of 
lots that abut neighboring properties in accordance with a Village-approved final 
landscape plan.   

 
27. Has the developer explored green infrastructure enhancements (permeable pavers, bio swales, rain 

gardens, etc.) to better manage stormwater runoff? The proposed detention basins are very old school 
engineering design and they don't do much to enhance the site. In place of designing with nature they 
are designing against nature. 
 

Yes, as noted above, the Developer plans to treat the detention facilities as rain gardens 
by using native plantings that thrive in wet conditions and it intends to employ one or 
more innovative stormwater management techniques which will make it possible for the 
Developer to meet or exceed applicable storm detention requirements (See answer to 
Question #22 above and the preliminary landscape plans the Developer has now 
submitted to the Village).   

 
28. Would the developer be willing to follow the site development requirements of the ICC Green Building 

code or the Sustainable Sites approach recommended by the American Society of Civil Engineers? 
 

The Developer will use sustainable ideas and practices for the project.  The best 
practices in sustainable development come from a variety of sources.  The Developer will 
use the standards that best suit the subject property and the proposed building product. 

 
29. The design storm for stormwater runoff calculations should be increased to make the project more 

robust to address climate change. I understand this is already underway in Lake County. 
 

Again, the Developer is intending to meet or exceed applicable stormwater detention 
requirements through the use of one or more innovative stormwater management 
techniques.    

 



MPSLAW 
 

8 
{35457: 001: 02648467.DOCX :8 } 

30. If designed properly, this project could actually improve stormwater management in the area. 
 

Absolutely.  This project will be improving existing conditions.  The construction of the 
stormwater management improvements being proposed will improve conditions for 
existing residents by managing and controlling, for the first time, stormwater flow off the 
subject property.  As everyone knows, there is currently NO management of this 
stormwater for the benefit of surrounding properties—NO detention of stormwater; NO 
control of the stormwater runoff.  

 
31. The Village should be a party in the agreement to enforce plat covenants or easements on the property. 

 
The Village will be a party to the Declaration recorded against title to the subdivision and 
to a development agreement the Village will require pursuant to Section 31-1.22(f)(2) of 
the Subdivision Ordinance.   

 
32. Has the Forest Preserve accepted the proposed method of storm water discharge on their property? 

 
The Forest Preserve District is not a governmental entity that oversees or permits the 
method of stormwater discharge.  Nevertheless, as noted above, the Developer is 
maintaining an open line of communication with Forest Preserve District representatives 
and working to address any stormwater drainage concerns those individuals raise.    

 
33. Is there an alternative method of directing storm water through lines to Green Bay Road? 

 
The Developer has been advised by Village staff that this is not feasible due to the 
constraints of existing downstream infrastructure.  In addition, diverting stormwater to 
the northbound Green Bay Road storm sewer is not likely to be approved by the MWRD 
due to the fact that it will require the pumping of stormwater uphill.   
 

34. Are there alternative methods of mitigating the storm water run-off in lieu of concentrating it into two 
structures/basins with one outlet?  
 

The Developer has begun to explore the possibility of having only one outlet with both 
the Village Engineer and MWRD representatives.   

 
35. Where will water flow if the structures and basins overflow? 

 
Generally, the overflow occurs at the low point on a parcel of property.  How the overflow 
will occur in this subdivision is in the process of being discussed with the Village 
Engineer and MWRD representatives.  It is one of several items that is likely to be 
resolved after preliminary subdivision approval and prior to the approval of a final plat of 
subdivision.   
 

36. What is the contingency plan if the proposed system fails/clogs, etc.?  
 

The stormwater will overflow as designed pursuant to the approved stormwater 
management plan.  The Village will have the right to enter upon the subdivision property 
and maintain the subdivision’s stormwater management system (e.g. to address clogs) if 
the Homeowners Association fails to do so (See below).   

 
37. Who will maintain the system – including the structures and basins? 

 
The Homeowners Association will have primary responsibility for the maintenance and 
repair of the stormwater detention facilities and the storm sewers that are located on 
private property.  The Village will have the right to undertake such maintenance and 
repair if the Homeowners Association fails to properly preform such obligations.  The 
Village will be responsible for the maintenance and repair of the storm sewers located in 
the public right-of-way.   



MPSLAW 
 

9 
{35457: 001: 02648467.DOCX :8 } 

38. Will this development commit or, be required, to prevent surface water from flowing onto neighboring 
properties? 
 

Under Illinois drainage law, a property developer cannot increase the volume of 
stormwater that flows onto neighboring properties, increase the speed at which 
stormwater flows across neighboring properties or, conversely, restrict neighboring 
properties from desired stormwater runoff which naturally flows across their properties.   
 
This development will not increase the volume of stormwater running off onto 
neighboring properties.  It will reduce the volume of such runoff by detaining stormwater 
on site and releasing it at a controlled rate.  Specifically, as noted in the Preliminary 
Stormwater Management Report the Developer has submitted to the Village, the 
discharge of stormwater from the southerly watershed on the property will decrease 
from 10.2 CFS to between 1.6 CFS and 3.9 CFS (an approximate 84% reduction) and the 
discharge of stormwater from the northerly watershed on the property will decrease from 
11.4 CFS to 2.1 CFS (an approximate 82% reduction).   
 
In short, the development will improve existing conditions and substantially benefit the 
surrounding neighbors.   

 
39. A current study and report on the effect of any additional water runoff on adjacent properties based on 

existing (and recently upgraded) storm water management capacities plus any other pertinent reports or 
documents should be provided.   
 

As noted above, this development will not increase the volume of stormwater running off 
onto neighboring properties.  In fact, it will reduce the volume of such runoff.  As also 
noted in the Developer’s Preliminary Stormwater Management Report, the stormwater 
management improvements constructed by the Village in the Terrace Court Basin in 2016 
were sized to accommodate stormwater runoff from the subject property in an 
uncontrolled state.  Therefore, those improvements have the capacity to handle the 
anticipated stormwater discharge from the property in the controlled and restricted 
manner the Developer is proposing.  

 
40. The Developer has been asked to provide a plan to adequately handle the development’s storm water 

runoff, to include: projections, calculations, specifications and a visual layout of the plan.   
 

The requested information has been provided in the Preliminary Stormwater 
Management Report and other plans and information the Developer has discussed with 
the Village Engineer and placed on file with the Village.   
 

41. Has the Developer considered the use of underground stormwater vaults for the detention of stormwater 
runoff on the property in lieu of the construction of surface detention basins?  If so, why has the 
Developer decided that the use of surface basins is the preferred stormwater detention alternative?  

 
The Developer did consider the use of a wholly underground stormwater system but as 
of this date has determined it to be undesirable and infeasible for the following reasons: 
 

 To allow for landscaping to establish on top of each vault, the vaults would 
have to be constructed at a significant depth and they would have to be “over 
excavated” to allow for the construction of the perimeter vault walls.  
Collectively, this would require a larger site footprint which would result in 
more land disturbance and the removal of additional trees.  

 
 Stormwater vaults require the installation of pumps and ancillary mechanical 

equipment which makes it possible for them to operate.  Both of these 
require maintenance and monitoring and, from time to time, repair or 
replacement.  While pumps are often installed in stormwater vaults, their use 
is generally not favored.   



MPSLAW 
 

10 
{35457: 001: 02648467.DOCX :8 } 

 
E. Neighborhood Connectivity 

 
42. The Village subdivision design standards call for “The subdivision will extend, or does not inhibit the 

extension of, the existing village street system and recognizes the interconnection of adjacent 
neighborhoods. The developer’s narrative does not address the option of connecting their new public 
road to existing Northwood Drive.  Could the developer please elaborate and illustrate the impacts if it 
were to connect to Northwood drive for each and or all of these options? 

 
1) Road Connection 
2) Pedestrian Connection 
3) Emergency Access Connection 

 
A previous site plan was developed that had a potential connection to Northwood Drive.  
It would have provided pedestrian and emergency access.  This plan conformed to the 
above and was shared with the neighbors at the neighborhood meeting the Developer 
recently hosted.  This plan was considered but discarded in favor of the current site plan 
which contemplates (1) an internal park that saves many more trees; and (2) no traffic 
impact on existing residents of Northwood Drive.  

 
43. While I am not a fan of long dead-end streets, I think, at minimum, the loop should be tied into 

Northwood Dr. with an emergency access easement, crash fence, and path to accommodate 
pedestrians & cyclists. This also could be used for utilities. Can this be considered? 
 

If the Village determines it be necessary or desirable, an emergency access or 
pedestrian/cyclist path and easement can still be established.  It should be noted, 
however, that the construction of this improvement will result in the loss of additional 
priority trees.  Although at this point in time the Developer is not showing an emergency 
access on any of its plans, one can obviously, be added after preliminary plat approval 
and prior to final plat approval if the Plan Commission recommends, and the Village 
Board supports, the establishment of an emergency point of ingress and egress.   
 
The Developer believes that prior experience in Glencoe and other North Shore 
communities would support the conclusion that an emergency access is not needed for 
this subdivision.   

 
F. New tree park/open space  

 
44. The proposed “tree park” (outlot A) is encircled by a public street. Is there precedent within the Village 

for a homeowner association maintaining a greenspace in “quasi-public” land?   
 

This area will be owned and maintained by the Homeowners Association as an outlot.  This 
is not an unusual condition for a residential subdivision.   

 
45. Would the developer be willing to ask the Park District if they would be interested in owning and 

maintaining the space? 
 

The Developer will approach the Park District and request a formal response when it 
discusses the payment of required park impact fees with that entity. 
 



MPSLAW 
 

11 
{35457: 001: 02648467.DOCX :8 } 

G. Preservation of Structures 
 

46. The current plan indicates that the main entry gates and markers would be on a private lot (1) with all 
maintenance dependent on that one owner. If the Village were to agree, would the developer be willing 
to donate to the Village the main entry piers/walls and the associated land? – (precedent is Ravine 
Bluffs markers). Or, to the homeowner association?  

 
The wrought iron element of the existing main entry gates are going to be incorporated 
into an ornamental feature installed at the entryway into the development on Outlot B.  
This feature will be owned and maintained by the Homeowners Association.   
 
The existing main entry gate piers will remain on Lot 1.  Their maintenance will be the 
responsibility of the owner of Lot 1 in the subdivision, which is consistent with the 
manner in which the other entryway piers are maintained on the adjoining lot situated to 
the south on Green Bay Road.  The Developer would be willing to transfer ownership and 
maintenance responsibility of these piers to the Village if that is what the Village desires.  
The Developer does not believe that a transfer of ownership of these piers to the 
Homeowners Association would be appropriate under the circumstances.   

 
47. Could the developers elaborate on the plans and process/methodology to preserve: 

1) The main house study/elements 
 
The Developer plans to salvage and reuse elements of the main house.  In nearly every 
case, this will require manually dismantling any element desired, repairing or 
refurbishing it, storing it and then manually re-installing it.   

 
2) The stable building 

 
The stable has the potential to be relocated.  The development team will work with any 
entity that would like to relocate the stable to another location.  

 
2) The gazebo 

 
The Developer is studying the possibility of relocating the gazebo to the interior park 
area and incorporating it into the subdivision landscape plan. 

 
3) any other elements of the estate 

 
As the only truly public portion of the estate, the main gates and brick pillars will be 
salvaged.  The coach house will be removed and has no significant value. 

 
48. Is it possible to salvage materials from the structures destined for demolition, such as the slate paving, 

bricks, etc. 
 

The Developer will evaluate the potential to reuse items from the manor house.  Items of 
historic and architectural merit will be reused or repurposed.  Other items that have 
value to other users will be available for salvage as well.   


	6-26-19 Agenda.pdf
	1. Call to Order and Roll Call
	Bruce Huvard, Chairman, Public-at-Large Representative
	Barbara Miller, Vice-Chairman, Village Board Representative
	Georgia Mihalopoulos, Public-at-Large Representative
	Dev Mukherjee, School District 35 Representative
	Dudley Onderdonk, Glencoe Park District Representative
	John Satter, Zoning Board of Appeals Representative
	Laura Solon, Glencoe Public Library Representative
	James Thompson, Public-at-Large Representative
	Greg Turner, Public-at-Large Representative
	Peter Van Vechten, Historic Preservation Commission Representative
	2. CONSIDERATION OF THE MAY 29, 2019 plan commission MEETING MINUTES
	3. Public Comment
	Individuals interested in addressing the Plan Commission on non-agenda items may do so during this time.
	4. REVIEW AND DISCUSSION OF THE PRELIMINARY PLAT OF SUBDIVISION FOR THE HOOVER ESTATES SUBDIVISION (1801 gREEN bAY rOAD)
	5. Adjourn




